BioCloneBot: A Low Cost, Open Source, Automated Liquid Handler

Ke'Koa Christopher Dai Hu Wells

A Thesis

in

The Department

of

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Applied Science (Computer Engineering) at

Concordia University

Montréal, Québec, Canada

December 2022

© Ke'Koa Christopher Dai Hu Wells, 2023

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By:	Ke'Koa Christopher Dai Hu Wells
Entitled:	BioCloneBot: A Low Cost, Open Source, Automated Liquid Handler

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Applied Science (Computer Engineering)

complies with the regulations of this University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the Final Examining Committee:

		Chair
	Dr. Steve Shih	
	Dr. Patrick Gulick	External Examiner
	Dr Steve Shih	Examiner
		Supervisor
	Dr. Nawwaf Kharma	
Approved by		
	Dr. Y.R. Shayan, Chair Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering	
	2022	

Mourad Debbabi, Dean Faculty of Engineering and Computer Science

Abstract

BioCloneBot: A Low Cost, Open Source, Automated Liquid Handler

Ke'Koa Christopher Dai Hu Wells

Automated liquid handlers are devices for automating synthetic biology experiments by moving volumes in the range of 1μ L to $1,000\mu$ L depending on the experiment. Most currently available devices utilize a stepper motor-based 3-axis system and linear actuated pump. These devices can be set up to automate hundreds or thousands of manual liquid handling steps. These liquid handling steps are both substantially repetitive and often introduce human error. As such, automation can be used to save time and eliminate human error. In this thesis, we describe a low-cost, open-source, automated liquid handler, the BioCloneBot, designed to automate pick and place DNA assembly experiments. The BioCloneBot consists of off-the-shelf and 3D-printed components. To reduce complexity and reduce sourcing multiple parts, an Ender 3 Pro 3D printer is used for its frame, stepper motors, and limit switches. The result is a highly accurate and precise liquid handler with an intuitive front-end making automation more accessible by lowering the cost to less than \$1,500 CAD.

Acknowledgments

There are many people that I owe my thanks for surviving the journey of completing my Master's degree. It was challenging, especially while living in a new country during the covid-19 pandemic. Firstly, I would like to thank everyone at Space Concordia. Without the support of the brilliant, ambitious, and hard-working people there, I surely would not have succeeded as well as I did. Notably, I extend my appreciation to Daniel Berry, the project manager of Space Concordia Robotics, that has become one of my closest friends over these past few years. I would also like to extend my thanks to everyone at the Next Generations Cities Institute, the Canadian Excellence Research group in Sustainable and Smart Cities, and the SynBioApps fellowship for providing me with the opportunity to support myself during my studies. Through these groups, I have met many kind, down-to-earth people, some of whom I have the honor to call my friends. In general, I offer my appreciation to anyone who helped me along the way, whether friends, faculty, staff, my family, or anyone else. The emotional support, fun conversations, and thought-provoking discussions helped keep me sane during the stress of everything. There are too many people to name, but through the love and support of everyone I have met along the way (whether mentioned or not), I was able to succeed. As the saying goes, it takes a village.

Contents

Li	List of Figures		ix	
Li	List of Tables		xiv	
1	Intro	oduction	1	1
	1.1	Backgr	ound	1
		1.1.1	PCR Amplification	2
		1.1.2	Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation	4
		1.1.3	Gibson Assembly	5
		1.1.4	Golden Gate Cloning	5
	1.2	Literat	ure Review	6
		1.2.1	Eppendorf epMotion 5075t	7
		1.2.2	Hamilton Microlab NIMBUS4	9
		1.2.3	Beckman Coulter Biomek 4000	10
		1.2.4	OpenTrons OT-2	11
		1.2.5	EvoBot	16
		1.2.6	ОТТО	20
	1.3	Summa	ary	22
2	Req	uiremen	ts & Specifications	24
	2.1	User R	equirements	25
	2.2	Techni	cal Specifications	26

3	Mat	ials, Construction, & Operation	27
	3.1	Microliter Syringe Pump	28
	3.2	3-Axis Movement System & Device Frame	32
	3.3	Power System	34
	3.4	Microcontroller	34
	3.5	Front-End	37
	3.6	Summary	42
4	Resu	ts	43
	4.1	Device Characterization	43
		4.1.1 Syringe Pump Volume Characterization	43
		4.1.2 Syringe Pump Tip Attachment/Removal Characterization	46
		4.1.3 X, Y, and Z Stepper Motor Characterization	47
	4.2	Verification of Functionality	48
		4.2.1 Restriction Enzyme Digest	48
		4.2.2 Gibson Assembly	50
		4.2.3 Golden Gate Cloning	52
	4.3	Biological Materials & Methods	55
		4.3.1 Bacterial Strains, Plasmids, and Growth Conditions	55
		4.3.2 Cloning Automation Method I: Restriction Enzyme Digest and Ligation	56
		4.3.3 Cloning Automation Method II: Gibson Assembly	56
		4.3.4 Cloning Automation Method III: Golden Gate Cloning and Moclo Toolkit	58
5	Con	usion & Future Work	60
	5.1	Future Work	62
		5.1.1 Mechanical	63
		5.1.2 Electrical	63
		5.1.3 Software	64

Append	lix A Assembly Guide	71
A.1	Syringe Pump Assembly	71
A.2	Frame Assembly	78
A.3	Electronics Assembly	100
Annend	lix B Software User Manual	107
B 1	Prerequisites	107
B.1	Preparation	108
D.2	B 2.1 Calibration	108
	B 2 2 The (x x) Homed Position	110
	B 2.3 Top Left Corner of Laburare Slots	112
	B.2.4 (x y) of Top Left Poservoire	112
	B.2.4 (x,y) of top Left Reservoirs	117
	B.2.6 Set 7 May Value	114
		113
	B.2.7 Height of Labware	10
B .3	Setting Up an Experiment	116
B.4	Running, Saving, Loading, and Clearing Protocols	131
Append	lix C Bill of Materials	137
Append	lix D DNA Assembly Sequences	140
D .1	Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation Sequences	140
	D.1.1 CEN6/URA3 digested with BsaI	140
	D.1.2 GFP digested with BsaI	141
	D.1.3 Full CEN6/URA3 with GFP dropout ligated	141
D.2	Gibson Assembly Sequences	142
	D.2.1 PCR Amplicon CEN6/URA3 Backbone with overhang	142
	D.2.2 PCR Amplicon GFP Insert with overhang	143
	D.2.3 FWD Primer for CEN6/URA3 Backbone	143
	D.2.4 REV Primer for CEN6/URA3 Backbone	143

	D.2.5	FWD Primer for GFP 143
	D.2.6	REV Primer for GFP
	D.2.7	Full Gibson Assembly of CEN6/URA3 with GFP
D.3	Sequen	aced Gibson Assembly of CEN6/URA3 with GFP
D.4	Golden	Gate Cloning Sequences
	D.4.1	CEN6/URA3 GFP dropout plasmid
	D.4.2	pYTK011 pPGK1 promoter plasmid
	D.4.3	pYTK034 mRuby gene plasmid
	D.4.4	pYTK056 tTDH1 terminator
	D.4.5	Full Golden Gate Assembled pPGK1-mRuby-tTDH1 CEN6/URA3 Plasmid 150
	D.4.6	Sequenced Full Golden Gate Assembled pPGK1-mRuby-tTDH1 CEN6/URA3 Plas-
		mid

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Overview of PCR Amplification	3
Figure 1.2	Sample gele electrophoresis	4
Figure 1.3	Eppendorf epMotion 5075TMX	7
Figure 1.4	Hamilton Microlab NIMBUS4	9
Figure 1.5	Backman Coulter Biomek 4000	10
Figure 1.6	OpenTrons-OT2	11
Figure 1.7	OpenTrons pipettes	12
Figure 1.8	OpenTrons-OT2 pipette design	14
Figure 1.9	EvoBot liquid handler	16
Figure 1.10	Overview of EvoBot modularity	17
Figure 1.11	EvoBot modules	18
Figure 1.12	EvoBot module designs	19
Figure 1.13	EvoBot syringe characterization	20
Figure 1.14	OTTO liquid handler	20
Figure 1.15	OTTO pipettor	21
Figure 3.1	BioCloneBot pipettor design	28
Figure 3.2	BioCloneBot volume adjustment equations	31
Figure 3.3	BioCloneBot frame and pump	32
Figure 3.4	BioCloneBot platform design	33
Figure 3.5	BioCloneBot front-end	38
Figure 3.6	BioCloneBot front-end labware properties	40

Figure 3.7	BioCloneBot manual control window	42
Figure 4.1	Restriction Enzyme Digestion and Ligation results	50
Figure 4.2	Gibson Assembly results	52
Figure 4.3	Golden Gate Cloning results	54
Figure 4.4	Golden Gate Cloning gel image	55
Figure 4.5	Gibson Assembly design and sequence confirmation	56
Figure 4.6	Golden Gate Cloning design and sequence results	58
Figure A.1	Syringe Pump Components	72
Figure A.2	Syringe Pump Base attachment to Syringe Pump Holder.	73
Figure A.3	Pump Stepper Motor attachment to Motor Holder.	73
Figure A.4	Lead Screw attachment to Pump Stepper Motor.	74
Figure A.5	Lead Screw Nut attachment to Plunger Holder.	74
Figure A.6	Tip Ejector preparation.	75
Figure A.7	Syringe and Tip Ejector attachment.	75
Figure A.8	Syringe Plunger and Lead Screw attachment.	76
Figure A.9	Pump Motor attachment.	77
Figure A.10	Pump Limit Switch soldering.	77
Figure A.11	Pump Limit Switch attachment.	78
Figure A.12	Ender 3 Pro Base	78
Figure A.13	Ender 3 Pro base knobs.	79
Figure A.14	Ender 3 Pro Bed removal.	79
Figure A.15	Y-Axis Belt Tensioner removal.	80
Figure A.16	Y-Axis Belt Tensioner removal.	80
Figure A.17	Y-Axis Carriage removal.	81
Figure A.18	Y-Axis Stepper Motor removal.	81
Figure A.19	Y-Axis Limit Switch removal.	82
Figure A.20	Electronics Housing removal.	82
Figure A.21	Housing Fan removal.	83
Figure A.22	Electronics Housing removal.	83

Figure A.23 Ender 3 Partial Frame.	84
Figure A.24 Partial frame side removal.	84
Figure A.25 Ender 3 Pro Vertical Extrusion install.	85
Figure A.26 Ender 3 Pro Horizontal Front Extrusion install.	86
Figure A.27 Rear frame extrusion cover removal.	86
Figure A.28 Rear Horizontal Extrusion install.	87
Figure A.29 Y-Axis Extrusion install.	88
Figure A.30 Y-Axis Extrusion alignment.	88
Figure A.31 Y-Axis Carriage reattachment.	89
Figure A.32 Ender Xtender Y-Axis Belt replacement.	89
Figure A.33 Y-Axis Limit Switch re-attachment.	90
Figure A.34 Y-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly re-attachment.	90
Figure A.35 Y-Axis Belt re-attachment.	91
Figure A.36 Y-Axis Belt Tensioner re-attachment.	91
Figure A.37 Heated Bed screw removal.	92
Figure A.38 Heated Bed screw placement onto Ender Xtender Platform	92
Figure A.39 Heated Bed placement over Ender Xtender Platform.	93
Figure A.40 Removing plastic part from Heated Bed wires.	93
Figure A.41 Ender Xtender Platform nuts and washers.	94
Figure A.42 Heated Bed attachment to Ender Xtender Platform.	94
Figure A.43 Ender Xtender Platform attachment.	95
Figure A.44 X-Axis Components.	95
Figure A.45 Z-Axis Roller attachment.	96
Figure A.46 Pump attachment to X-Axis Extrusion.	96
Figure A.47 X-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly attachment.	97
Figure A.48 X-Axis Components assembled.	97
Figure A.49 X-Axis components attached.	98
Figure A.50 Top Extrusion attachment.	98
Figure A.51 Z-Axis Switch assembly.	99

Figure A.52	Platform attachment
Figure A.53	BioCloneBot frame and pump fully assembled.
Figure A.54	Always ensure the power supply is OFF when cutting or soldering the wires 101
Figure A.55	450W modular ATX PC power supply.
Figure A.56	Standard 24-pin ATX power supply pin-out [49]
Figure A.57	Power switch for emergency shut-off
Figure A.60	PS_ON and +5VSB LEDs turned on.
Figure B.1	.NET SDK cannot be found.
Figure B.2	Opening the Manual Control Form.
Figure B.3	Manual Control Form warning pop-up
Figure B.4	BioCloneBot Manual Control Form.
Figure B.5	BioCloneBot platform with homed position in bottom-left corner.
Figure B.6	Homing position inside of BioCloneBot firmware. Depending on the version of
the co	le, the line is subject to change
Figure B.7	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113
Figure B.7 Figure B.8	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform 113X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform.113X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center ofDeft reservoir.114
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of b left reservoir. 114
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of b left reservoir. 114
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 b left reservoir. 114 Add Home Device operation. 117 Add Get Tip Operation. 118
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 b left reservoir. 114 Add Home Device operation. 117 Add Get Tip Operation. 118 Get Tip Operation Form opened. 118
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 o left reservoir. 114
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14 Figure B.15	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 o left reservoir. 114 . 115 Add Home Device operation. 117 Add Get Tip Operation. 118 Get Tip Operation Form opened. 118 Select tip and click Attach Tip to attach the selected tip. 119 Tips are no longer available after being attached. 119 The Get Tip Operation is added to Protocol Queue after confirming. 120
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14 Figure B.15 Figure B.16	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14 Figure B.15 Figure B.16 Figure B.17	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14 Figure B.15 Figure B.16 Figure B.17 Figure B.18	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform. 113 X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of 114 >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>
Figure B.7 Figure B.8 the top Figure B.9 Figure B.10 Figure B.11 Figure B.12 Figure B.13 Figure B.14 Figure B.15 Figure B.16 Figure B.17 Figure B.18 Figure B.19	Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform.113X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center ofo left reservoir.114

Figure B.21	When selected the Dispense Operation, the wellplate lights up	3
Figure B.22	Dispense Operation Form.	3
Figure B.23	Select the well, enter in 50 μ l, then click dispense	4
Figure B.24	The well updates to 100μ L after clicking Dispense	4
Figure B.25	The Dispense Operation was added to the Protocol Queue	5
Figure B.26	Pressing the Remove Tip Operation button adds a second Remove Tip to the	
Protoc	col Queue	6
Figure B.27	Select Get Tip to attach a fresh tip to the pump	6
Figure B.28	Select the second tip and click Attach Tip	7
Figure B.29	The second tip is no longer available	7
Figure B.30	The second Get Tip Operation is added to the Protocol Queue	8
Figure B.31	Selecting the Mix Operation highlights the 96 wellplate	8
Figure B.32	The Mix Operation Form	9
Figure B.33	25 μ L will be mixed 5 tips from the well containing 100 μ L	9
Figure B.34	The Mix Operation of 25 μ L is confirmed.	0
Figure B.35	The Mix Operation is added to the Protocol Queue	0
Figure B.36	Selecting Remove Tip adds a second Remove Tip Operation to the Protocol Queue.13	1
Figure B.37	Pressing the Start Experiment button will begin the protocol	2
Figure B.38	Start Experiment confirmation window	2
Figure B.39	Experiment finished pop-up.	3
Figure B.40	Press the Save Protocol button to save your protocol to a JSON file	3
Figure B.41	Save Protocol Window	4
Figure B.42	Press the Load Protocol button to load a protocol from a JSON file	5
Figure B.43	The protocol is loaded into the BioCloneBot software	6

List of Tables

Table 1.1	Eppendorf epMotion 5075t Pipette Specifications [15]	8
Table 1.2	NIMBUS4 Pipette Specifications [17]	10
Table 1.3	OpentTrons-OT2 single-channel pipette specifications	13
Table 1.4	OpenTrons-OT2 8-channel pipette specifications	13
Table 1.5	Comparison of liquid handler devices	22
Table 1.6	Automated liquid handlers' add-ons	23
Table 1.7	automated liquid handlers' pipettor characterization	23
Table 2.1	BioCloneBot High-Level Device Requirements	25
Table 3.1	BioCloneBot device commands	35
Table 3.2	BioCloneBot front-end controls	41
Table 4.1	BioCloneBot syringe pump characterization	45
Table 4.2	BioCloneBot syringe pump characterization with varying viscosities	46
Table 4.3	BioCloneBot 3-axis characterization	48
Table 5.1	Comparison of BioCloneBot and reviewed devices	61
Table 5.2	Comparison of BioCloneBot and reviewed devices add-ons	61
Table 5.3	Comparison BioCloneBot syringe pump against reviewed devices	62
Table A.1	Power supply switch states	05
Table C.1	BioCloneBot parts bill of materials.	38
Table C.2	Tools and manufacturing equipment bill of materials	39

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

Synthetic biology is an emerging field that focuses on studying organisms by modifying their DNA [1]. There are many applications of synthetic biology such as medical diagnostics, pharmaceutical development, and curing genetic-based diseases [2]–[5]. Nearly every synthetic biology experiment, especially in the area of genomics, largely consists of liquid handling manipulations. From the extraction of DNA to the synthesis of custom DNA, each experiment involves moving liquids to and from labware such as tubes, wellplates, and reservoirs. In general, scientists use manual pipettes to move liquids such as DNA, enzymes, and reagents between different labware during each step of the process. While studying an organism, a single scientist may perform thousands of physical manipulations. These scientists end up wasting copious amounts of time performing these tedious and repetitive operations, often resulting in human error. If this error is introduced early on, it can easily propagate to the end resulting in a failed experiment. Depending on the steps required for such experiments, it may take multiple days to repeat the process from start to finish. Automation can save scientists time by performing some or all of these manipulations while reducing human-introduced errors.

While there are numerous protocols used within synthetic biology, DNA assembly protocols are among the key protocols due to their ability to modify and synthesize custom DNA segments and plasmids. A DNA segment refers to a linear piece of DNA whereas a DNA plasmid is a circular piece of DNA. Three of the most commonly used DNA assembly protocols include Restriction Enzyme Digestion and Ligation, Gibson Assembly, and Golden Gate Cloning. Gibson Assembly and Golden Gate Cloning are powerful due to their ability to assemble multipart constructs in a one-pot reaction [6], [7]. A one-pot reaction occurs when all inputs are mixed into a single tube, and then the same tube is used for each subsequent step.

Before devising an automated solution, it is important to have a high-level understanding of the Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation, Gibson Assembly, and Golden Gate Cloning protocols. These three protocols can be summarized into a combination of two major types of steps: mixing the ingredients into a single tube (liquid handling) and running the tube through a thermocycler (amplification). The goal of this thesis is to develop a low-cost, open-source, easy-to-assemble, and easy-to-use automation device capable of automating the liquid handling portion of these protocols. The following subsections will describe PCR, a necessary step in the DNA assembly process, and the three protocols.

1.1.1 PCR Amplification

PCR amplification is a protocol for creating copies of desired DNA segments [8]. Notably, PCR amplification was one of the primary and most reliable methods of viral detection during the COVID-19 pandemic [9], [10] emphasizing its importance. It is a necessary step performed during nearly all DNA assembly protocols.

There are four major steps to perform a PCR amplification: collection, preparation, amplification, and post-PCR clean-up [11]. During the collection step, samples of the target organism are collected or specific DNA can be ordered from companies such as addgene [12]. Addgene is a DNA repository where researchers can deposit and purchase affordable DNA plasmids containing a specific gene of interest. Once the sample is acquired, the next step is preparation. During preparation, the DNA sample is extracted and purified. The now purified DNA, DNA primers, DNA polymerase, and dNTPs (single nucleotide bases: A, T, C, and G) are mixed into a single tube. The DNA polymerase is an enzyme that synthesizes DNA by extending the 3' end of an annealed (attached) primer. Primers are short, complementary pieces of DNA that anneal to the 3' side of the template strand and act as the start place of the complimentary strand. To synthesize the complimentary strand, the DNA polymerase attaches complimentary bases to the template strand one base at a time. Once everything is sufficiently mixed together, the amplification step occurs. The tube is placed inside a thermocycler, which is a device that performs cycles of precise heating and cooling. During each cycle, the thermocycler performs three steps: *denaturation* where the tube is heated to at least 94°C to break

down the hydrogen bonds and separate the target DNA into its single strand components, *annealing* where the mixture is cooled to a temperature between 50-60°C allowing the DNA primers to anneal to the template strands, and *extension* where the DNA polymerase attaches the dNTPs to the single-stranded DNA forming new double-stranded DNA copies of the target DNA. This process is repeated between 30-40 times doubling the quantity of DNA at an exponential rate.



Figure 1.1: Overview of PCR Amplification step [8].

Finally, the analysis step is performed. A sample of the resultant DNA and a DNA ladder is run through a gel electrophoresis which provides a confirmation of the PCR amplification. The DNA ladder contains DNA of various sizes. During the gel procedure, an electric field pushes the pieces of DNA through the gel. The smaller the size of DNA, the further distance it travels. An example gel electrophoresis image can be seen in figure 1.2. As a more accurate confirmation, the resultant DNA can be shipped to a company for sequencing.



Figure 1.2: Sample gel electrophoresis [13]. By examining a resultant gel, a confirmation of the PCR amplification can be seen. The gel can verify that the target DNA is approximately the expected length. To verify the full integrity of the DNA, it can be sent for DNA sequencing.

1.1.2 Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation

Restriction enzyme digestion and ligation allow for the insertion of linear DNA (referred to as the gene of interest) into a DNA plasmid. It utilizes two types of key enzymes: restriction enzymes and DNA ligase enzymes. Restriction enzymes work by targeting specific short sequences of DNA, then digesting (cutting) the DNA into two pieces (or one linear piece in the case of a DNA plasmid). At the cut site, a blunt end or short single-stranded overhang of a few bases remains. These overhangs allow for a new piece of DNA to be connected via the annealing through the complimentary DNA overhangs. DNA ligase acts as the glue allowing for the gene of interest to be inserted into the target DNA plasmid. For restriction enzyme digestion and ligation to work, it is essential for the donor plasmid and the recipient plasmid to have complementary overhanging sequences. This is usually achieved by using a restriction enzyme capable of targeting a site on both plasmids.

Digestion and ligation are the two key steps of the protocol. During the digestion process, DNA, two restriction enzymes, a buffer, BSA, and dH₂O are mixed together into a single tube. Each input ranges between 1μ L and 10μ L. Once well mixed, the tube is then placed into an incubator at 37°C for at least one hour to allow enough time for the restriction enzyme to digest the DNA segments or plasmids. The result is run through a gel electrophoresis for confirmation and isolation of the purified DNA of interest. To perform the ligation process, the gene of interest, the linearized recipient plasmid, ligase buffer, DNA ligase, and dH₂O are mixed into a tube. This tube is then placed into an incubator for two hours allowing for gene of

interest to successfully ligate to the linearized recipient plasmid. A final gel electrophoresis is performed for confirmation of the final DNA plasmid containing the gene of interest. The resultant DNA plasmid is then transformed into the target organism (generally E. coli) via heat shock or electric shock. Once transformed, successful expression of the plasmid can be observed via a selection marker.

1.1.3 Gibson Assembly

Gibson Assembly is used for the synthesis of custom plasmids containing one or more chosen parts. It can be broken down into three key steps. The first step is to linearize the target vector plasmid. Using 1-2 restriction enzymes, a circular vector plasmid is cut to form a single linear piece of DNA with two blunt ends. The second step is to synthesize linear inserts containing the gene of interest and template specific ends complimentary to the ends of the linearized vector. During this step, special primers are designed that overlap with the gene of interest and the target plasmid. Once run through a PCR amplification, the gene of interest will be extended into a longer piece of linear DNA capable of inserting into the vector plasmid. For a multipart plasmid, this process is repeated where each piece must be designed so that the end of one piece is complimentary to the beginning of the next piece. The third step is to mix the linearized vector plasmid, the extended gene(s) of interest, and a Gibson Assembly master mix into a single tube. This is then incubated at 50°C for between 15 minutes and 1 hour. During this step, an exonuclease chews back the 5' end of the double-stranded DNA allowing for the pieces of DNA to anneal together. Once annealed, a DNA polymerase fills in any missing bases, and then a DNA ligase glues the pieces together at the anneal site resulting in a scar-less, custom DNA plasmid. Gibson Assembly is generally performed with volumes ranging from 5μ L to 15μ L.

1.1.4 Golden Gate Cloning

Similar to Gibson Assembly, Golden Gate Cloning is used to insert one or more pieces of linear DNA into a single DNA plasmid. To perform this insertion, restriction IIS enzymes such as BsaI are used. As opposed to regular restriction enzymes, IIS restriction enzymes cut outside of their target DNA sequence which is used for the removal of the IIS recognition sites. Generally IIS enzymes that create a 4-base overhang are used which allows for the creation of up to 256 unique 4-base overhangs. Unlike the restriction enzyme and digestion protocol, Golden Gate performs both the digestion and the ligation in a single step. Golden Gate

cloning consists of three steps. The first step is to design a vector plasmid that contains two IIS recognition sites where gene(s) of interest can be inserted after cleavage. The second step is to design a linear gene of interest that has a IIS recognition site on both ends. Note that the gene of interest could exist inside of a plasmid containing two IIS recognition sites. It is crucial that the 4-base overhangs of the gene of interest created by the IIS restriction enzymes are complimentary to the 4-base overhangs of the vector plasmid. For a multipart plasmid, the overhangs must be designed so that the 4-base overhang at the end of one piece of DNA is only complementary to the 4-base overhang at the beginning of the next piece of DNA. The final step is to mix the the target plasmid, the gene(s) of interest, DNA ligase, and the IIS restriction enzymes into a single tube. This tube is placed into thermocycler which alternates temperatures between 16° C and 80° C for digestion, annealing, and ligation. Once the gene(s) of interest and target plasmid are digested leaving 4-base overhangs, the gene of interest anneals to the vector plasmid. The DNA ligase finishes off by gluing all the pieces together forming scar-less plasmids. Golden Gate cloning generally requires the movement of volumes between 1μ L and 20μ L.

1.2 Literature Review

Before deciding on the key features of the proposed device, it is important to understand the currently available solutions. While there are a plethora of commercially available options, only a few key options can be found in literature. For this review, only all-in-one liquid handlers capable of working with more than one labware are explored. In addition, devices above 50K CAD will not be explored. It is important to note that the prices are not advertised for most commercially available liquid handlers. In the case that a price was not able to be found, the price for a used device is considered.

1.2.1 Eppendorf epMotion 5075t



Figure 1.3: Eppendorf epMotion 5075TMX owned by the University of Oregon [14].

The epMotion 5075t is an automated liquid handler made by Eppendorf in 2020. The 5075t features 14.5 deck positions capable of supporting various labware and additional add-on thermal modules. The required software and device hardware are not open-source. The software provides an intuitive platform for creating user-defined experiments. The 5075t also features a gripper capable of moving labware from one deck position to another. Eppendorf sells multiple accessories that can allow the support of a wide array of wellplates and tubes. It also supports multiple reservoirs and thermal blocks for on device heating. An optical sensor is used for contact-free liquid level sensing and labware recognition.

The 5075t supports up to six different dispensing tools. The dispensing tools are automated pipettors used to pick up a sample from a source labware and then dispense the sample into a destination labware. There are both single and 8-channel pipettors for the $1.0-50.0\mu$ L, $20.0-300.0\mu$ L, and $40-1000\mu$ L volume ranges. While it is recommended to use pipette tips designed by Eppendorf, the 5075t may support pipette tips already in use by a lab. According to the epMotion manual, the pipettors work via a piston that utilizes the air-cushion principle. A stepper motor is used to control a piston that aspirates a volume when going up and dispenses a volume when going down [15]. The 5075t includes the capability of automatically swapping between dispensing tools during an experiment. Each dispensing tool supports tip ejection. Specifications for each automated pipettor can be found below in table 1.1.

Dispensing Tool	Volume	Systematic Error	Random Error
TS 50	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 20.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
TS 50	$5\mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 3.0\%$
TS 50	$25\mu L$	$\pm 1.5\%$	$\pm 0.6\%$
TS 50	$50\mu L$	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 0.4\%$
TS 300	$20\mu L$	$\pm 4.0\%$	$\pm 2.5\%$
TS 300	$30\mu L$	$\pm 3.0\%$	$\pm 1.5\%$
TS 300	150µL	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 0.4\%$
TS 300	300µL	$\pm 0.6\%$	$\pm 0.3\%$
TS 1000	$40\mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 1.5\%$
TS 1000	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
TS 1000	$500 \mu L$	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 0.2\%$
TS 1000	$1000 \mu L$	$\pm 0.7\%$	$\pm 0.15\%$
TS 50_8	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 25.0\%$	$\pm 10.0\%$
TS 50_8	$5\mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
TS 50_8	$25\mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.2\%$
TS 50_8	$50\mu L$	$\pm 1.2\%$	$\pm 0.6\%$
TS 300_8	$20\mu L$	$\pm 10.0\%$	$\pm 4.0\%$
TS 300_8	$30\mu L$	$\pm 10.0\%$	$\pm 3.5\%$
TS 300_8	$150 \mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$\pm 0.8\%$
TS 300_8	$300 \mu L$	$\pm 1.5\%$	$\pm 0.5\%$
TS 1000_8	$40\mu L$	$\pm 6.0\%$	±2.5%
TS 1000_8	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 3.0\%$	±1.5%
TS 1000_8	$500\mu L$	$\pm 1.5\%$	$\pm 0.3\%$
TS 1000_8	$1000\mu L$	$\pm 0.8\%$	$\pm 0.15\%$

Table 1.1: Eppendorf epMotion 5075t Pipette Specifications [15]

The EpMotion is quoted starting at 110,000 CAD, though it is also available on the used market for as low as \$25,000 CAD. The single-channel dispensing tools can be found for around \$4,000 CAD each and the eight-channel dispensing tools are sold for around \$7,200 CAD each.

1.2.2 Hamilton Microlab NIMBUS4



Figure 1.4: Hamilton Microlab NIMBUS4 enclosed model [16].

The Hamilton Microlab NIMBUS is a family of automated liquid handlers sold by the Hamilton company. Each model comes in four different sizes each with the option for a 4-tip, 96-tip, and 384-tip pipettor. For this review, the smallest NIMBUS with the 4-tip pipettor will be reviewed. The NIMBUS4 comes in three different deck configurations: an 11-position configuration featuring nine main positions and two sub-positions, a 3x4 configuration with 12 main positions, and a Shift-n-Scan configuration featuring 8 main positions with an integrated tube bar-code scanner. The device supports volumes between 0.5μ L and 1000μ L. Hamilton sells an array of accessories including labware pedestals for labware such as tip racks, microtiter plates, tubestands, and more. They also sell adapters to accommodate wellplates, tubes, and tips. Hamilton offers intuitive, easy to use proprietary software for user-created experiments. The device also includes a gripper capable of moving labware to other locations on the experiment deck.

The pipettors are designed using special Hamilton proprietary technology. It features a special o-ring design compatible with CO-RE Hamilton pipette tips for a perfect seal and easy tip ejection. The pipettor utilizes air displacement technology for aspirating and dispensing. It also features liquid level detection, monitored air displacement, and anti-droplet control. The specifications of the NIMBUS4 pipettor can be found in table 1.2 below. The NIMBUS4 features four 1000μ L channels, but can support lower volumes depending on the tips used. Hamilton does not advertise if the NIMBUS4 is compatible with already available

pipette tips.

Tip Size	Volume	Truness Precision C	
10 µ	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
10 µ	$5\mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$\pm 2.0\%$
10 µ	$10\mu L$	$\pm 1.5\%$	$\pm 1.5\%$
50 µ	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
50 µ	$5\mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$\pm 2.0\%$
50 µ	$50\mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
300 µ	$10 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 2.0\%$
300 µ	$50\mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
300 µ	300µL	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
1000 µ	$10\mu L$	±7.5%	$\pm 3.5\%$
1000 µ	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
1000 µ	$1000 \mu L$	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$

Table 1.2: NIMBUS4 Pipette Specifications [17]

The price of the Hamilton NIMBUS4 was quoted for a minimum of \$35,000 CA without the inclusion of the gripper, extra pipettors, or accessories, though it can be found on the used market for around \$14,786 CAD.

1.2.3 Beckman Coulter Biomek 4000



Figure 1.5: Beckman Coulter Biomek 4000 [18].

The Biomek 4000 is an automated liquid handler developed by Beckman Coulter Life Sciences. It features 12 deck slots with an off-deck add-on slot that supports the addition of four additional labware, a thermocycler, a shaker, or a waste disposal unit. Most standard labware such as wellplates, tubestands, reservoirs, etc. are compatible with the Biomek deck. The Biomek 4000 supports pipettors capable of moving volumes between 1μ L and 1000μ L. A gripper is included for moving labware between deck positions. The Biomek hardware and software are not open-source.

There are a total of six different pipettors available for purchase: three single-channel pipettors and three 8-channel pipettors. One major advantage of the Biomek is the lack of required proprietary pipette tips. It is possible to use tips that are already in use by a lab. Beckman Coulter does not provide accuracy or precision for the pipettors likely due to multi-compatibility of tips. The accuracy may change drastically between pipette tips.

The Biomek 4000 is no longer for sale, but used devices can be found for around \$20,000 CAD. The newest replacement was quoted for around \$150,000 USD.



1.2.4 OpenTrons OT-2

Figure 1.6: OpenTrons-OT2 with 8-channel pipette [19].

The Opentrons OT-2 system is the highest performing commercially available liquid handler in terms of features, versatility, and performance in the category of sub \$10,000 USD liquid handlers. The bare-bones

system starts at \$6,000 USD with the option of 5 exchangeable pipettes. There are 3 single channel options including a P20, a P300, and a P1000 each costing \$1,250 USD. There are also 2 eight-channel pipettes supporting P20 and P300 each costing \$2,000 USD. The P20, P300, etc. refer to the type of pipette tip that the pipette supports. Images of the various supported tips can be seen in figure 1.7. The OT-2 platform supports up to 11 different combinations of labware including, but not limited to tip boxes, tubestands, 96-wellplates, and reservoirs. A removable trash bin is included with the OT-2. While Opentrons sells its own officially supported labware, the OT-2 can accommodate labware that the end-user already has available. Opentrons also sells several add-on modules including a heater shaker module, a thermocycler module, a temperature module, a magnetic module, and a HEPA air filter module for removing particulate and contaminates [20].



Figure 1.7: (a) OpenTrons OT-2 single channel pipettes [21]. (b) OpenTrons OT-2 eight channel pipettes [22].

The specifications for the single-channel pipettes and the 8-channel pipettes can be seen below in table 1.3 and table 1.4 respectively.

Pipette	Volume	Accuracy %D	Accuracy $\mu \mathbf{L}$	Precision %CV	Precision μ L
P20 Gen2	1	$\pm 15\%$	$0.15 \mu L$	$\pm 5\%$	$0.05 \mu L$
P20 Gen2	10	$\pm 2\%$	$0.2\mu L$	±1%	$0.1 \mu L$
P20 Gen2	20	$\pm 1.5\%$	0.3µL	$\pm 0.8\%$	$0.16\mu L$
P300 Gen2	20	$\pm 4\%$	$0.8 \mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$0.5 \mu L$
P300 Gen2	150	$\pm 1\%$	$1.5 \mu L$	$\pm 0.4\%$	$0.6 \mu L$
P300 Gen2	300	$\pm 0.6\%$	$1.8 \mu L$	$\pm 0.3\%$	$0.9 \mu L$
P1000 Gen2	100	$\pm 2\%$	$2.0\mu L$	$\pm 1\%$	$1 \mu L$
P1000 Gen2	500	$\pm 1\%$	5.0µL	$\pm 0.2\%$	$1 \mu L$
P1000 Gen2	1000	$\pm 0.7\%$	7.0µL	$\pm 0.15\%$	$1.5 \mu L$

Table 1.3: OpenTrons-OT2 single-channel pipette specifications [23]

Pipette	Volume	Accuracy %D	Accuracy $\mu \mathbf{L}$	Precision %CV	Precision μ L
P20 Gen2	1	$\pm 20\%$	$0.2 \mu L$	$\pm 10\%$	$0.1 \mu L$
P20 Gen2	10	$\pm 3\%$	$0.3 \mu L$	$\pm 2\%$	$0.2\mu L$
P20 Gen2	20	$\pm 2.2\%$	$0.44 \mu L$	$\pm 1.6\%$	$0.3 \mu L$
P300 Gen2	20	$\pm 10\%$	$2.0 \mu L$	$\pm 4\%$	$0.8 \mu L$
P300 Gen2	150	$\pm 2.5\%$	$3.75 \mu L$	$\pm 0.8\%$	$1.2 \mu L$
P300 Gen2	300	$\pm 1.5\%$	4.5μ L	$\pm 0.5\%$	$1.5 \mu L$

Table 1.4: OpenTrons-OT2 8-channel pipette specifications [23].

For both the single-channel and 8-channel pipettes, OpenTrons uses a linear actuator system consisting of a stepper motor, lead screw, and coupler that attaches the stepper motor to piston as seen in figure 1.8. Each pump uses a limit switch for resetting the volume piston position. In addition, each pipette supports tip ejection.



Figure 1.8: OpenTrons-OT2 pipette design diagram [24].

The OT-2 is controlled via programs written in Python. Each protocol is designed to interface with the custom OT-2 Python Protocol API. Each protocol consists of metadata such as the protocol name, contact information, etc., the labware, and how the OT-2 should behave [25]. The protocols are designed to be easy to read and easy to program for those that have basic knowledge of Python and wet-lab work. A sample protocol can be seen in pseudo-code listed below in Listing 1.1.

Listing 1.1: Opentrons OT-2 sample protocol code [25].

```
from opentrons import protocol_api
# metadata
metadata = {
    'protocolName': 'My Protocol',
    'author': 'Name <opentrons@example.com>',
    'description': 'Simple protocol to get started using the OT-2',
    'apiLevel': '2.13'
```

```
# protocol run function
def run(protocol: protocol_api.ProtocolContext):
    # labware
    plate = protocol.load_labware('corning_96_wellplate_360ul_flat',
        location = '1')
    tiprack = protocol.load_labware('opentrons_96_tiprack_300ul',
        location = '2')
    # pipettes
    left_pipette = protocol.load_instrument(
         'p300_single', mount='left', tip_racks=[tiprack])
    # commands
    left_pipette . pick_up_tip()
    left_pipette.aspirate(100, plate['A1'])
    left_pipette.dispense(100, plate['B2'])
    left_pipette.drop_tip()
```

While OpenTrons makes the designs open-source, they are

}

1.2.5 EvoBot



Figure 1.9: EvotBot liquid handler [26].

The EvoBot, originally developed by Faiña et al in 2016 [27], improved by Nejatimoharrami, Faiña, and Stoy in 2017 [28] and improved again by Faiña, Nejati, and Stoy in 2019 [26], is a modular, open-source liquid handling bot for automating synthetic biology experiments. With its three kinds of modules, it is a versatile device capable of automating basic liquid handling, nurturing of microbial fuel cells, droptlet chemotaxis and more [26]. The latest iteration of the EvoBot is designed primarily with off-the-shelf 3D printer components, laser cut, and 3D printer parts.

The frame of the EvoBot is 600mm x 400 mm x 600 mm, but is designed to be extendable if large metal extrusions are used. The EvoBot is designed with three layers: an actuation layer, an experiment layer, and an observation layer [26]. The design of the Evobot can be seen below in figure 1.10 and modules can be seen in figure 1.11b. The actuation layer supports various modules for different functions. There are four different syringe modules supporting up to 100μ L, 1mL, 5mL, and 20mL respectively. The minimum supported volumes are not specified. The dispensing module is designed for pumping up to four liquids and is used for tasks such as washing Petri dishes or dispensing reagents. The heavy payload can safely move heavy loads and is used to hold a 3D scanner and a universal paste extruder.



Figure 1.10: Overview of EvoBot modularity. The various layers and modules can be swapped depending on the requirements of an experiment [26].



(a)



(b)

Figure 1.11: (a) Drawings of the syringe modules, dispensing module, and heavy payload module. (b) Image of the actual modules. [26].

The syringe modules are designed using a NEMA 8 stepper motor that rotates a gear to actuate the syringe along a linear rail. Each of the four syringe modules follow an identical design using slightly modified 3D printed parts for holding the compatible syringe. Each syringe module includes two limit switches for tracking the volumes moved in the syringe. The general design of the syringe modules and the design of the heavy module can be seen in figure 1.12. Each module uses a standardized custom-PCB for controlling the actuators and sensors.



Figure 1.12: (a) Design of syringe module. (b) Design of heavy payload module. [26].

The syringe modules were designed to meet the ISO8655 standards which can be seen at [29] and [30]. Faiña et al verified functionality using non-contact gravimetrical tests, meaning the syringe needle does not touch the liquid when dispensing. The results of the tests are seen below in figure 1.13.



Liquid handling accuracy

(a)



Liquid handling accuracy compared to ISO8655

Figure 1.13: (a) EvoBot syringe modules accuracies. (b) EvoBot syringe modules accuracies with ISO8655 standard for comparison. [26]

According to the authors, the standard Evobot configuration with one actuation layer, one experimental layer, and a single syringe module costs approximately \$600 USD.

1.2.6 OTTO



Figure 1.14: Figure of OTTO liquid handler from openliquidhandler website [31].

OTTO is an open-source automated liquid handler designed for automating qPCR [32]. It features offthe-shelf and 3D printed components. It consists of a pump carriage (which uses a manual pipette), a 3-axis movement system consisting of linear actuators, and a two-beam laser system for tip attachment/removal verification. The frame is constructed using easily sourced metal extrusions and supports up to 4 pipette tip boxes, 8 medium sized Eppendorf tubes, 64 PCR tubes, and a 96 PCR wellplate. Each motor is controlled via an Arduino Due, which features a 32-bit ARM microprocessor, and TMC2660 motor drivers.

The syringe pump utilizes a linear actuator to control a manual pipette. Once the pipette volume is set by the user, the pump aspirates and dispenses by actuating the pipette according to the desired volume. The pump uses two springs to attach pipette tips with constant pressure and detect z-axis collisions to prevent damaging the pipette.



Figure 1.15: Side view of OTTO pipettor. The springs assist in pipette tip attachment and help detect collisions through the use of a limit switch [33].

OTTO includes open-source software for the user to design custom qPCR experiments. While the software is currently limited to qPCR with a 96-wellplate, it includes placeholders for the addition of dilution experiments, flow experiments, 384-wellplates, and flow tubes. According to the bill of materials provided by Florian et al., OTTO costs upwards of \$2,000 USD [34].

1.3 Summary

Device	Creator	Supported	Minimum	Open-Source	Open-Source
		Volume	Cost	Software	Hardware
		Range	(CAD)		
epMotion 5075t	Eppendorf	1μL-	\$110,000	No	No
		$1,000 \mu L$			
Microlab NIMBUS4	Hamilton	1μL-	\$35,000	No	No
		$1,000 \mu L$			
Biomek 4000	Beckman	1μL-	\$20,000	No	No
	Coulter	$1,000 \mu L$	used		
OpenTrons-OT2	OpenTrons	1μ L-	\$8,736	Apps and proto-	Designs only
		$1,000 \mu L$		cols only	
EvoBot	Faiña et al.	10µL-	\$806	Yes	Yes
	[26]	$10,000 \mu L$			
OTTO	Florian et	NA	\$2,015	Yes	Yes
	al. [32]				

The following tables summarize the key characteristics of each of the previously explored devices.

Table 1.5: (Comparison	of liquid	handler	devices.
--------------	------------	-----------	---------	----------

Device	Add-Ons
epMotion 5075	Multiple pipettors, ThermoMixer (included), gripper (included)
Microlab NIMBUS4	Multiple Pipettors, labware gripper, barcode scanner, shft-n-scan tube bar-
	code scanner, CO-RE paddles, [MPE] ² positive pressure solid phase ex-
	traction and evaporation module, CO-RE lid tool, vacuum station, clean air
	system, heater shaker, plate tilt module, fill module
Biomek 4000	Multiple pipettors, ALP labware stand, tube rack ALP, auto-latch tip rack
	holders, orbital shaker, disposal accessory, liquid waste station, bar code
	reader, circulating reservoir, filtration system, off-deck platform, thermal
	exchange unit, wash system
OpenTrons-OT2	Multiple pipettors, thermocycler, temperature module, magnetic module,
	HEPA module, heater-shaker module
EvoBot	Multiple pipettors, dispensing module, heavy payload module
OTTO

None, but could accommodate

Device	Volume	Accuracy	Precision
epMotion 5075	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 20.0\%$	±5.0%
epMotion 5075	$5\mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 3.0\%$
epMotion 5075	$25\mu L$	±1.5%	$\pm 0.6\%$
epMotion 5075	$50\mu L$	±1.0%	$\pm 0.4\%$
epMotion 5075	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	±1.0%
epMotion 5075	$200 \mu L$	$\pm 0.6\%$	$\pm 0.3\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$5\mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$\pm 2.0\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$25\mu L$	NA	NA
Microlab NIMBUS4	$50\mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	±1.0%
Microlab NIMBUS4	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$200 \mu L$	$\pm 1.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
Biomek 4000	NA	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 20.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	$5\mu L$	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	$20\mu L$	±1.5%	$\pm 0.8\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	$50\mu L$	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	100µL	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	300µL	$\pm 0.6\%$	±0.3%
EvoBot	NA	NA	NA
ОТТО	NA	NA	NA

Table 1.6: Table of automated liquid handlers' add-ons.

Table 1.7: Comparison automated liquid handlers' pipettor accuracy and precision.

Chapter 2

Requirements & Specifications

This chapter outlines the user requirements and technical specifications of the BioCloneBot. These requirements are used to make the design decisions for each component of the device. Table 2.1 provides a high-level summary of the device requirements. Note that some of these requirements are implicitly extracted from the requirements outlined in the following sections.

ID	Category	Requirement
1.1	General	The device shall consist of off-the shelf components and 3D printed parts.
1.2	General	The device shall perform operations such as attaching pipette tips, removing
		pipette tips, aspirating volumes, dispensing volumes, and mixing volumes.
1.3	General	Each 3D printed part shall fit the 225mm x 225mm bed of an Ender 3 Pro.
2.1	Syringe Pump	The pump shall move volumes between $1.0\mu L$ and $200.0\mu L$
2.2	Syringe Pump	The pump shall be designed to eject pipette tips.
3.1	Platform	The labware platform dimensions shall be 400mm x 400mm.
3.2	Platform	The platform shall support standard labware including wellplates, tubestands,
		and tip boxes.
3.3	Platform	The platform shall support up to 6 individual labware or sub-components.
4.1	Electrical	The power supply shall have a 3.3V, 5.0V, and 12.0V rail.
4.2	Electrical	The power supply shall supply a minimum of 15A on the 12.0V rail.
5.1	Firmware	The firmware should be easily expandable.
5.2	Firmware	The firmware should only perform simple calculations.
5.3	Firmware	The firmware loop should be as simple as possible.

6.1	Front-End	The front-end shall support adding, removing, and modifying labware volumes
		or tip availability.
6.2	Front-End	The front-end shall provide a user interface to support the operations defined in
		requirement 1.2.
6.3	Front-End	The front-end shall support saving and loading experiments including labware,
		initial conditions, and performed operations.
7.1	Biology	The device shall be able to perform the liquid handling steps of Restriction En-
		zyme Digestion and Ligation.
7.2	Biology	The device shall be able to perform the liquid handling steps of partial Gibson
		Assembly.
7.3	Biology	The device shall be able to perform the liquid handling steps of Golden Gate
		Cloning.

Table 2.1: High-Level Device Requirements

2.1 User Requirements

The ultimate goal of the BioCloneBot is to provide a versatile liquid handler capable of automating the liquid handling steps of the Restriction Enzyme Digestion and Ligation, Gibson Assembly, and Golden Gate Cloning protocols. To realize the necessary steps, the device and corresponding software must support the ability to automatically attach its pipette tips. Once a tip is attached, it should also support the ability to aspirate a volume and then dispense said volume into the target labware. Most experiments are sensitive to contamination, and as such the device must also be able to eject the attached tip. To make the device more accessible, it needs to consist of off-the-shelf components and 3D-printed parts. Since the primary stakeholders are biologists, the device should be easy to assemble, program, and use. The software should be simple while maintaining sufficient flexibility to support most liquid handling protocols and already available labware. The software should include the ability to save and load the protocols defined in the software to help realize the time-saving benefits of automation.

2.2 Technical Specifications

Before the BioCloneBot can be designed, assembled, and tested, the technical specifications must be defined. To lower the cost of construction, all 3D printed parts must fit the 225mm x 225mm bed of the Ender 3 Pro as it is one of the cheapest quality 3D printers currently available. The method for moving volumes must be able to accurately aspirate and dispense volumes between $1-20\mu$ L as the three protocols work on volumes in this range. While the optimal accuracy target is to meet the ISO 8655 standard for manual pipettes, most commercial liquid handlers operate with higher levels of error. As seen in the literature review, most devices do not support 1μ L, but if they do, they operate with an error of 15-20%. The BioCloneBot should meet or reduce the 20% error threshold. For volumes larger than 1μ L, most of the reviewed device errors range between 0.5-5.0%. Again, the BioCloneBot should meet this standard. While the three chosen protocols use less than 20μ L of liquid, the device should be able to move volumes up to 200μ L to make the device versatile enough to support a large range of liquid handling applications. Since most electronics work on 3.3, 5.0, or 12.0V, the BioCloneBot must support these voltages to allow for future expandability of devices such as a thermocycler which allows for complete automation up to the end of the PCR steps.

In summary, the goal is to create an easy-to-construct, program, and operate device capable of moving volumes between 1μ L and 200μ L for the purpose of automating the liquid handling steps of the Restriction Enzyme Digestion and Ligation, Gibson Assembly, and Golden Gate Cloning protocols. The device must also be designed with expandability and versatility in mind. All of these requirements lead to the following chapter where the device is designed and constructed.

Chapter 3

Materials, Construction, & Operation

This chapter describes the design decisions for creating the BioCloneBot such that user requirements and technical specifications are met. A complete assembly guide, software guide, and bill of materials can be found in A, B, and C, respectively. To realize the BioCloneBot, five major components were chosen: a microliter syringe pump to perform pipette actions, a 3-axis movement system and device frame for moving the syringe pump, a power system for powering all the electronics, a microcontroller for controlling motors and related electronics, and an intuitive front-end for designing experiments. The requirements can be found in table 2.1 from Chapter 2.

3.1 Microliter Syringe Pump



Figure 3.1: Custom Microliter Syringe Pump with P200 Tip Adapter.

Since most of the reviewed devices use a linear actuated pump, a syringe pump design was chosen. Inspired by the designs of the OpenTrons pump, the EvoBot syringe modules, and the re-usable DIY syringe pumps from Amarante et al. [35] and Gervasi, Cardol, and Meyer [36], a custom microliter syringe pump was designed. Stepper motor based syringe pumps are advantageous as they are highly precise and easy to control. Notably, stepper motor based lead screw or pulley systems are used for applications such as 3D printing indicating a proper system for the purpose of an accurate, low volume syringe pump. The chosen pump design consists of several major parts: a microliter syringe, a linear actuator consisting of a 12.0

V, 1.5 A 400 step bipolar stepper motor, a 2 mm pitch lead screw, a 5 mm to 6 mm shaft coupler, a lead screw nut, and 3D printed components. A limit switch and two springs were included for added pipette tip removal functionality. The lead screw was chosen due to its small pitch and short length. Finer pitched lead screws can be used, but are drastically more expensive or require machining to be cut to size violating requirement 3.4. The pump supports either a 50μ L syringe for volumes between $1.0-20.0\mu$ L or a 250μ L syringe for volumes between 10.0-200.0 μ L to satisfy requirement 3.1. The 3D printed parts are compatible with other 700 series Hamilton syringes with little to no modifications, but for the purpose of this thesis only the 50μ L and 250μ L syringes will be tested. A 3D printed P20 tip adapter and P200 tip were designed to accommodate both types of pipette tips. To ensure the syringe has an airtight seal with the tip adapter, each tip adapter was glued to to the syringe RN nut using a two part epoxy. In addition, the syringe must be pre-filled with dH_2O to ensure the syringe plunger has a good seal. If the syringe is run dry, leakage can occur resulting in failed aspiration or dispensing. According to the Hamilton website, the 50μ L syringe has an inner diameter of 1.03mm and the 250 μ L syringe has an inner diameter of 2.30mm [16]. The maximum travel distance of both syringes is 60mm. With this information, the minimum and maximum volumes can be calculated. By coupling a 400-step stepper motor with a 2mm pitch lead screw, the result is a highly accurate and highly precise linear actuator. A full revolution of the stepper motor (400 steps) causes the lead screw nut to travel the 2mm pitch of the lead screw. The minimum linear distance traveled by 1 step is calculated as follows

$$D = \frac{1}{s_{rev}} \times p \tag{1}$$

where s_{rev} is the number of steps per revolution of the motor, and p is the pitch of the lead screw in mm.

$$D = \frac{1}{400} \times 2 = 0.005 \frac{mm}{step}$$
(2)

With the minimum travel distance of 0.005mm/step, the theoretical minimum aspiration volume of the 50μ L can then be calculated to be

$$V_{min} = \frac{0.005}{60} \times 50 = 0.00417 \mu L \tag{3}$$

The linear actuator was designed with a maximum travel distance of $\approx 50mm$. When using the 250μ L syringe, the upper limit is calculated to be

$$V_{max} = \frac{50}{60} \times 250 = 208.33 \mu L \tag{4}$$

With a theoretical minimum of 0.00417μ L using and a maximum of 208.33μ L, requirement 3.1 is satisfied. To satisfy requirement 3.2, the pump was designed using springs and a limit switch for automatic tip removal. When the lead screw nut reaches the bottom of the pump, the springs are compressed and the limit switch is pressed resulting in any attached tip being removed. By pressing the limit switch, the pump is homed removing all errors introduced by hysteresis which is a build-up of the historical error over time.

During initial testing, each aspirated volume was found to be short of the target volume by a consistent quantity. To help offset this systemic error, a range of volumes was measured, the measured volumes were plotted against the target volumes, and a line was fit to the data. This process was performed for the 50μ L syringe using the P20 tip adapter with a P20 tip and the 250μ L syringe using the P200 tip adapter with a P20 tip and the 250μ L syringe using the P200 tip adapter with a P200 tip. The 50μ L syringe was tested using volumes from 1μ L to 20μ L in 1μ L increments and the 250μ L syringe was tested using volumes from 1μ L to 20μ L in 1μ L increments and the 250μ L syringe was tested using volumes from 5μ L to 100μ L in 5μ L increments. The resultant line equations can be found in figure 3.2 below. This correction lowered the average error substantially for both syringes.



Line Fitting with 50uL Syringe and P20 Pipette Tip

(a)



Figure 3.2: The high R^2 value indicates that both lines fit the data with a high correlation. (a) Graph of measured volumes vs target volumes using P20 tip adapter and P20 tips. (b) Graph of measured volumes vs target volumes using P200 tip adapter and P200 tips.

The final design consisted of a microliter syringe pump capable of moving small volumes as low as $1\mu L$ required for the key three protocols and large volumes up to $200\mu L$ to accommodate a wide range of liquid handling protocols. The design was created in such a way that the pump is homed each time a pipette tip is ejected.

3.2 3-Axis Movement System & Device Frame



Figure 3.3: BioCloneBot frame and pump fully assembled.

Following a similar design to the OTTO and Eva liquid handlers, an Ender 3 Pro 3D printer was chosen to provide the basis of a mechanical frame and platform to hold labware. An Ender Xtender 400 kit was included to increase the size of the bed from 225mm x 225mm to 400mm x 400mm for partial satisfaction of requirement 2.3. The Ender 3 Pro and Ender Xtender 400 kit is \$200-\$300 cheaper than the next largest printer, the Creality Ender 5 Plus, which comes with a smaller bed dimension of 350mm x 350mm. This combo makes up the entire frame of the BioCloneBot and includes an already existing x, y, and z system with stepper motors and limit switches proven to work efficiently with highly precise movements required for 3D printing. With the larger bed size, the platform supports up to 6 labware. Given the maximum print width of 225mm by the Ender 3 Pro, the platform is designed as 9 individual parts that connect together with dove-tail fittings as seen in figure 3.4 below. Each labware slot is 128mm x 86mm to support the standard dimension of a wellplate. Additional 3D printed adapters can be designed to fit support different sized labware such as tubestands and tipboxes.



Figure 3.4: (a) Bottom of platform with dove-tail fittings. (b) Top-down view of the platform with the 6 labware slots.

To control movement of the syringe pump, the original stepper motors of the Ender are used. While the Ender 3 Pro mainboard could be used for controlling the motors, it offers no GPIO ports for expandability. As such, an Arduino Mega 2560 and four DRV8825 stepper motor drivers were selected to control the x, y, z, and pump stepper motors. The DRV8825 supports microstepping as low as 1/32 which provides substantially higher precision. The minimum theoretical travel distance is calculated using the linear travel distance of a tooth pulley belt system for the x and y axes

$$D = \frac{p \times N_t}{s_{rev} \times f_m} \tag{5}$$

where p is the pitch of the belt in mm, N_t is the number of pulley teeth, s_{rev} is the number of steps per revolution of the motor, and f_m is the microstepping factor of the motor.

$$D_{x_min} = \frac{2 \times 20}{200 \times 32} = 0.00625mm \tag{6}$$

$$D_{y_min} = \frac{2 \times 20}{200 \times 32} = 0.00625mm \tag{7}$$

The minimum distance of the z-axis requires an extra calculation compared to the syringe pump. The Ender z-axis lead screw has a pitch of 2mm and a lead of 4 which means when the lead screw nut makes a full rotation, a total of four pitches will be traveled or 8mm. The lead of a screw refers to how many individual threads are on the screw. A screw that has a single lead has one thread and a screw with four leads has four separate threads wrapped around the screw. z_{min} can be calculated using the following equation

$$D = \frac{1}{s_{rev}} \times L \times f_{rm} \tag{8}$$

where L is the pitch times the lead.

$$D_{z_min} = \frac{1}{200} \times 8 \times \frac{1}{32} = 0.00125mm \tag{9}$$

 D_{x_min} , D_{y_min} , and D_{z_min} satisfy requirement 3.4 given that the distance between wells of a 96 wellplate and tips in a 96 tip box is 9mm.

3.3 Power System

The BioCloneBot uses a 450 watt computer PSU due its high current rating at 12.0V. The Ender PSU is rated for 15A at 24V which provides sufficient power, but requires additional circuitry to step down to 12.0V, 5.5V, and 3.3V. Unlike the Ender PSU, a computer power supply includes 3.3V and 5.0V lines allowing for the addition of most consumer grade electronics such as sensors and fans. Initially the BioCloneBot was designed to support the addition of a custom built thermocycler which required approximately 15.0A at 12.0V. Due to time limitations, this was not included in the final prototype of the BioCloneBot. A wiring diagram of the system can be found in Appendix A.

3.4 Microcontroller

While the Ender 3-Pro uses the open source 3D printer firmware, Marlin, the code base is large and has an even larger learning curve to understand and modify [37]. To reduce the complexity of the firmware code and ensure ease of modification for future improvements, the entire BioCloneBot firmware is implemented

from scratch. An Arduino Mega 2560 was chosen due to the large quantity of GPIO ports allowing individual control for each of the four DRV8825 drivers. The firmware was designed to use a custom made communication protocol. Each message is built as a string with the start character '#' and the end character '%'. The first four characters of each message are encode a 4-bit binary number. This allows for up to 16 different commands. The characters following the 4-bit encoding dictates the parameters of the command. A list of the commands is described in **Table 3.1** below. 9 commands are implemented allowing for up to 7 additional commands.

Command	4-bits	Parameters	Description		
Home	0000	None	Homes x, y, z, and pump stepper mo-		
			tors.		
Move	0001	XYZ direction	Move pump in XYZ direction,		
		XXX.XX mm	XXX.XX mm, YYY.YY mm, and		
		YYY.YY mm	ZZZ.ZZ mm		
		ZZZ.ZZ mm			
Remove Tip	0010	None	Moves pump over trash bin, removes		
			tip, and homes pump.		
Aspirate	0011	XXX.XX μ L	Aspirates XXX.XX volume into		
			pipette tip.		
Dispense	0100	XXX.XX μ L	Dispenses XXX.XX volume into		
			pipette tip.		
Mix	0101	XYZ times	Mixes XXX.XX volume XYZ amount		
		XXX.XX	of times.		
		volume			
Enable Steppers	1110	None	Enables all stepper motor drivers.		
Disable Steppers	1111	None	Disables all stepper motor drivers.		

Table 3.1: List of Device Commands

As an example, a set commands is described below.

- (1) #0000%
- $(2) \ \#0001100100.00000.00000.00\%$
- (3) #0011100.00%

First, #0000% triggers the BioCloneBot to move to the (0, 0, 0), identical to the origin of a standard Cartesian coordinate system. Note that 0 on the z-axis refers to the highest point instead of the lowest point.

Once in the (0, 0, 0) position, the pump actuates until the limit switch is engaged, backs-off until the limit switch is no longer engaged, and then backs-off a little further to create a trailing air-gap. This helps remove the error introduced by backlash created by the lead screw/lead screw nut.

Second, the command, #0001100100.00000.00000.00%, moves the pump to the position (100.00, 0, 0). The first four characters after the start character #, 0001, indicates the move command. The following three characters, 100, indicates the directions the pump will move in each axis. 0 means towards the limit switch and 1 means move away from the limit switch. The 1 means moves away from the limit switch in the x-axis and following 00 means move towards the limit switch in the y-axis and z-axis respectively. The last portion can be broken up into three groups of 6 characters: XXX.XX, YYY.YY, and ZZZ.ZZ. 100.00 indicates that the pump should move 100.00 mm in the x-axis. The last 000.00 000.00 indicates that the pump should not move in either the y-axis or the z-axis.

Last, #0011100.00% tells the pump to aspirate 100.00μ L. The first four characters, 0011, indicates the aspirate command and the last 6 characters, 100.00, indicates that the pump should aspirate by 100.00μ L. Thus ending the commands.

The firmware consists of the pin definition/global variable definition, the setup function, and the loop function. The following code snippits provide high-level pseudo-code of the firmware. For exact code, see the GitHub repository linked in C . The pin definition indicates which Arduino ports are used and the declares the global variables such as the number of steps/revolution of the motors, travel distances, and the command messages. The setup function is described using the follow pseudo-code.

Listing 3.1: Firmware setup function pseudo-code

Define pin modes as INPUT, OUTPUT, or INPUT_PULLUP Set initial LOW or HIGH value of pins Set delay duration between steps Set pump steps per revolution Set pump travel distance per step Set X, Y, and Z axis microstepping (1/32 by default) Initialize LCD screen Initialize serial connection with front-end Overall, the setup function is simple. Once all the pins are defined and initialized, the serial connection between the microcontroller and the front-end is established through an exchange of specific messages. The front-end initializes the handshake with a simple message and once the Arduino has received the message, responds indicating that the serial port connection is successful.

The loop function was designed to be as simple and light weight as possible. The majority of calculations are performed by the substantially more powerful front-end. The workflow of the loop function is described in the pseudo-code below.

Listing 3.2: Firmware loop function pseudo-cod	: Firmware loop function	pseudo-code
--	--------------------------	-------------

Reset distances, volumes, and mix count Listen on serial port for start character "#" If "#" is received Read serial input until end character "%" is received Decode 4-bit command encoding Jump to if statement for decoded command Process command parameters if exist Home, move pump, eject tip, aspirate, dispense, or mix Send completion message over serial to front-end

As seen, the firmware is designed to follow a short and simple workflow satisfying requirement 5.3.

3.5 Front-End

Last, the BioCloneBot requires a front-end to allow the end user to design their own experiments. C# Sharp was chosen due to the easy-to-use graphical user interface design capabilities of Visual Studio. This limits the BioCloneBot to Windows devices which should be available in most lab settings. Within the front-end, the user must design experiments by first adding labware, and then initializing labware properties such as starting volumes, starting tip locations, etc. Once the labware has been decided, the user can generate an experiment by selecting operations. A user guide is available in Appendix B.

The front-end is designed to be simple and easy to use. Partially inspired by the user interfaces of the Biomek and the OpenTrons, the user interface is designed with the majority of the functionality built directly

Technicit		_			8 - 1
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labwase	BioCloneBot	Platform
-		(Annue Downie)	Ski Wellphales		
		out to	2ml, Eppendint Tutum.		
		Persove 11p	200.ni 110.llm	Пентосусіег	Trash
		Aspenan	180		
		Dispusse	TRD		
		Ma	THE	Laburana 1	Lahuran 2
		тво	TBD		Control of C
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	TBO	TBD		
Load Sample Experiment		THO	100		
Home Device	Reconnect Arduino	TBD	THO	Labwate 3	Lahwara 4
		nap	780	COMUC 3	
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	180	TUD		

into the main window as seen in figure 3.5 below.

Figure 3.5: BioCloneBot Front-End

The physical platform is displayed on the right side of the figure. Here any of the Available Labware can be added, removed, and modified. To the left of the platform, there is a column for available labware. By default, only a standard 96-wellplate, a 5mL Eppendorf tubestand consisting of a 4x6 configuration capable of holding 5mL Eppendorf tubes, and a 200μ L tipbox is available. Once a labware is added, the properties can be modified by double clicking on the labware corresponding labware slot. The labware properties for each of the standard labware can be seen below in Figure A.1.



(a)



Figure 3.6: (a) 96-wellplate properties window. (b) 5mL Eppendorf tubestand properties window. (c) 200μ L tipbox properties window. The properties window supports the selection of individual wells, tubes, or tips. The select all button allows for quick modification of reservoir volumes or tip availability. Modifications are only confirmed once pressing the OK button.

The operations column includes buttons to home the device, get a new tip, remove the current tip, aspirate a volume, dispense a volume, and mix a volume satisfying requirements 1.2 and 6.2. When adding an operation to the protocol, the selected operation displays underneath the Protocol Queue. In addition, the software includes several buttons which are described in Table 3.2 below. The ability to save and load experiments satisfies requirement 6.3. The software is designed such that it performs checks verifying that conditions are met before performing an operation. For instance, the Get Tip operation requires that an available tipbox labware exists on the platform.

Button	Description	
Start Experi-	Starts the designed experiment.	
ment		
Clear Protocol	Removes all added labware and operations.	
Load Sample	Loads a basic sample experiment.	
Experiment		
Home Device	Homes the device identical to the Home Device operation	
Reconnect Ar-	Attempts to reconnect to the Arduino. Useful after updating the firmware.	
duino		
Save Protocol	Saves all added labware, labware properties, and operations to a JSON file.	
Load Protocol	Loads all added labware, labware properties, and operations from a saved	
	JSON file.	

Table 3.2: Front-end Control Buttons.

For troubleshooting and calibration, the Manual Control Debug window can be used. Each operation from the main BioCloneBot window can be performed individually. The Manual Control Debug window can be seen in figure 3.7 below. The window allows a specified distance to be moved in either direction on a specified axis. For example, if 10 is entered and the +x button is pressed, the pump will move 10.00mm away from the limit switch on the x-axis.

😼 Manual Control Debug		- 🗆 X
eject tip	Manual Control	aspirate
Travel Distance (mm):		dispense
x+	у+	z+
x-	у-	Z-
x: y:	mix	home
	mix count	

Figure 3.7: Manual Control Window for calibration and troubleshooting.

3.6 Summary

In summary, the BioCloneBot was designed using an Ender 3 Pro and Ender Xtender kit to provide a cheap frame with stepper motors and limit switches included. This frame provides a stepper motor powered 3-axis system for moving a custom built microliter syringe pump. The syringe pump supports either a 50μ L or 250μ L microliter syringe from Hamilton. To aspirate volumes, dispense volumes, and eject tips, a stepper motor powered linear actuator system was designed. The pump includes a limit switch for detecting when a tip is ejected and for homing the pump. To control the 3-axis and syringe pump stepper motors, an Arduino Mega 2560 and four DRV8825 stepper motor drivers were selected. The firmware was programmed using a custom communication protocol that consists of a 4-bit encoding which dictates what operation the device should perform (move pump, aspirate, dispense, etc.). The rest of the messages consists of the parameters of the operation. The front-end, which was programmed in C#, was designed with to generate user-defined protocols with to perform liquid handling operations with 96-wellplates, tubestands, and tipboxes.

Chapter 4

Results

This chapter is divided into two sections. The first section details the tests and results from validating the performance of the BioCloneBot device. The second section provides the biological methods and results of automating the liqquid handling portion of the chosen protocols with the BioCloneBot: Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation, Gibson Assembly, and Golden Gate Cloning.

4.1 Device Characterization

4.1.1 Syringe Pump Volume Characterization

To validate and characterize the syringe pump, a procedure was developed for measuring the volume of each complete aspiration and dispensing. Each volume was found by using a Sartorius CP64 scale which is accurate down to 0.1mg. The volumes were tested in two batches. The first batch consisted of volumes between 1μ L and 20μ L using the P20 tip adapter and the second batch consisted of volumes between 10μ L and 200μ L using the P200 tip adapter. The testing procedure is as follows (n=10 for each volume)

- (1) Remove syringe from syringe pump.
- (2) Fill the syringe with dH20. This creates a perfect seal around the syringe plunger.
- (3) Place the syringe back into the syringe pump.
- (4) Open BioCloneBot software and run homing procedure (some water will exit the syringe, this is OK).
- (5) Manually attach pipette tip.
- (6) Aspirate trailing air of 5μ L for the 50μ L syringe or 10μ L for the 250μ L syringe.

- (7) Weigh empty tube.
- (8) Using a tube full dH_2O , aspirate the adjusted test volume according to the line fit equation from Chapter 3.
- (9) Dispense adjusted volume + 5muL for the 50μ L syringe or 10μ L for the 250μ L syringe into the weighed tube.
- (10) Weigh tube filled with water.
- (11) Calculate volume of water using this equation: (weight of tube with dH_2O weight of empty tube)/0.001 to convert from grams of dH_2O to μL of dH_2O .
- (12) Repeat the process 10 times for each test volume.

The results for each test volume are seen in table 4.1 below. The equations used for calculating the accuracy and the precision are as follows

Calculate the mean of the measured volumes for a specific target volume

$$\bar{V} = \frac{1}{n} \times \sum_{i=1}^{n} V_i \tag{10}$$

Next, calculate the accuracy in percentage where V_s is the target volume

$$e_s = \frac{100(\bar{V} - V_s)}{V_s}$$
(11)

Calculate the repeatability standard deviation

$$S_r = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (V_i - \bar{V})^2}{n-1}}$$
(12)

Next, calculate the precision

$$CV = 100 \times \frac{S_r}{\bar{V}} \tag{13}$$

Syringe/Pipette Tip	Target Volume (µL)	Adjusted Volume (µL)	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%)
50µL P20	1.00	1.45	$\pm 5.00\%$	±11.22%
50µL P20	2.00	2.52	±12.50%	$\pm 7.03\%$
50µL P20	5.00	5.13	$\pm 2.60\%$	$\pm 6.03\%$
50µL P20	10.00	11.13	$\pm 0.80\%$	±5.17%
50µL P20	20.00	21.89	$\pm 1.05\%$	$\pm 0.97\%$
250µL P200	10.00	11.12	$\pm 2.60\%$	±1.47%
250µL P200	25.00	26.62	$\pm 0.32\%$	$\pm 0.39\%$
250µL P200	50.00	52.47	$\pm 0.74\%$	$\pm 0.36\%$
250µL P200	100.00	104.15	±0.93%	$\pm 4.80\%$
250µL P200	200.00	207.52	$\pm 0.95\%$	$\pm 0.32\%$

Table 4.1: Results of syringe pump tests using the adjusted volumes derived from the line fitting from section 3.2 of chapter 3. Each volume was tested 10 times. The largest error occurs with the smaller volumes and progressively gets lower as the volume increases. This is also observed with all of the reviewed syringe pumps.

Volumes lower than 1μ L were tested, but a wide range of errors were observed resulting in a lower limit of 1μ L to maintain accuracy. The adjusted volume in 4.1 refers to volume the pump tries to aspirate to actually aspirate a desired volume. For example if a 1μ L aspiration is desired, the pump is told to aspirate 1.45μ L. This results in the aspiration much closer to 1μ L. If the pump was told to aspirate 1μ L, then the real volume would be closer to 0.8μ L. The equations for the adjusted volumes can be found in 3.2 from Chapter 3. To minimize the effects of air compression, backlash, and left over volumes, a leading air volume was aspirated before aspirating dH₂O and a trailing air volume is dispensed after dispensing dH₂O. Each test was performed by weighing an empty Eppendorf tube, aspirating the specified volume of dH₂O into a fresh pipette tip, dispensing the specified volume into the same Eppendorf tube, then weighing the tube with the added volume. Since dH₂O was used, it is assumed that 1μ L of dH₂O is equivalent to 1 gram. The final volume is calculated by subtracting the weight of the empty tube from the weight of the dH₂O + tube, then converting the result from grams to μ L.

The same testing procedure was performed to test the syringe pump with mixtures of varying viscosity. To calculate the final volumes of each mixture, the following densities were used: 1.031941 g/cm³ for 12.5%

glycerol, 1.054393 g/cm³ for 25% glycerol, 1.083871 g/cm³ for 37.5% glycerol, and 1.115044 g/cm³ for 50% glycerol. All of the following tests were performed using the 50μ L syringe, the P20 tip adapter, a P20 pipette tip, and the P20 adjusted volumes.

Glycerol Percentage	Target Volume (µL)	Adjusted Volume (µL)	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%)
0%	1.00	1.45	$\pm 5.00\%$	±11.22%
0%	3.00	3.60	$\pm 9.00\%$	$\pm 6.12\%$
0%	5.00	5.75	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 11.22\%$
0%	7.00	7.90	±7.14%	$\pm 3.00\%$
12.5%	1.00	1.45	$\pm 22.37\%$	$\pm 15.66\%$
12.5%	3.00	3.60	$\pm 20.48\%$	$\pm 15.17\%$
12.5%	5.00	5.75	$\pm 16.48\%$	$\pm 6.44\%$
12.5%	7.00	7.90	$\pm 12.27\%$	$\pm 5.71\%$
25%	1.00	1.45	$\pm 71.66\%$	$\pm 28.11\%$
25%	3.00	3.60	±15.39%	$\pm 8.09\%$
25%	5.00	5.75	$\pm 13.51\%$	$\pm 8.54\%$
25%	7.00	7.90	$\pm 18.91\%$	$\pm 24.18\%$
37.5%	1.00	1.45	$\pm 31.01\%$	$\pm 14.77\%$
37.5%	3.00	3.60	$\pm 19.64\%$	$\pm 16.89\%$
37.5%	5.00	5.75	$\pm 11.23\%$	$\pm 10.68\%$
37.5%	7.00	7.90	$\pm 9.13\%$	$\pm 2.60\%$
50%	1.00	1.45	$\pm 75.78\%$	$\pm 26.80\%$
50%	3.00	3.60	$\pm 27.35\%$	$\pm 12.77\%$
50%	5.00	5.75	±11.92%	$\pm 6.89\%$
50%	7.00	7.90	$\pm 11.21\%$	$\pm 4.60\%$

Table 4.2: Results of testing glycerol and dH_2O mixtures at 0% glycerol, 12.5% glycerol, 25% glycerol, 37.5% glycerol, and 50% glycerol. Each volume was tested 10 times. Despite the different viscosities, the error is approximately the same for each mixture.

4.1.2 Syringe Pump Tip Attachment/Removal Characterization

To validate the ability of the BioCloneBot to attach and remove tips, a simple test was performed. The setup for the test is as follows:

(1) Calibrate BioCloneBot for 20μ L pipette tip box.

- (2) Load tip box with 96 tips.
- (3) In BioCloneBot software, add a Tip Box labware to labware slot 1.
- (4) Add Home Device operation.
- (5) Add Get Tip operation.
- (6) Add Remove Tip operation.
- (7) Repeat Get Tip and Remove Tip operations for half of the tip box.
- (8) Add Home Device operation (to remove any hysteresis-induced error).
- (9) Add Get Tip operation.
- (10) Add Remove Tip operation.
- (11) Repeat Get Tip and Remove Tip operations for remainder of the tip box.
- (12) Run experiment.

After approximately 1.5 hour of running, all 96 tips were successfully attached and then removed. While this does not guarantee that each tip was attached with a perfect seal, it clearly demonstrates the repeatability of the BioCloneBot to attach and remove pipette tips. Given that the 96-tip box matches the dimensions of a 96-wellplate, it can be extrapolated that the device is capable of targeting a 96-wellplate with sufficient accuracy. The speed of the BioCloneBot has a drawback in terms of speed. The OTTO liquid handler is capable of preparing an entire 96-wellplate qPCR reaction in less than an hour. The OpenTrons is capable of a similar 96-wellplate experiment requiring the transfer of volumes from one 96-wellplate to another 96-wellplate while changing tips in between transfers in a little over 35 minutes.

4.1.3 X, Y, and Z Stepper Motor Characterization

By analyzing the footage of a performed experiment using VLC Media Player, rough velocities of the system were calculated. The x-axis was found to have a velocity of 50.74 mm/s while traveling 202.95mm, the y-axis was found to have a velocity of 48.11 mm/s while traveling 250.55mm, and the z-axis was found to have a velocity of 8.23 mm/s while traveling 74.1mm. These measurements were made by calculating the travel distance over a period of time according to the video. Frame-by-frame analysis was done to find exact seconds when the pump starts and stops moving for each axis.

From the calculations, the maximum travel distance for each axis was calculated: X-Axis: 400mm/50.74mm/s = 8 seconds Y-Axis: 400mm/48.11mm/s = 8 seconds Z-Axis: 135mm/8.23mm/s = 16 seconds The accuracy and precision of the x, y, and z stepper motors were approximated using calipers. The manual control form was used to make 10mm movements. After each movement, a line was drawn using a pen and the distance between the lines was measured. This measurement was performed n=10 times for each axis. The results can be seen in the table 4.3 below.

Axis	Test Distance (mm)	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%)
X-Axis	10.0	$\pm 0.15\%$	$\pm 0.98\%$
Y-Axis	10.0	$\pm 0.70\%$	$\pm 1.14\%$
Z-Axis	10.0	$\pm 0.53\%$	±1.37%

Table 4.3: Results of x, y, and z stepper motor tests. n=10 movements of 10mm was performed for each axis. A line was drawn at the destination and measured from the previous line using calipers.

4.2 Verification of Functionality

After characterizing the functionality of the syringe pump, the overall functionality of the BioCloneBot was tested. Restriction Enzyme Digest And Ligation, Golden Gate Assembly, and Gibson Assembly were all run and compared to a manual manipulation via a pipette.

4.2.1 Restriction Enzyme Digest

A restriction enzyme digest and ligation of a GFP-dropout insert was performed. Using a single plasmid containing GFP, a digestion was performed to remove the GFP flanking two BsaI cut sites. After digestion, the original GFP was religated back into the backbone. Using the tubestand labware, a total of three tubes were used. The pump picked up volumes ranging between 3μ L to 11μ L and placed them into a collection tube total 19μ L. At the time of this test, only a 500μ L syringe was available and as such, was used to perform the protocol. The P200 tip adapter was used with P200 pipette tips. In between each aspiration and dispensing step, the pipette tip was removed into the trash bin then replaced with a clean tip. Once each input was combined together, the resulting collection tube volume was moved to a PCR tube, then run through a thermocycler. The resulting DNA plasmid was transformed into E. coli cells and then plated. After plating, a mini-prep was run and the resulting DNA was run through a gel electrophoresis for final confirmation. The process for automating the liquid handling portion of the experiment in the BioCloneBot software is outlined below:

- (1) Add tubestand labware to platform.
- (2) Add tipbox labware to platform.
- (3) Set initial condition of tube 1 to 15μ L.
- (4) Set initial condition of tube 2 to 10μ L.
- (5) Set initial condition of tube 3 to 11μ L.
- (6) Add get tip operation.
- (7) Add aspirate operation aspirating 6μ L from tube 1.
- (8) Add dispense operation dispensing 6μ L into tube 3.
- (9) Add remove tip operation.
- (10) Add get tip operation.
- (11) Add aspirate operation aspirating 3μ L from tube 2.
- (12) Add dispense operation dispensing 3μ L into tube 3.
- (13) Add mix operation mixing 10μ L 5 times on tube 3.
- (14) Add remove tip operation.
- (15) BioCloneBot step is complete. Transfer contents of tube 3 into PCR tube and run amplification.



Figure 4.1: Restriction enzyme digest of CEN6/URA3 Kan+ plasmid with GFP dropout insert. Digestion with restriction enzyme BsaI results in a separation of the backbone at 3721bp and the GFP insert at 1026bp. The full plasmid length is 4747bp. (a) Transformation of E. coli cells after ligation of backbone to GFP. Green color indicates the fluorescence of GFP as the normal color is brownish. Plated on LB and Kanamycin.(b) Gel electrophoresis of manually digested CEN6/URA3 and automated digestion of CEN6/URA3 via the BioCloneBot with 1kb+ ladder. Positive control indicates a band below 4kb and a band at 1kb.

4.2.2 Gibson Assembly

A Gibson Assembly was performed to insert a GFP insert into a linearized pCEN6/URA3 Kan+ backbone. The protocol was performed using three wells of a standard 96-wellplate labware. The pump picked up volumes ranging between 1μ L to 3μ L and placed them into a collection well totaling 19.39μ L. The 50μ L syringe was used with the P20 tip adapter and P20 pipette tips. In between each aspiration and dispensing step, the pipette tip was removed into the trash bin then replaced with a clean tip. Once each input was combined together, the result was manually moved to a single PCR tube, then run through a thermocycler. The resulting DNA plasmid was transformed into E. coli cells and then plated. After plating, a mini-prep was run and the resulting DNA was run through a gel electrophoresis for initial confirmation. The final DNA was sent for sequencing and returned with 99.98% sequence match. The process for automating the liquid handling portion of the experiment in the BioCloneBot software is outlined below:

(1) Add 96 wellplate labware to platform.

- (2) Add tipbox labware to platform.
- (3) Set initial condition of wellplate reservoir 1 to 15μ L.
- (4) Set initial condition of wellplate reservoir 2 to 10μ L.
- (5) Set initial condition of wellplate reservoir 3 to 10μ L.
- (6) Add get tip operation.
- (7) Add aspirate operation aspirating 3.24μ L from wellplate reservoir 1.
- (8) Add dispense operation dispensing 3.24μ L into wellplate reservoir 3.
- (9) Add remove tip operation.
- (10) Add get tip operation.
- (11) Add aspirate operation aspirating 1.15μ L from wellplate reservoir 2.
- (12) Add dispense operation dispensing 1.15μ L into wellplate reservoir 3.
- (13) Add mix operation mixing 10μ L 5 times on wellplate reservoir 3.
- (14) Add remove tip operation.
- (15) BioCloneBot step is complete. Transfer contents of wellplate reservoir 3 into PCR tube and incubate at 50°C.



Figure 4.2: Gibson Assembly of CEN6/URA3 GFP dropout plasmid using automated liquid handler. Reaction was done under the Hifi Assembly protocol where each fragment, GFP and CEN6/URA3 Backbone were PCR amplified with specific 20 nucleotide overhangs. (a) Positive control manually done for CEN6/URA3 GFP assembly and assembly using automated liquid handler. (b) Negative control where construct is plated on Amp+ instead of Kan+, and positive transformation control using pUC19 plasmid with a transformation efficiency of 10E7. (c) PCR Amplified GFP (1008bp) in duplicates, lane 2 & 3, as well as CEN6/URA3 backbone (3747bp) in duplicates, lane 4 & 5.

4.2.3 Golden Gate Cloning

A Golden Gate Cloning was performed to insert a promotor, mRuby gene, and terminator into a Kan+ plasmid for E. coli. Using the tubestand labware, the assembly consisted of four DNA parts. The 250μ L syringe was used inside of the syringe pump. The pump aspirated then dispensed volumes between 3μ L and 4μ L into a final collection tube resulting in a total of 19μ L. The 19μ L tube was run through a thermocycler. The resulting DNA plasmid was transformed into E. coli cells then plated. After plating, a mini-prep was run and the resulting DNA was run through a gel electrophoresis for an initial confirmation. The final DNA was sent for sequencing and returned with 100% sequence match. The process for automating the liquid handling portion of the experiment in the BioCloneBot software is outlined below:

- (1) Add tubestand labware to platform.
- (2) Add tipbox labware to platform.
- (3) Set initial condition of tube 1 to 10μ L.
- (4) Set initial condition of tube 2 to 10μ L.
- (5) Set initial condition of tube 3 to 10μ L.
- (6) Set initial condition of tube 4 to 10μ L.
- (7) Set initial condition of tube 5 to 5μ L.
- (8) The initial condition of tube 6 is automatically 0 μ L.
- (9) Add get tip operation.
- (10) Add aspirate operation aspirating 4μ L from tube 1.
- (11) Add dispense operation dispensing 4μ L into tube 6.
- (12) Add remove tip operation.
- (13) Add get tip operation.
- (14) Add aspirate operation aspirating 4μ L from tube 2.
- (15) Add dispense operation dispensing 4μ L into tube 6.
- (16) Add get tip operation.
- (17) Add aspirate operation aspirating 4μ L from tube 1.
- (18) Add dispense operation dispensing 4μ L into tube 6.
- (19) Add remove tip operation.
- (20) Add get tip operation.
- (21) Add aspirate operation aspirating 3μ L from tube 1.
- (22) Add dispense operation dispensing 3μ L into tube 6.
- (23) Add remove tip operation.
- (24) Add get tip operation.
- (25) Add aspirate operation aspirating 4μ L from tube 1.
- (26) Add dispense operation dispensing 4μ L into tube 6.
- (27) Add remove tip operation.
- (28) Add mix operation mixing 10μ L 5 times on tube 6.

- (29) Add remove tip operation.
- (30) BioCloneBot step is complete. Transfer contents of tube 6 into PCR tube and run amplification.



Figure 4.3: Golden Gate Cloning assembly of mRuby construct using the BioCloneBot. Digestion and ligation using the NEB Golden Gate assembly kit and plasmid: pYTK011 (pPGK1), pYTK034 (mRuby), pYTK056 (tTDH1) and CEN6/URA3-GFP dropout backbone. (a) Assembly of construct using liquid handler. Transformation of golden gate reaction with pPGK1-mRuby-tTDH1 contruct into E. coli was plated on LB+Kanamycin. Re-streaked to and isolate single colony. (b) Assembly of construct done manually as positive control.



Figure 4.4: Miniprep of isolated colonies from automated and manual assembly. The full length of assembly is 5733bp. Digestion with NotI results in bands at 3614bp and 1763bp.

4.3 Biological Materials & Methods

4.3.1 Bacterial Strains, Plasmids, and Growth Conditions

Electrocompetent E. coli DH5-alpha cells were used in the transformation of all synthetically assembled DNA constructs through the liquid handler. Wildtype and mutant cells were all grown in Luria Bertani (LB) broth medium or on LB-agar plates at 37°C degrees celsius. The selection marker for the assembled plasmids was Kanamycin [38] and the medium was prepared with a working concentration of $50\mu g/mL$. The media contained tryptone (10g/L), yeast extract (5g/L) and sodium chloride (10g/L), with the addition of 1.5% agar for plates.

Cells were made competent through the electrocompetent transformation protocol [39]. Cells were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until usage. Transformation of cells was done with the MicropulserTM [40] at 2.5kV for 4-6 milliseconds in 1cm electroporation cuvettes.

All plasmids were derived from the CEN6/URA3 Kan+ with a GFP dropout insert. The plasmid is a bacterial shuttle vector with a kanamycin-resistant marker, selectable in E. coli and a centromeric region for

replication in S. cerevisiae with a uracil auxotrophic selectable marker.

4.3.2 Cloning Automation Method I: Restriction Enzyme Digest and Ligation

The pCEN6/URA3 Kan+ GFP dropout plasmid was digested with BsaI (Eco31I) Type II restriction enzyme [41]. Liquid handler aspirated and dispensed volumes between 2-10 μ L for each segment: pCEN6/URA3 Kan+ GFP dropout (500ng), BsaI enzyme, 10X Buffer G and dH₂O. The final reaction tube was placed in a 37°C incubator for 2 hours to allow full digestion. After digestion, DNA was manually gel extracted with the GeneJet gel extraction kit [42] to separate pCEN6/URA3 backbone from GFP insert. The liquid handler aspirated and dispensed volumes between 2-10 μ L for each segment: pCEN6/URA3, GFP, T4 DNA ligase, 10X T4 DNA ligase Buffer [43]. The final reaction tube was placed at room temperature for 2 hours to allow full ligation. The ligated DNA fragments were manually transformed into electrocompetent E. coli DH5-alpha cells with the previously mentioned protocol. Cells were plated on Kanamycin-LB agar plates. Visualization of DNA was done on a 30mL 0.8% agarose gel with 2 μ L of 10mg/mL ethidium bromide.

4.3.3 Cloning Automation Method II: Gibson Assembly



Figure 4.5: Theoretical and experimental design of each insert used in Gibson Assembly, where the top fragment illustrated the promoter region, GFP and terminator region and the bottom fragment represents the CEN6/URA3 backbone. Sequenced data demonstrated a 99.98% match between theoretical design and assembled construct. A deletion appeared in a non-coding region of the assembly plasmid.

Two PCR products were amplified from the pCEN6/URA3 Kan+ GFP dropout backbone. The GFP fragment of 1030 base pairs and the pCEN6/URA3 backbone of 3530 base pairs were amplified with primers designed to add a sequence that is 20 base pairs long and is identical in both fragments amplified, flanking the 5' and 3' sites. Primers were designed using the Benchling Gibson Assembly wizard software. Primers and DNA sequences can be found in the appendix D. The PCR products were amplified using the Phusion High Fidelity DNA polymerase [44]. The reaction mix contained 10uM dNTPs, 10X GC Buffer, forward and reverse primers at 1uM, 50ng of DNA template and water. The PCR reaction followed the protocol described by NEB for Phusion polymerase amplification with an annealing temperature of 54°C and an extension time of 30sec/kb. Two separate PCR reactions were performed to amplify the GFP segment and the pCEN6/URA3 backbone. Both fragments were amplified with an annealing temperature of 54°C and an extension time of 30 seconds per KB over 30 cycles. The PCR reactions were completed per segment to allow sufficient DNA to be collected following extraction with the GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit [42]. Visualization of DNA was done on a 30mL 0.8% agarose gel with 2μ L of 10mg/mL ethidium bromide. The Hifi DNA Assembly Master Mix [45] was used to ligate the gel extracted GFP insert and pCEN6/URA3 backbone. Liquid handler aspirated and dispensed volumes between $2\mu L$ and $10\mu L$ for each segment and into a final reaction tube. The insert-to-vector ratio was 2:1, respectively, and the reaction mix was then placed in a thermocycler for 15 minutes at 50°C. Following the ligation, the assembled construct was transformed into electrocompetent E. coli DH5-alpha cells, as previously described, and plated for the selection of LB-agar Kan+ plates. Green fluorescence of the colonies confirmed successful assembly and GFP expression.

4.3.4 Cloning Automation Method III: Golden Gate Cloning and Moclo Toolkit



Figure 4.6: Theoretical and experimental assembly of each insert for Golden Gate assembly, where forward arrow on pPGK1 fragment illustrates the promoter region, the middle mRuby insert illustrates gene of interest to express and the cross on the last tTDH1 fragment illustrates the terminator region. All inserts originated from the molecular cloning plasmids pYTK011 (pPGK1), pYTK034 (mRuby), pYTK056 (tTDH1) with the CEN6/URA3 backbone. Sequenced data demonstrated a 100% match between theoretical design and assembled construct. All sequences and primers can be found in the supplementary section of the thesis.

Three inserts from the molecular Golden Gate toolkit [46] were used for assembly into the pCEN6/URA3 backbone. The final construct consisted of the promoter pPGK1 from the pYTK011 plasmid, the gene mRuby from the pYTK034 plasmid, the terminator tTDH1 from the pYTK056 plasmid and the pCEN6/URA3 backbone. The Golden Gate enzyme mastermix (NEB, E1601) was used in the positive control and experimental assembly of all 4 DNA segments. The positive control consisted of a manual assembly of the mRuby plasmid. The liquid handler aspirated and dispensed volumes between 2μ L and 10μ L for each segment and into a final reaction tube: pYTK011, pYTK034, pYTK056, NEB Golden Gate Mastermix. The final reaction tube was placed in a thermocycler with unpublished and proprietary conditions. Following golden gate assembly, half of the reaction (10μ L) was manually transformed into electrocompetent E. coli DH5-alpha cells with the previously mentioned protocol. Cells were plated on kanamycin-LB agar plates. After 24 hours of incubation at 37° C, 1 colony from the positive control plate and 1 colony from the automated experimental plate were isolated and restreaked onto kanamycin-LB agar plates. Half of each colony was inoculated in 10mL LB media with 10μ L of 50mg/mL kanamycin, shaking overnight at 200rpm at 37° C. Following 24 hours incubation, the liquid cultures of both underwent a miniprep with the GeneJet Plasmid
Miniprep kit [47]. The DNA extracted was digested with NotI 10U/ μ L [48]: 500ng of each combined with 0.5 μ L enzyme, 10X Buffer and incubated at 37°C degrees for 2 hours. Visualization of DNA was done on a 30mL 0.8% agarose gel with 2 μ L of 10mg/mL ethidium bromide.

Chapter 5

Conclusion & Future Work

Automation is increasingly used in the field of synthetic biology for automating commonly performed experiments such as PCR and DNA assembly. To further increase accessibility to automation equipment, cheap alternatives are being developed.

In this thesis, a low-cost open-source automation device has been developed, characterized, and tested. The total cost of the BioCloneBot falls below \$1,500 CAD including all required parts. A detailed bill of materials can be found in C. To accomplish partial automation of DNA assembly experiments, a custom re-usable microliter syringe pump was developed. The results show that the syringe pump is capable of accurately and precisely moving volumes between 1μ L and 200μ L. As lab automation becomes more affordable and available, more scientists will be able to reduce the amount of time spent performing repetitive liquid handling operations. Devices such as the BioCloneBot make of lab automation more available to researchers with small budgets. The following tables compare the BioCloneBot to the previously reviewed automated liquid handlers. Since each reviewed evice was not tested using the same volumes, the closest related volumes were chosen.

Device	Creator	Supported	Minimum	Open-Source	Open-Source
		Volume	Cost	Software	Hardware
		Range	(CAD)		
epMotion 5075t	Eppendorf	1μL-	\$110,000	No	No
		1,000µL			
Microlab NIMBUS4	Hamilton	1μL-	\$35,000	No	No
		1,000µL			
Biomek 4000	Beckman	1μL-	\$20,000	No	No
	Coulter	$1,000 \mu L$	used		
OpenTrons-OT2	OpenTrons	1μL-	\$8,736	Apps and proto-	Designs only
		$1,000 \mu L$		cols only	
EvoBot	Faiña et al.	10µL-	\$806	Yes	Yes
	[26]	$10,000 \mu L$			
OTTO	Florian et	NA	\$2,015	Yes	Yes
	al. [32]				
BioCloneBot	Wells,	1μ L-200 μ L	\$2,015 \$	Yes	Yes
	Ke'Koa				

Table 5.1: Comparison of BioCloneBot against reviewed liquid handler devices.

Device	Add-Ons				
epMotion 5075	Multiple pipettors, ThermoMixer (included), gripper (included)				
Microlab NIMBUS4	Multiple Pipettors, labware gripper, barcode scanner, shft-n-scan tube bar-				
	code scanner, CO-RE paddles, [MPE] ² positive pressure solid phase ex-				
	traction and evaporation module, CO-RE lid tool, vacuum station, clean air				
	system, heater shaker, plate tilt module, fill module				
Biomek 4000	Multiple pipettors, ALP labware stand, tube rack ALP, auto-latch tip rack				
	holders, orbital shaker, disposal accessory, liquid waste station, bar code				
	reader, circulating reservoir, filtration system, off-deck platform, thermal				
	exchange unit, wash system				
OpenTrons-OT2	Multiple pipettors, thermocycler, temperature module, magnetic module,				
	HEPA module, heater-shaker module				
EvoBot	Multiple pipettors, dispensing module, heavy payload module				
ОТТО	None, but could accommodate				
BioCloneBot	Supports the future inclusion of a thermocycler				

Table 5.2: Table of automated liquid handlers' vs	BioCloneBot add-ons.
---	----------------------

Device	Volume	Accuracy	Precision
epMotion 5075	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 20.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
epMotion 5075	$5\mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	±3.0%
epMotion 5075	$25\mu L$	±1.5%	$\pm 0.6\%$
epMotion 5075	$50\mu L$	±1.0%	$\pm 0.4\%$
epMotion 5075	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	±1.0%
epMotion 5075	$200 \mu L$	$\pm 0.6\%$	±0.3%
Microlab NIMBUS4	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$5\mu L$	$\pm 2.5\%$	$\pm 2.0\%$
Microlab NIMBUS4	$25\mu L$	NA	NA
Microlab NIMBUS4	$50\mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	±1.0%
Microlab NIMBUS4	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	±1.0%
Microlab NIMBUS4	$200 \mu L$	±1.0%	±1.0%
Biomek 4000	NA	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	$1\mu L$	$\pm 20.0\%$	$\pm 5.0\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	$5\mu L$	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	$20\mu L$	±1.5%	$\pm 0.8\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	$50\mu L$	NA	NA
OpenTrons-OT2	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 2.0\%$	$\pm 1.0\%$
OpenTrons-OT2	300µL	$\pm 0.6\%$	±0.3%
EvoBot	NA	NA	NA
OTTO	NA	NA	NA
BioCloneBot	$1 \mu L$	$\pm 5.0\%$	±11.22%
BioCloneBot	$5\mu L$	$\pm 2.25\%$	±12.50%
BioCloneBot	$20\mu L$	$\pm 1.05\%$	$\pm 0.97\%$
BioCloneBot	$50\mu L$	$\pm 0.74\%$	±0.39%
BioCloneBot	$100 \mu L$	$\pm 0.93\%$	$\pm 0.36\%$
BioCloneBot	$200 \mu L$	$\pm 0.95\%$	$\pm 0.32\%$

Table 5.3: Comparison BioCloneBot against automated liquid handlers' pipettor accuracy and precision.

5.1 Future Work

Given the vast scope and the DIY nature of the BioCloneBot, there are several improvements that can be made. Since the BioCloneBot covers aspects of mechanical, electrical, and software engineering, the future

work is broken down into these major sections. While this list is extensive, there are many improvements that are possible. This is the beauty of open-source projects such as the BioCloneBot.

5.1.1 Mechanical

Hamilton offers a range of microliter syringes from 0.5μ L all the way to 500μ L. Since the syringes have similar dimensions and use the same removable nut, more syringes could be tested to increase the range of volumes the system can handle.

Due to error introduced by 3D printed parts, missed targets are sometimes observed. A small dimensional error of 0.1mm or 0.2mm can be enough for the syringe pump to miss the liquid inside of a target labware. As an example, if the target is a 5mL Eppendorf tube or 96-wellplate containing a volume of 10μ L or less, a small dimensions variation of 0.1 or 0.2mm can cause the pump to miss resulting in a failed aspiration.

The standard microliter Hamilton syringes were not designed to be run dry. As such, the plunger needs to be lubricated using water before every experiment otherwise the syringe does not have a proper seal. This can result in a significant amount of leakage from a well-attached pipette tip.

With the current design, the syringe pump greatly struggles with volumes under 1.0μ L. It is most likely caused by error introduced by the mechanical design. Error introduced by backlash from the lead screw and lead screw nut may be causing this issue. Backlash occurs due to imperfect manufacturing. A lead screw advertised with a 2mm pitch, may actually have a pitch of 2.05mm. When the syringe pump changes directions, the lead screw nut has to travel an extra 0.05mm before the syringe plunger moves. Several syringes were tested, but the problem was consistent across each one meaning it is unlikely a problem related to the pressure or travel distance required by the syringe. In addition, over aspiration on the lower volumes could be a result of the capillary effect. As the diameter of a pipette tip gets smaller, the likelihood of observing the capillary effect increases. It occurs when the adhesion and cohesion forces between a liquid and a surface cause the liquid to move into a tube, cylinder, etc. without the introduction of an external force.

5.1.2 Electrical

Instead of using a breadboard, a custom PCB could be designed. Using custom PCBs drastically reduces the amount of wiring. The benefits of a PCB greatly outweigh the extra cost of PCB production. With less

wiring required by the user, there is a significantly reduced chance of injury due to electrical shock and a reduced chance of damaging the electronics due to miswiring. It also allows for the creation of an electrical housing. This allows for the implementation of physical controls such as an emergency stop button as well as electronics for interfacing with the microcontroller without modifying the firmware or using the front-end software. The circuit would also benefit from protection from voltage spikes or over-drawn current.

The speed of the 3-axis system is not on par with the commercial equivalents. To resolve this, a faster microcontroller and different motor drivers could be used.

5.1.3 Software

The following software improvements include both the firmware and the front-end code.

- Implementation of acceleration/deceleration for each stepper motor to increase speed while maintaining accuracy
- Ability to delete specific operations in a user-created protocol
- Add time estimation of a liquid handling protocol
- Include the ability to cancel liquid handling protocols without using the power supply switch
- Add the ability to select which syringe is used in the front-end which can update the values on the microcontroller
- Implementation of the Ender 3 Pro LCD to the microcontroller firmware
- Overall improvement the labware/operation object-oriented implementation for easier user
- · Functionality to add new types of labware into the software directly without modifying the code

Bibliography

- [1] "OEM syringe pump: Bolt-on microfluidic pump open case module," Chemyx Inc. (), [Online].
 Available: https://www.chemyx.com/products/oem-module/ (visited on 09/27/2022).
- [2] M. J. Smanski, H. Zhou, J. Claesen, B. Shen, M. A. Fischbach, and C. A. Voigt, "Synthetic biology to access and expand nature's chemical diversity," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 135–149, Mar. 2016, ISSN: 1740-1526, 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro.2015.24.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrmicro.2015.24 (visited on 11/18/2021).
- [3] F. Meng and T. Ellis, "The second decade of synthetic biology: 2010–2020," *Nature Communications*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 5174, Dec. 2020, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-19092-2.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-020-19092-2 (visited on 11/18/2021).
- Z. Abil, X. Xiong, and H. Zhao, "Synthetic biology for therapeutic applications," *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 322–331, Feb. 2, 2015, ISSN: 1543-8384, 1543-8392. DOI: 10.1021/mp500392q. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/mp500392q (visited on 10/19/2022).
- [5] A. Khan, J. Ostaku, E. Aras, and U. O. Safak Seker, "Combating infectious diseases with synthetic biology," ACS Synthetic Biology, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 528–537, Feb. 18, 2022, ISSN: 2161-5063, 2161-5063. DOI: 10.1021/acssynbio.1c00576. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acssynbio.1c00576 (visited on 10/19/2022).
- [6] D. G. Gibson, L. Young, R.-Y. Chuang, J. C. Venter, C. A. Hutchison, and H. O. Smith, "Enzymatic assembly of DNA molecules up to several hundred kilobases," *Nature Methods*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 343–

345, May 2009, ISSN: 1548-7091, 1548-7105. DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.1318. [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/articles/nmeth.1318 (visited on 09/28/2022).

- [7] C. Engler and S. Marillonnet, "Golden gate cloning.," *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, vol. 1116, pp. 119–31, 2014, 119, ISSN: 1064-3745. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-62703-764-8_9.
- [8] "Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/probe/docs/techpcr/ (visited on 11/07/2022).
- [9] CDC. "COVID-19 and your health," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (Feb. 11, 2020),
 [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/symptomstesting/testing.html (visited on 09/28/2022).
- [10] P. H. A. o. Canada. "Testing for COVID-19: When to get tested and testing results." Last Modified: 2022-07-30. (Oct. 6, 2020), [Online]. Available: https://www.canada.ca/en/ public-health/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection/ symptoms/testing/diagnosing.html (visited on 09/28/2022).
- [11] "PCR process steps PCR products from cole-parmer." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.coleparmer.com/applications/pcr (visited on 11/04/2022).
- [12] "Addgene: Homepage." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.addgene.org/ (visited on 11/04/2022).
- [13] "Gel electrophoresis (article)," Khan Academy. (), [Online]. Available: https://www.khanacademy. org/science/ap-biology/gene-expression-and-regulation/biotechnology/ a/gel-electrophoresis (visited on 11/06/2022).
- [14] "Liquid handling instruments genomics & cell characterization core facility (GC3f)." (), [Online]. Available: https://gc3f.uoregon.edu/liquid-handling-instruments (visited on 11/21/2022).
- [15] S. Eike, "epMotion® 5075 operating manual," p. 196,
- [16] "Hamilton syringes 700 series hamilton company." (), [Online]. Available: https://www. hamiltoncompany.com/laboratory-products/syringes/general-syringes/ microliter-syringes/700-series (visited on 11/29/2022).

- [17] Hamilton, *Microlab NIMBUS brochure.pdf*.
- [18] "Biomek 4000 automated liquid handler." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.beckman. com/liquid-handlers/biomek-4000 (visited on 11/22/2022).
- [19] "OT-2 press release," Blog Opentrons Labworks. (Mar. 27, 2018), [Online]. Available: https: //blog.opentrons.com/ot-2_press_release_mar_2018/ (visited on 10/03/2022).
- [20] "Hardware modules opentrons." (), [Online]. Available: https://shop.opentrons.com/ modules/ (visited on 10/04/2022).
- [21] "Single channel electronic pipette (GEN2)," Opentrons Labworks Inc. (), [Online]. Available: https: //shop.opentrons.com/single-channel-electronic-pipette-p20/ (visited on 10/03/2022).
- [22] "8 channel electronic pipette (GEN2)," Opentrons Labworks Inc. (), [Online]. Available: https: //shop.opentrons.com/8-channel-electronic-pipette/ (visited on 10/03/2022).
- [23] "OT-2 pipettes by opentrons new pipettes for lab automation." (), [Online]. Available: https: //opentrons.com/pipettes/ (visited on 10/03/2022).
- [24] OpenTrons, "Opentrons electronic pipettes," White Pages, 2020.
- [25] "Welcome opentrons python API v2 documentation." (), [Online]. Available: https://docs. opentrons.com/v2/ (visited on 10/04/2022).
- [26] A. Faiña, B. Nejati, and K. Stoy, "EvoBot: An open-source, modular, liquid handling robot for scientific experiments," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 3, p. 814, Jan. 23, 2020, ISSN: 2076-3417. DOI: 10.3390/app10030814. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/10/3/814 (visited on 11/18/2021).
- [27] A. Faa, F. Nejatimoharrami, K. Stoy, P. Theodosiou, B. Taylor, and I. Ieropoulos, "EvoBot: An open-source, modular liquid handling robot for nurturing microbial fuel cells," in *Proceedings of the Artificial Life Conference 2016*, Cancun, Mexico: MIT Press, 2016, pp. 626–633, ISBN: 978-0-262-33936-0. DOI: 10.7551/978-0-262-33936-0-ch099. [Online]. Available: https://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1162/978-0-262-33936-0-ch099 (visited on 10/08/2022).

- [28] F. Nejatimoharrami, A. Faina, and K. Stoy, "New capabilities of EvoBot: A modular, open-source liquid-handling robot," *SLAS Technology*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 500–506, Oct. 2017, ISSN: 24726303.
 DOI: 10.1177/2472630316689285. [Online]. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2472630322013401 (visited on 10/04/2022).
- [29] "ISO 8655 procedures pipettes.com." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.pipettes. com/calibration-services/quality-program/iso-8655 (visited on 10/08/2022).
- [30] "ISO 8655-1:2022(en), piston-operated volumetric apparatus part 1: Terminology, general requirements and user recommendations." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/
 #iso:std:iso:8655:-1:ed-2:v1:en (visited on 10/08/2022).
- [31] "Open-source liquid handler," OTTO. (), [Online]. Available: https://openliquidhandler. com/ (visited on 12/12/2022).
- [32] D. C. Florian, M. Odziomek, C. L. Ock, H. Chen, and S. A. Guelcher, "Principles of computercontrolled linear motion applied to an open-source affordable liquid handler for automated micropipetting," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 13663, Dec. 2020, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/ s41598-020-70465-5. [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.com/articles/ s41598-020-70465-5 (visited on 11/24/2022).
- [33] David Florian, *OTTO: The open-source automatic liquid handler*, Apr. 15, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=35Zv_xLzYRs (visited on 11/30/2022).
- [34] "Mechanical assembly," OTTO. (), [Online]. Available: https://openliquidhandler.com/ Mechanical.html (visited on 11/24/2022).
- [35] L. M. Amarante, J. Newport, M. Mitchell, J. Wilson, and M. Laubach, "An open source syringe pump controller for fluid delivery of multiple volumes," *eneuro*, vol. 6, no. 5, ENEURO.0240–19.2019, Sep. 2019, ISSN: 2373-2822. DOI: 10.1523/ENEURO.0240–19.2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.eneuro.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/ENEURO.0240–19.2019 (visited on 11/18/2021).
- [36] A. Gervasi, P. Cardol, and P. E. Meyer, "Open-hardware wireless controller and 3d-printed pumps for efficient liquid manipulation," *HardwareX*, vol. 9, e00199, Apr. 2021, ISSN: 24680672. DOI: 10.

1016/j.ohx.2021.e00199. [Online]. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S2468067221000286 (visited on 11/18/2021).

- [37] jbrazio. "What is marlin?" Marlin Firmware. (Oct. 11, 2022), [Online]. Available: https:// marlinfw.org/docs/basics/introduction.html (visited on 10/19/2022).
- [38] "Kanamycin 0.9 NaCl 50mg/mL, BioReagent, liquid, sterile-filtered, cell culture mammalian 25389-94-0." (), [Online]. Available: http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/ (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [39] "Electrocompetent cells transformation protocol NEB." (), [Online]. Available: https:// international.neb.com/protocols/2014/11/26/electrocompetent-cellstransformation-protocol (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [40] "MicroPulser Electroporator," Bio-Rad Laboratories. (), [Online]. Available: https://www.biorad.com/fr-ca/product/micropulser-electroporator?ID=83527990-34fb-4b33-b955-ca53b57bf8b9 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [41] "Eco31i (BsaI) (10 u/μl)." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.thermofisher.com/ order/catalog/product/ER0291 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [42] "GeneJET gel extraction kit." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.thermofisher.com/ order/catalog/product/K0691 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [43] "T4 DNA ligase (5 u/μl)." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.thermofisher.com/ order/catalog/product/EL0011 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [44] "Phusion® high-fidelity DNA polymerase NEB." (), [Online]. Available: https://international. neb.com/products/m0530-phusion-high-fidelity-dna-polymerase#Product% 20Information (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [45] "NEBuilder® HiFi DNA assembly master mix gene assembly NEB." (), [Online]. Available: https://international.neb.com/products/e2621-nebuilder-hifi-dnaassembly-master-mix#Product%20Information (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [46] M. E. Lee, W. C. DeLoache, B. Cervantes, and J. E. Dueber, "A highly characterized yeast toolkit for modular, multipart assembly," ACS Synthetic Biology, vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 975–986, Sep. 18, 2015, ISSN:

2161-5063, 2161-5063. DOI: 10.1021/sb500366v. [Online]. Available: https://pubs. acs.org/doi/10.1021/sb500366v (visited on 12/10/2022).

- [47] "GeneJET plasmid miniprep kit." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.thermofisher.com/ order/catalog/product/K0502 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [48] "NotI (10 u/μl)." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.thermofisher.com/order/ catalog/product/ER0592 (visited on 12/10/2022).
- [49] "Pinout for the standard ATX 24-pin 12v motherboard power connector," Lifewire. Section: Lifewire.
 (), [Online]. Available: https://www.lifewire.com/atx-24-pin-12v-power-supply-pinout-2624578 (visited on 12/11/2022).

Appendix A

Assembly Guide

The assembly guide, software, guide, BOM, and code base can be accessible through the following GitHub repo: BioCloneBot Github

A.1 Syringe Pump Assembly



(a)

(b)





Figure A.1: Syringe Pump Components

The Syringe Pump Holder comes from disassembling the Ender 3 Pro in the later steps. Attach the Syringe Pump Holder to the Syringe Pump Base using four M3x12 screws. The print in the picture is

missing the 4th screw hole due to a 3D printing error. Your pump base should have four holes.



Figure A.2: Syringe Pump Base attachment to Syringe Pump Holder.

Attach the Syringe Pump Stepper Motor to the Motor Holder using four M3x8 screws.



Figure A.3: Pump Stepper Motor attachment to Motor Holder.

Attach the Shaft Coupler to the Lead Screw using the two set screws. Attach the Shaft Coupler to the stepper motor shaft using the last two set screws. It's important to attach the Lead Screw first so the motor shaft fits the Shaft Coupler properly.



Figure A.4: Lead Screw attachment to Pump Stepper Motor.

Attach the Lead Screw Nut to the Plunger Holder using two M2x12 screws, two M2 nuts, and two M2 washers. Note that the Lead Screw Nut should fit very tightly - it will require some force to push it all the way in.



Figure A.5: Lead Screw Nut attachment to Plunger Holder.

Now we will assemble the Tip Ejector. Screw on two of the Tip Ejector Shafts to the Tip Ejector Top using

two M2x8 screws. Then slide the two springs around the shafts. If the springs do not fit smoothly, sand down the shafts until the spring moves easily with little to no resistance.



Figure A.6: Tip Ejector preparation.

Next, slot the syringe into the Syringe Pump Base. Insert the shafts into the Syringe Pump Base, then compress the springs with your hand. With the springs compressed, screw the Tip Ejector Bottom to the Tip Ejector Shafts using two M2x8 screws. NOTE: The Tip Ejector Bottom is not symmetrical - if it does not fit flush against the Syringe Pump Base, try rotating it 180 degrees.



Figure A.7: Syringe and Tip Ejector attachment.

Remove the Syringe Plunger and slot it into the Plunger Holder. Next, slide the Syringe Plunger back into the Syringe. Line up the Lead Screw with the Lead Screw Nut. You can rotate the Shaft Coupler to thread the Lead Screw into the Lead Screw Nut.



Figure A.8: Syringe Plunger and Lead Screw attachment.

Continue screwing in the Lead Screw until the Motor Holder is flush with the Syringe Pump Base. Screw the Motor Holder to the Syringe Pump base using four M3x8 screws.



Figure A.9: Pump Motor attachment.

Next solder two wires to the Pump Limit Switch. Solder one wire to the NC terminal and one wire to the COM terminal on the limit switch. The limit switch may be different than the original picture, but that is OK. Both are identical in size and the mounting holes are the same. They both also include the same three terminals.



Figure A.10: Pump Limit Switch soldering.

The last step is to insert the Pump Limit Switch into the Syringe Pump Base and fasten it using two M3x16 screws.



Figure A.11: Pump Limit Switch attachment.

A.2 Frame Assembly

To begin, we will assemble the frame of the BioCloneBot. Start by opening the Ender 3 Pro box and removing all of the parts.



Figure A.12: Ender 3 Pro Base

Remove the four knobs from the bottom of the Ender 3 Pro Base A.13. Make sure not to lose the springs. Put the knobs and springs aside for later.



Figure A.13: Ender 3 Pro base knobs.

Carefully remove the Ender 3 Pro bed and place it to the side.



Figure A.14: Ender 3 Pro Bed removal.

Before removing the Y-Axis belt tensioner, feel how tight belt is. The belt needs to be approximately this tight when attaching the new larger Y-Axis belt from the Ender Xtender kit. Remove the four screws from the Y-Axis Belt Tensioner and place them to the side for later use.



Figure A.15: Y-Axis Belt Tensioner removal.

Unhook both ends of the Y-Axis belt from the Y-Axis Carriage. Carefully remove the Y-Axis Belt Tensioner from A.16b. Place it with the four screws removed from earlier.



Figure A.16: Y-Axis Belt Tensioner removal.

Remove the Y-Axis Carriage from the frame and place it aside for later.



Figure A.17: Y-Axis Carriage removal.

On the back of the base, unplug the Y-Axis Limit Switch Connector then unscrew the three screws holding the Y-Axis Stepper Motor. Put the Y-Axis Stepper Motor and the three screws aside for later.



Figure A.18: Y-Axis Stepper Motor removal.

Remove Y-Axis Limit switch by unscrewing the two screws and sliding the switch off the extrusion. Place the limit switch, screws, and t-nuts aside for later.



Figure A.19: Y-Axis Limit Switch removal.

Next we will remove the electronics housing. Remove the two screws from the bottom and the three screws from the top of the electronics housing.



Figure A.20: Electronics Housing removal.

Carefully remove the bottom cover of the housing. Unplug the fan before completely removing the cover.



Figure A.21: Housing Fan removal.

Remove the two screws from the front of the Electronics Housing. The housing will no longer be attached to the frame. Remove the wiring bundle from the notch in the bottom of the frame.





Figure A.22: Electronics Housing removal.

The remaining frame should look like this.



Figure A.23: Ender 3 Partial Frame.

Remove the eight screws from the left and right extrusions. There are four screws on each side.



(b)

Figure A.24: Partial frame side removal.

Next, install the Vertical Extrusions to the two side extrusions from the previous step using the the parts provided with the Ender 3 Pro. Each side requires two M4x16 screws.



Figure A.25: Ender 3 Pro Vertical Extrusion install.

Grab the two Horizontal Extrusions, eight M5x25 screws and M5 star lock washers, two M5x10 screws, and two T-nuts from the Ender Xtender kit. Both extrusions are identical. Add two M5x15 screws to both of the Horizontal Extrusions as seen in the figure below. Using four of the M5x25 screws and M5 star washers, screw one extrusion to the front of the frame using the bottom sets of holes.





Figure A.26: Ender 3 Pro Horizontal Front Extrusion install.

Turn around the frame and remove the two end covers from the end of the extrusions.



Figure A.27: Rear frame extrusion cover removal.

Install the remaining extrusion to the bottom sets of holes on the rear of the frame using the remaining four M5x25 screws and M5 star lock washers.



Figure A.28: Rear Horizontal Extrusion install.

Grab the large Y-Axis Extrusion from the Ender Xtender kit. Using the T-nuts you previously installed to the Horizontal Extrusions, attach the Y-Axis Extrusion to the frame. Note that this part can be a little bit tricky. I like to use the small allen key included with the Ender 3 Pro to help line up the T-nuts properly.



Figure A.29: Y-Axis Extrusion install.

Once the T-nuts are properly attached, use a ruler and offset the Y-Axis Extrusion by 170mm. Once aligned properly, tighten the T-nuts using the appropriate allen key from the Ender 3 Pro kit.



Figure A.30: Y-Axis Extrusion alignment.

Re-attach the Y-Axis Carriage ensuring that the thin corner is in the back left.



Figure A.31: Y-Axis Carriage reattachment.

Next, feed the Y-Axis Belt that comes with the Ender Xtender kit through the Y-Axis Extrusion.



Figure A.32: Ender Xtender Y-Axis Belt replacement.

On the back left of the Y-Axis Extrusion, re-attach the Y-Axis Limit Switch using the two screws from A.19. Your screws should be silver (I lost the originals and had to use two different ones). Align the switch so it is flush with the end of the Y-Axis Extrusion.



Figure A.33: Y-Axis Limit Switch re-attachment.

Feed the Y-Axis Belt through the hole Y-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly then re-attach the Y-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly with the three screws from step A.18.



Figure A.34: Y-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly re-attachment.

Attach the Y-Axis Belt to the Y-Axis Carriage.



Figure A.35: Y-Axis Belt re-attachment.

Feed the Y-Axis Belt through the hole in the Y-Axis Tensionser, then re-attach the Y-Axis Tensioner using the by partially tightening two screws on each side from A.15. Once the all four screws are in, pull on the Y-Axis Belt Tensioner to tighten the belt and firmly tighten the screws.



Figure A.36: Y-Axis Belt Tensioner re-attachment.

Remove the magnetic bed from the Heated Bed and remove the four screws by cutting holes around the screw heads.



Figure A.37: Heated Bed screw removal.

Insert the four screws into the top face of the Ender Xtender Platform.



Figure A.38: Heated Bed screw placement onto Ender Xtender Platform.

Place the Heated Bed onto the Ender Xtender Platform.



Figure A.39: Heated Bed placement over Ender Xtender Platform.

Cut the ziptie and remove the plastic part from the wires.



Figure A.40: Removing plastic part from Heated Bed wires.

The Ender Xtender kit comes with four washers and four nuts.



Figure A.41: Ender Xtender Platform nuts and washers.

Place the washers on the screws then tighten the nut around the screws. This attaches the Heated Bed to the Ender Xtender Platform. Tape the remaining wires to the bottom of the Ender Xtender Platform and replace the four springs from A.13.



Figure A.42: Heated Bed attachment to Ender Xtender Platform.
Place the Ender Xtender Platform onto the Y-Axis Carriage being careful not to lose the springs. Attach the knobs from A.13 and tighten each knob until they are no longer loose. The platform is leveled with these knobs.



Figure A.43: Ender Xtender Platform attachment.

Gather the X-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly, the Z-Axis Roller and four M4x16 screws from the Ender 3 Pro supplies. Also grab the X-Axis Extrusion from the Ender Xtender kit.



Figure A.44: X-Axis Components.

Attach the Z-Axis Roller to the right side of the X-Axis Extrusion using two of the M4x16 screws.



Figure A.45: Z-Axis Roller attachment.

Slide the Syringe Pump onto the X-Axis Extrusion. Feed the two wires from the limit switch through the Syringe Pump Holder as seen in the figure below.



Figure A.46: Pump attachment to X-Axis Extrusion.

Attach the X-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly to the left side of the X-Axis Extrusion using two of the M4x16 screws.



Figure A.47: X-Axis Stepper Motor Assembly attachment.



The result should like this:

Figure A.48: X-Axis Components assembled.

Line up the rollers on each side with the two Vertical Extrusions to attach the X-Axis components to the frame.



Figure A.49: X-Axis components attached.

Attach the Top Extrusion to the frame by using the four M5x25 screws provided with the Ender 3 Pro.



Figure A.50: Top Extrusion attachment.

Disassemble the Z-Axis Limit Switch that comes with the Ender 3 Pro by unscrews the two screws holding the switch and the two screws and T-nuts. Attach the switch to the new Z-Axis Limit Switch Holder using the two screws. Last, Attach the screws and T-nuts.



Figure A.51: Z-Axis Switch assembly.

Attach the Z-Axis Limit Switch to the back left of the Top Extrusion. Ensure it is flush with the Top Extrusion then tighten the T-nut screws.

Last, assemble the pieces of the BioCloneBot platform together and place them over the platform.



Figure A.52: Platform attachment.

Now the BioCloneBot frame and pump are fully assembled. The next section will cover the electronics.



Figure A.53: BioCloneBot frame and pump fully assembled.

A.3 Electronics Assembly

All of the following parts are mentioned can be found in the bill of materials in Appendix C. Before beginning, ensure the power supply is **NOT PLUGGED IN** while cutting or soldering wires! In the following steps, only cut the end of the wire from the 24-pin connector.



Figure A.54: Always ensure the power supply is OFF when cutting or soldering the wires.

To power the BioCloneBot, a modular ATX PC power supply is used. Modular power supplies come with only the bare minimum wires hardwired to the power supply with extra wires that can be attached to power added PC components. For this guide, only the 24-pin ATX connector will be used. Following figure A.56 below, identify the function of each pin of the 24-pin ATX connector.



Figure A.55: 450W modular ATX PC power supply.



Figure A.56: Standard 24-pin ATX power supply pin-out [49].

Cut the PG wire and a Ground wire using wire cutters. Cut back some of PG wire sleeve then solder the exposed wire to one of the terminals of the on/off switch. Cut back some of Ground wire sleeve then solder the exposed wire to the other terminal of the on/off switch. Cover the exposed wire and terminals with electrical tape. When the power supply is plugged in and the switch on the power supply is turned on, this switch can be used to turn the power supply on or off. Use this as the emergency stop switch.



Figure A.57: Power switch for emergency shut-off.

Cut the PS_ON wire and one Ground wire using wire cutters. Cut back some of the PS_ON wire sleeve then solder one end of a 220Ω resistor to the exposed wire. Solder the positive lead of a green LED to the other end of the resistor. The positive lead is longer than the negative lead. Cut back some Ground wire sleeve then solder the negative terminal of the LED to the exposed wire. Cover the exposed wire, the resistor, and the terminals of the LED with electrical tape. When the power supply is plugged in, the switch on the side of the power supply is turned on, and the soldered switch is on, this LED will turn on.



(a) Preparing PS_ON LED.



(b) PS_ON LED soldered.

Cut the +5VSB wire and a Ground wire using wire cutters. Cut back some of the +5VSM wire sleeve then solder one end of a 220 Ω resistor to the exposed wire. Solder the positive lead of an orange LED to the other end of the resistor. The positive lead is longer than the negative lead. Cut back some Ground wire sleeve then solder the negative terminal of the LED to the exposed wire. Cover the exposed wire, the resistor, and the terminals of the LED with electrical tape. When the power supply is plugged in, the switch on the side of the power supply is turned on, this LED will turn on. This stays regardless of whether the soldered switch is on or off.



(a) **Preparing** +5VSB LED.



(b) +5VSB LED soldered.

The final LEDs look like this when everything is turned on. A table of the power states can be found in table A.1 below.



Figure A.60: **PS_ON and +5VSB LEDs turned on.**

PSU Cable	PSU Switch	Soldered Switch State	PS_ON LED State	+5VSB LED State
Not plugged in	-	-	Off	Off
Plugged in	Off	Off	Off	Off
Plugged in	On	Off	Off	On
Plugged in	Off	On	Off	Off
Plugged in	On	On	On	On

Table A.1: Power supply switch states.

Cut the -12V and -5V wire and cover them using electrical tape. They are not needed.

Cut all of the 3.3V wires. Separate the wires into two bundles. It is OK if the two bundles are not equal. Cut back the wire sleeve on each wire of both bundles. Take all the wires of one bundle then twist the exposed part of each wire into one big wire. Place the big wire into one of the solderless crimp terminal connectors. Despite being solderless, apply solder to attach the bundle to the connector. Do this for both bundles. Apply electrical tape to all exposed wire and solder. However you see fit, label the wires so it is clear that these are the 3.3V wires. Attach each bundle to on side of the terminal block.

Cut all of the 5.0V wires. Separate the wires into two bundles. It is OK if the two bundles are not equal. Cut back the wire sleeve on each wire of both bundles. Take all the wires of one bundle then twist the exposed part of each wire into one big wire. Place the big wire into one of the solderless crimp terminal connectors. Despite being solderless, apply solder to attach the bundle to the connector. Do this for both bundles. Apply electrical tape to all exposed wire and solder. However you see fit, label the wires so it is clear that these are

the 5.0V wires. Attach each bundle to on side of the terminal block.

Cut all of the 12.0V wires. Separate the wires into two bundles. It is OK if the two bundles are not equal. Cut back the wire sleeve on each wire of both bundles. Take all the wires of one bundle then twist the exposed part of each wire into one big wire. Place the big wire into one of the solderless crimp terminal connectors. Despite being solderless, apply solder to attach the bundle to the connector. Do this for both bundles. Apply electrical tape to all exposed wire and solder. However you see fit, label the wires so it is clear that these are the 12.0V wires. Attach each bundle to on side of the terminal block.

Cut all of the remaining Ground wires. Separate the wires into three bundles. It is OK if the last bundles are not equal to the other two. Cut back the wire sleeve on each wire of the bundles. Take all the wires of one bundle then twist the exposed part of each wire into one big wire. Place the big wire into one of the solderless crimp terminal connectors. Despite being solderless, apply solder to attach the bundle to the connector. Do this for all three bundles. Apply electrical tape to all exposed wire and solder. However you see fit, label the wires so it is clear that these are the Ground wires. Attach each bundle to on side of the terminal block.

Next we will make power wires for the motor drivers. Cut four wires of one color and four wires of another color that are long enough to reach from the terminal block to the breadboard. On one end of each wire, solder a terminal connector. On the other end, crimp a single male molex pin. Using the terminal connectors, attach two of the wires to one of the 12.0V lines on the terminal block. Do the same for the other 12.0V line. Repeat this using the second colored wires for the Ground lines.

The Ender Xtender kit comes with X, Y, Z, and E wires for the motors and limit switches (there is no E limit switch - for this we use the pump limit switch). Go ahead and cut the end of each wire that does not fit into the motor/limit switch. Crimp a 4-pin molex connector to the end of the stepper motor wires and a 2-pin molex connector to the end of the limit switch wires.

The circuitry can be wire by following this wiring diagram:

Appendix B

Software User Manual

The assembly guide, software, guide, BOM, and code base can be accessible through the following GitHub repo: BioCloneBot Github.

B.1 Prerequisites

Before you can modify the source code, you will need to install the following software:

Front-End

Visual Studio 2022 with .NET SDK 6.0+ Visual Studio 2022 Community Edition - Download Latest Free

Version (microsoft.com)

If .NET cannot be found as in the error below:



Figure B.1: .NET SDK cannot be found.

Try the following fix:

c# - Microsoft Visual Studio 2019: The project file cannot be opened. Unable to locate the .NET SDK -

Stack Overflow

Firmware: Arduino IDE

Software — Arduino

B.2 Preparation

Before running experiments, it is important to ensure the following steps have been performed

- The red switch on the side of the power supply is set to 115V
- The BioCloneBot power supply is plugged in and turned on
- The Arduino Mega is connected to your computer using the provided USB cable
- You have uploaded the latest version of the BioCloneBot firmware to the Arduino
- The device has been calibrated (steps follow in the following section)

To home the BioCloneBot, remove everything from the platform and remove any tip attached to the syringe pump. Once the platform is clear, select the "Home Device" button underneath the Protocol Queue. The device will now home the x, y, z, and pump axes in order.

B.2.1 Calibration

Before running any experiments, it is crucial to calibrate the BioCloneBot. If you do not calibrate the device, it will miss the target during the experiments.

Here are the major calibration positions:

- (1) The (x,y) homed position
- (2) The top left corner location for the labware slots on the platform
- (3) The (x,y) location for the center of the top left reservoir or tip
- (4) The distance between the center of the reservoirs or tips
- (5) The max height in the z-axis
- (6) The height of the labware

Each calibration position can be set by using the Manual Control Form of the BioCloneBot software. Open the Manual Control Form by going to Settings -¿ Manually move pump.



Figure B.2: Opening the Manual Control Form.

Carefully read the message pop-up then click OK.



Figure B.3: Manual Control Form warning pop-up.

This will open the Manual Control Form



Figure B.4: BioCloneBot Manual Control Form.

To move a specific axis, enter a value into the "Travel Distance/Volume" text box, then press the corresponding button for the axis you would like to move. The + buttons move away from the limit switch of the axis and the - buttons move away from the limit switch of the axis. The aspirate and dispense buttons move the volume entered into the text box.

B.2.2 The (x,y) Homed Position

During the homing procedure, each axis starts by pressing the limit switch of that axis, then backing off until the switch is no longer pressed. Once finished, the center of the syringe pump tip will align with the bottom left of the platform. This refers to the (0, 0) position of the x-axis and the y-axis.



Figure B.5: BioCloneBot platform with homed position in bottom-left corner.

Press the home button and wait for the procedure to finish. Using the z+ button, move the pump until the pump is a couple cm above the platform. If the center of the syringe pump tip does not line up with the corner of the platform, open up the firmware file located inside the BioCloneBot code folder "BioCloneBot\Firmware\DeviceControllerV4\DeviceControllerV4.ino".

You can update the (x,y) homing location by modifying line 452.

```
452 movePump('1', '1', '0', 012.00, 033.00, 0.0);
453 //sets homing to 0 re-enabling the normal functionality of the limit switches as emergency stops
454 //and sets carriage location to (0.0, 0.0, 0.0) and syringe volume to 0
455 homing = 0;
```

Figure B.6: Homing position inside of BioCloneBot firmware. Depending on the version of the code, the line is subject to change.

012.00 refers to x-location and 033.00 refers to the y-location. Make sure to maintain the XXX.XX and YYY.YY format. The third number, 0.0 can be ignored as it refers to the point on the z-axis.

B.2.3 Top Left Corner of Labware Slots

The BioCloneBot uses the top left corner of each labware slot as the reference point when moving the pump to perform an operation. These locations can be seen below:



Figure B.7: Top left reference corner for each labware slot on the BioCloneBot platform.

These positions can be modified inside of the Platform.cs file located in "BioCloneBot\BioCloneBot\Platform.cs" The positions can be modified in lines in the AddLabware function of the Platform.cs class. topLeft-Corner[0] refers to the x-location and topLeftCorner[1] refers to the y-location.

B.2.4 (x,y) of Top Left Reservoirs

The next position to calibrate is the distance from the top left corner of the labware slot to the center of the corresponding labware reservoir.



Figure B.8: X and y distance from the top left corner of the labware position to the center of the top left reservoir.

These can be be modified by updating the "startLocation" variable inside of the Wellplate.cs, Tubestand.cs, and Tipbox.cs classes. The classes can be found inside the "BioCloneBot\BioCloneBot\" folder. The first value is the x-distance and the second value is the y-distance.

B.2.5 Reservoir Distances

Now that we have calibrated the top left corner of the labware locations and the start location of the first reservoir, we need to calibrate the distance between the reservoirs.



Figure B.9:

This can be updated inside of the class file for each labware: Wellplate.cs, Tubestand.cs, andTipbox.cs located in "BioCloneBot\BioCloneBot\". Here are the variable names for each class:

"wellDistance" inside of Wellplate.cs "tubeDistance" inside of Tubestand.cs "tipDistance" inside of Tipbox.cs

B.2.6 Set Z-Max Value

The BioCloneBot uses Z-Max (the maximum travel distance in the z-axis) to help target labware during an operation. To calibrate Z-Max, home the device without a pipette tip attached.

Once homed, lower the pump until the tip adapter is touching the platform, but not pushing it down. This is

the Z-Max value. This can be updated inside the Platform class file located at "BioCloneBot\BioCloneBot\Platform.cs" inside of the Platform constructor function.

B.2.7 Height of Labware

The labware height refers to the target location of the pump depending on the labware to target. If you are trying to attach a tip, assume that there is no tip attached. If you are targeting a wellplate or tube reservoir, attach a pipette tip to the syringe pump by hand to account for the extra distance added by the tip. You will need to use the Manual Control Form to figure out these values. You will need to move the pump in each axis until it is in the desired location. The final value for the z-location is the value to input.

Pipette Tip

Move the pump until the tip adapter is located over the center of a pipette tip. Lower the pump until the adapter is inside the tip, but it is not snug. The tip attachment process automatically lowers the syringe pump after it is located inside of the tip to ensure a snug fit.

Wellplate or tubestand

Move the pump until the pipette tip is located over the center of the reservoir. Lower the pipette tip until it has touched the bottom of the reservoir then back up around 0.5 mm. This will ensure the pipette tip is not blocked when trying to aspirate or dispense.

The labware height can be updated inside of the class file for each labware: Wellplate.cs, Tubestand.cs, and Tipbox.cs located in "BioCloneBo\BioCloneBot\". The third number in the "dimensions" variable refers to the measured height.

B.3 Setting Up an Experiment

Now that the labware has been defined and initialized, we can start building our experiment. There are currently 6 operations available:

- Home Device: homes the x, y, z, and pump motors
- Get Tip: gets tip from a selected position on an available tip box
- Remove Tip: unloads tip into the trash bin
- Aspirate: aspirates a volume in μ L into the pipette tip

- Dispense: dispenses a volume + 25μ L to a destination reservoir
- Mix: mixes a volume a specified number of times in a destination well

Though the device should already be homed, it is best practice to start a protocol with aHome Device Operation. Select the Home Device Operation and note that it fills the protocol queue.

Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneE	Bot Platform
		Hamo Dreesa	30 Wellplate		
		GelTip	Seil Expension Tuber	Thermonuclear	Trach
		Manana Tip	200 cl. Tip Bea	Thermocycler	Trasii
		Aspiratu	по		
		Depense	тво		
		Ma	тво	DC Wollelate	2004 Tip Rot
_		180	ТВО	ao weilingie	2000L HP BOX
rt Experiment	Clear Protocol	тю	mo		
oad Sample Experiment		780	180		
		THD	тво	a design of	i dente de la companya
ome Device	Reconnect Arduino	180	180	Labware 3	Labware 4
we Protocol	Load Protocol	180	тво		

Figure B.10: Add Home Device operation.

Before we can aspirate or mix, we need to attach a pipette tip to the pump. Select the "Get Tip" operation then select the 200μ L Tip Box on the platform.



Figure B.11: Add Get Tip Operation.

	7	7	9	7	7	9	9	9	9	Ŷ	9	V
Attach Ti	7	7	7	7	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	V
	V	7	7	7	7	9	9	9	9	9	7	V
	V	7	7	7	7	9	9	9	9	7	7	9
	V	7	V	7	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	7
	V	V	7	V	V	V	7	9	V	7	9	7
	7	7	7	V	V	V	9	9	7	9	0	7
	7	7	7	7	9	7	9	7	7	7	7	7

The Attach Tip Operation form will now open.

Figure B.12: Get Tip Operation Form opened.

Select the top left tip, then click the Attach Tip button.

8	7	7	1	Ţ	Q	V	V	7	V	7	7	
7	9	7	7	7	9	9	7	7	9	7	7	Attach Tip
V	9	7	9	V	9	V	7	V	7	7	7	
7	7	7	7	9	7	9	7	7	7	7	7	
7	9	7	9	Ŷ	7	V	7	7	9	7	7	
7	V	7	V	9	V	V	7	7	9	7	7	
V	7	7	V	Q	Q	9	9	7	9	7	7	
0	7	7	7	0	7	7	7	7	9	7	7	

Figure B.13: Select tip and click Attach Tip to attach the selected tip.

Notice that the tip is no longer available for selection.

🖷 Attach Tip Ope	eration											x
\$	7	9	9	9	V	V	9	V	7	V	7	
V	9	7	7	9	9	7	7	9	7	9	7	Attach Tip Tip attached.
7	9	9	9	9	9	0	9	9	7	9	7	
7	9	7	7	9	9	0	Q	0	7	0	7	
7	9	9	7	7	9	9	9	9	7	9	7	
7	7	7	9	9	7	9	7	9	7	9	V	
7	9	7	9	9	9	9	1	7	9	7	7	
7	9	7	9	9	9	9	1	7	7	7	7	
												Cancel OK

Figure B.14: Tips are no longer available after being attached.

Press OK to go back to the platform.

Now we can see the second step in the Protocol Queue "Get Tip from tipbox in position 2." 5.

d bettendet He Jesing Hig					- ð ×.
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBo	ot Platform
1. Humi Devou 2. Get Tp from tipbox in position 2		Hamin Diterces	30 Wellphato		
		Carl Tip-	Sell. Eppendant Tuber	Theready	Test
		Manana Tip	200 at Tip Box	Пелносусег	Trasm
		Aspiratu	тво		
		Depense	ню		
		Ma	тво	D6 Wellelate	200ul Tic Ray
		180	180	ao weithdia	2000L HP BOX
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	тво		
Load Sample Experiment		тво	180		
Heren Devices		тыр	190	Laburer 2	Laburro A
Hume Device		180	180	Labware 3	Lauware 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	тво		

Figure B.15: The Get Tip Operation is added to Protocol Queue after confirming.

Bellmild. Re Smith No.			í		- 0
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioClon	eBot Platform
1. Homin Dewon 2. Get Tip fram tipbox in position 2		Hame Dresa	36 Wellpfato		
		Card Top	Sell. Eppendart Tubes		
		Minimumo Tiga	200 ut. Tip Box	Inermocycler	Trash
		Анрият	тво		
		Disperse	TBD		
		Ma	тво	96 Wellplate	200uL Tip Box
_		110	nuo		
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	mo		
Load Sample Experiment		180	THD		
House Device	Reconnect Arthuno	тво	TBD	Laburaro 3	Labura A
Vicania Device		IBD	тво	Labward 3	Louwale 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	тво		

Next, select the Aspirate operation then select the 96 wellplate.

Figure B.16: After clicking the Aspirate Operation button, the wellplate lights up.

This will open the Aspiration Form.



Figure B.17: Aspiration Operation form.

Select the top left well and enter in 50 into the Volume to aspirate text box, and click Aspirate.



Figure B.18: Select the well, enter in 50μ L, then click Aspirate to confirm the Operation.

We can see that the operation was confirmed and that 50μ L was removed from the well.



Figure B.19: The well automatically updates to $0\mu L$ after confirming the operation.

Note: You can use the 25μ L Trailing Air Gap check box to aspirate 25.0μ L of air before aspirating the designated volume from the well. This 25.0μ L can then be used to simulate the double press action of a pipette where a larger volume is dispensed than picked up to guarantee all the liquid is ejected from the pipette tip. In this case, we will leave it blank.

Protocol Queue vailable Laby **BioCloneBot Platform** Operat 36 Wellplate - Carl Top-Sell Eppendint Tube Thermocycler Trash 200 ct. Tep Bea Minimumo Tato Aspicate TED Ma TED 96 Wellplate 200uL Tip Box 180 тво Load Sample Experiment 180 Labware 3 Labware 4 180 180 18

Click OK and we will now see that the aspiration step has been added.

Figure B.20: The Aspiration Operation was added to the Protocol Queue.

e Berlandet Ne Senap Nep					- ð x
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioC	CloneBot Platform
1 Home Device 2 Get Tip from tipbox is position 2 3 Aspirated SOLE from wellplate in	position 1	Hama Drenas	3h Wellphaho		
	1	Call Tip-	Selli, Eppensituti Tobers		
		fannano Tip	200 et Tip Box	Thermocycler	irash
		Азрініть	тво		
		Dispense	твр		
		Ma	TBD	96 Wellplate	200ul Tin Box
_		THD	тво		Look Hip box
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	mo	тво		
Load Sample Experiment		TBD	авт		
None Device	Bacaguart Antuing	тыр	тво	Labuero 3	Labura A
		180	180	Lauwaiti 3	Lauvalu 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	TBD		

Next we will dispense the 50μ L. Select the Dispense operation then select the 96 wellplate.

Figure B.21: When selected the Dispense Operation, the wellplate lights up.



This will open the dispense operation form.

Figure B.22: Dispense Operation Form.

Select the top right well, enter 50 into the Volume to dispense text box, and click Dispense.



Figure B.23: Select the well, enter in 50 μ l, then click dispense.

Now we can see that $50\mu L$ was dispensed to the top right well.



Figure B.24: The well updates to $100\mu L$ after clicking Dispense.

Click OK and we will see the dispense operation is added to the Operations Queue.

A Brillmillet				- 5 ×
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBot Platform
1. Home Device. 2. Get Tp from tipbox is position 2. 3. Asperated 50.4, from website in p. 4. Dispensed 50.4, to website in p.	position 1 osabon 1	Home Drawco	3n Wellplate	
	-	Cull Tip-	Sell. Eppendiat Tuber	
		Minimum Tips	200 el Tip Bos	I hermocycler I rash
		Aspiration	тво	
		Depense	пар	
		Ma	тво	
		1110	180	36 Weithere 2004L HP Box
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	тю	
Load Sample Experiment		тво	COUT	
		mo	тво	Laborer 2
Home Device		IBD	180	Louwary 3 Lauwary 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	180	тво	

Figure B.25: The Dispense Operation was added to the Protocol Queue.

Next, select the Remove Tip operation. The software knows where the trash bin is so you do not need to select anything additional.

I for here his					- 0 ×
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneE	3ot Platform
Horen Device Get Tip from tipbox is position 2 Get Tip from tipbox is position 2 Aspected 504L from welplate in Depresed 504L to welplate in p Supersent to	position 1. cosition 1	Home Dimese	Bin Wellpfallio		
K	~	Cet Tip	Smil: Eppensituri Tobes		
	/	filmnewe Tip	200 et Tip Box	Thermocycler	irash
		Aspirate	тво	,,	
		Dispense	ню		
		Ma	тво		
		1110	an	ap weitbigte	200ul, Hp Box
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	mo		
Load Sample Experiment		тво			
		пю	180	a second second	Parent a
Home Device	Reconnect Antuino	180	тво	Labware 3	Labware 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	180	нво		

Figure B.26: Pressing the Remove Tip Operation button adds a second Remove Tip to the Protocol Queue.

Select the Get Tip operation and select the 200μ L Tip Box.

4 BerOmellet					- 0 ×
The Jesup Hip			1 1		
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	Bi	oCloneBot Platform
Home Device Get Tp from tiplox in position 2 Get Tp from tiplox in position 2 Approxed Stut, from welpate in 5 Remove tp	rposition 1 cosition 1	Hanne Laneca	3h Wellplate		
-		Cal Tap	Eppendari Tubes	and the second se	
		Manasano Tip	2001 et. Tip Bea	Thermocycler	Trash
		Aspirate	тво		
		Depense	тво		المحاجر الملك علوا وجد
		Ma	тво		
		THO	180	ар менриле	2000L TIP BOX
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	пю		
Load Sample Experiment		THO	180.		
		TSD	180	A REAL PROPERTY AND	
Home Device	Reconnect Arduino	IBO	тво	Labware 3	Labware 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	тво		
Home Device	Reconnect Arduino	THD IBO TBD		Lobware 3	Labware 4

Figure B.27: Select Get Tip to attach a fresh tip to the pump.

Select the tip to the right of the used tip location and select Attach Tip.

	V	9	7	7	7	9	9	V	9	7	7	
7	V	V	9	7	9	9	7	9	7	9	7	Attach Tip
7	9	9	9	Ŷ	7	9	9	9	9	V	7	
9	7	7	7	7	7	9	9	9	7	7	9	
7	7	7	V	9	7	9	7	7	7	9	7	
7	9	7	9	9	7	9	9	7	7	9	7	
9	7	9	7	7	7	9	7	9	1	7	7	
0	0	0	0	0	9	9	0	0	9	0	7	

Figure B.28: Select the second tip and click Attach Tip.

We can see the second tip is removed and the new tip is attached.



Figure B.29: The second tip is no longer available.

Click OK to return back to the Control Form. We can see the get tip operation was successful.

forbadi - 0 X					
Protocol Queue		Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBot Platform	
Home Device Get Tp from topox in position 2 Get Tp from topox in position 2 Approximation 20, if non-weighted in position 1 4 Depresend Onu. If overlapties or position 1		Hann Desca	Bri Wellplate		
6 Get Tp from tpbox in position 2		Gel Tp-	Smill Eppemiliant Tubers		
		Manasana Tip	2001 ed. Tip Box	Thermocycler Trash	
		Aspirate	ТНО		
		Depense	THD		
		Ma	тво		
		THO	cun	96 Weitplate 200uL tip Box	
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	тво		
Load Sample Experiment		тво	180		
		пю	тво		
Home Device	Reconnect Antuino	IBO	авт	Labware 3 Labware 4	
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	180	180		

Figure B.30: The second Get Tip Operation is added to the Protocol Queue.

Novt wo wil	ll calact the mix	onaration	Click Mix	and calact the	06 wallplata
INCAL WE WIL			CHCK IVIIA	and select the	90 wenplate.
		1			1

4.

le Jesop Hip		1	1 1			
Protocol Queue		Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBot Platform		
1 Home Devols 2 Cell T(p into logon sposition 2) 3 Cell T(p into logon sposition 2) 4 Cell T(p into exclusion 1) 5 Approve t(p) 6 Cell T(p into into one operation 2) 6 Cell T(p into into one operation 2)		Hame Dresca	30 Wellplato			
		Carl Tip	Smil. Eppendant Tubes	Thermocycler	Trash	
		Manana Tip	200 at. Tip Box			
		Aspirate	Тво	,,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		Depense	TBD	<u></u> _		
		Ma	180	96 Wellplate	200ul Tin Box	
_		180	THD			
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	то	mo			
Load Sample Experiment		тво	TUD			
	Bacannact Arthuing	пю	тво	Labura 3	Laburaro A	
Home Device		IBO	тво	Cooword 5	LOUWUIG 4	
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	тво	тво			

Figure B.31: Selecting the Mix Operation highlights the 96 wellplate.

The mix operation form will open.



Figure B.32: The Mix Operation Form.

Select the top right well, enter in 25 into the Volume to mix text box, enter 5 into the number of mixes text box, and click Mix.



Figure B.33: 25 μ L will be mixed 5 tips from the well containing 100 μ L.

The Mix operation is now confirmed. This means the pump will aspirate then dispense 25μ L 5 times into the selected well.



Figure B.34: The Mix Operation of $25\mu L$ is confirmed.

Click OK and we will see that the mix operation has been successfully added.

AP Bell timebel						
Protocol Queue		Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBot Platform		
Home Deeco Zoet Tp from lipbox in position 2 Get Tp from lipbox in position 2 Apparted 50uL from wellpale in position 1 A Depensed 50uL to wellpale in position 1		Hanna Direcco	36 Wellplato			
 Carl To Imm Index to coston 2. Carl To Imm Index to coston 2. Mend 25uit, 5 times on wellplate 	5 Remove tip 6 Cet Te how technice constron 2 7 Mixed 25ut, 5 times on wellplate in position 1.		Smil. Eppendari Tubes			
		Manana Tip	200 at. Tip Bos	Thermocycler Trash		
		Aspirate	тво			
		Despense	TBD			
		Ma	TBD	96 Welldels		
_		110	TBD	so mathato		
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	тво			
Load Sample Experiment		180	TBD			
Home Davies	Beconnect Arthuinn	150	190	Labware 3. Labware 4.		
		ІВО	пво			
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	TBD			

Figure B.35: The Mix Operation is added to the Protocol Queue.

Next we will add one final Remove Tip operation. Click Remove Tip to add the final operation.
d belandet			J		- 0 ×
Protoco	Protocol Queue Operations		Available Labware	Bot Platform	
Home Device Zold Tg look to appoint of 2 Zold Tg look to appoint of 2 Ald Tg look to applicate any position 1 S Remove to Sold Tg look application 2 Sold Tg look application 2		Hanna Direman	Bit Wellphate		
		Get Tip-	Smill Eppensition Tubes		
			Hansess Tip 2001 ed. Tip Box	Thermocycler	Irasn
		Aspiratu	тво		
		Despense	вю		
		Ma	180	DC Wellerin	2004 Tie Bey
		110	180	BC Weithdie	2000L HP BOX
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	пю		
Load Sample Experiment		TBD	180		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Heren Devices		тю	180	Labure 2	Taburan A
Hume Device		180	тво	Lauwaiu 3	Lauware 4
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	тво		

Figure B.36: Selecting Remove Tip adds a second Remove Tip Operation to the Protocol Queue.

Our protocol is finally complete.

B.4 Running, Saving, Loading, and Clearing Protocols

Running a Protocol

Now that our experiment has been set up from the previous section, we can add the labware to the platform. Go ahead and load a 96 wellplate into Position 1 and a 200μ L tip box into Position 2 on the physical Bio-CloneBot. Fill the top left well in the wellplate full of water. This will be the water used for the test.

Click the Start Experiment button.

BerDanillet The Jesup Hig					- 8 ×
Protoco	d Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneB	lot Platform
1. Homel Davids 2. Gel Tip Sron Ibplets in goellion 2. 4. Argenited Solut. I hom welfplate in position 1. 4. Degensed Solut. I to welfplate in position 1.		Hamir Drenas	an Wulipiaho		
 Get Tip from tipbox in position 2: Mend 25ul, 5 times on wellplate i Remove tip 	in position (Get Tip-	Seli. Eppendant Tabes	The second second	
1.1		Minnows Tip	2001 ut. Tip Box	Thermocycler	Trash
		Aspirate	тво	,	
		Despense	ню		
		Ma	тво	96 Welldate	200ul Tin Box
		THO	TBD	DO Weithate	2000L HP DOX
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	mo		
Load Sample Experiment		180	180		
Home Device	Reconnect Arduino	150	180	Labware 3	Labware 4
		IBO	180		
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	180		

Figure B.37: Pressing the Start Experiment button will begin the protocol.

This will result in the following pop-up:

Click OK to confirm and start the experiment	
-	

Figure B.38: Start Experiment confirmation window.

Once you are sure that your labware and protocol is properly correct, click OK to start the protocol. The front-end generates a list of commands while setting up the protocols. The following loop runs until all commands have been completed:

- (1) Send current command to Arduino
- (2) Wait for Arduino to send response indicating the completion of the command
- (3) Repeat until all commands have been run

Once the experiment is done, we will receive the following pop-up:



Figure B.39: Experiment finished pop-up.

Click OK to finish the experiment.

Saving a Protocol To save time and prevent repeating protocol steps over and over, saving has been implemented.

Once you have finished designing a protocol, click the Save Protocol button in the bottom left.

d brOmbit For Jerop Hip					- 5 ×
Protoco	ol Queue	Operations	Available Labware	BioClonel	Bot Platform
1. Home Deven 2. Get Tip from toplow in position 2. 3. Aspendind SOL: To wellplate in position 1. 6. Dispensed SOL: To wellplate in position 1.		Hanne Deseca	an Welptate		
5 Formown op 6 Get Tip from fipbox in position 2 7 Mand 25ul, 5 finnes on wellplate 8 Remove tip	S Revenue to La Cle Ta Danie (aglica in good co 2 2 Cle Cle Danie (aglica in good co 3 Revenue fip		Smil. Eppendiati Tubes	Thermodyle	
			2000 ut. Tip Bea	Hermocycler	Trasn
		Aspirate	тво		
		Depense	тво		
		Ma	тво	96 Welldate	200ul Tio Box
		THO	пво	an weathers	FORE HILDOX
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	ma	mo		
Load Sample Experiment		780	180		
Home Device	Bacannact Archites	THD	180	Laburaro 3	Laburare A
	Heconinics Araumo	180	180	Labward 3	
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	TBD		

Figure B.40: Press the Save Protocol button to save your protocol to a JSON file.

A dialog window will open.

Select your save location, enter in a name for your experiment, and click Save.

Save As							
🕆 🛃 > Th	is PC > Documents			~ O	P Search Do	cuments	
Irganize - New fold	e.					(82 -	
A Quick access	Name ~	Status	Date modified 2022-05-25 1:31 PM	Type File folder	Size		
OneDrive - Conco	Custom Office Templates SOLIDWORKSComposer	0	2022-05-25 10:43 AM 2022-05-26 3:20 PM	File folder File folder			
3D Objects	SW Log Files Visual Studio 2022	0	2022-06-26 3:13 PM 2022-05-26 8:48 PM	File folder File folder			
Desktop	Zoom	۰	2022-05-03 12:37 PM	File folder			
Downloads Music							
Pictures							
Local Disk (C:)							
File name: exper	iment1						_
Save as type: All file	s (*.*)						
Lide Eatline					Seve	Cancel	

Figure B.41: Save Protocol Window.

This will generate a file containing your labware, the protocol, and the final conditions of the labware after all the protocol is run.

Loading a Protocol Click the Load Protocol button in the bottom left.

Protocol Queue		Operations	Available Labware	BioCloneBo	ot Platform
		I Kome Device:	DIS Weilglate		
		Cet Tp	Sel, Eppendort Tubes	Thermonyther	Truck
		Removi No.	200 of the Des	Thermocycler	Trash
		Aspente	TBD		
		Disperso	TRD	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		Ha	тво	Labware 1	Labware 2
_		mo	TIND		
art Experiment	Clear Protocol	THD	TBD		
Load Sample Experiment		rap	180		
Home Device	Reconnect Arduino	180	180	Lahware 3	Labware 4
		TUD	THO	Lauwere 5	Labria a
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TRD	180		

Figure B.42: Press the Load Protocol button to load a protocol from a JSON file.

A selection window will open. Navigate to the location of your protocol and press Open. Your protocol will now load into the software.

4 brillmilit					— ð ×
Hie Jessip Hip			1 I		
Protocol Queue		Operations	Available Labware	BioCl	oneBot Platform
Home Device 2 Get Tg from tables is position 2 3 Get Tg from tables is position 2 3 Apparted 5004, from weightele is position 1 4 Despensed 5044, for weightele in position 1		Hame Dinwas	In Welplato		
 Get Tip from tipbox in position 2: Mend 25ul, 5 times on wellplate i Remove tip 	n position f	Get Tip	art Tip Smil. Epipernitari Tobes		-
1.1			Hinnews Tip 2001 ed. Tip Bea	Thermocycler	Irasn
		Aspiratu	Тво		
		Despense	твр		
		Ma	TBD	96 Welldete	2004 Tin Box
_		THO	TBD	30 Melipidie	about the pox
Start Experiment	Clear Protocol	mo	тво		
Load Sample Experiment		пю	тво		
Harris Device		тво	тво.	Laburare 2	Laborate A
		IBO	тво	Labwara 5	
Save Protocol	Load Protocol	TBD	тво		

Figure B.43: The protocol is loaded into the BioCloneBot software.

Appendix C

Bill of Materials

The assembly guide, software, guide, BOM, and code base can be accessible through the following GitHub repo: BioCloneBot Github

Item	Qty	Price EA	Price Total	Notes
		(CAD)	(CAD)	
Ender 3 Pro 3D Printer	1	\$326.42	\$326.42	Acts as base of the Bio-
				CloneBot.
Ender Xtender 400 for Ender 3	1	\$247.58	\$247.58	
Pro V1				
Arduino Mega 2560 R3 Clone	1	\$29.95	\$29.95	
DRV8825 Stepper Motor Driver	4	\$10.76	\$10.76	
450W Computer Power Supply	1	\$89.99	\$89.99	
830 Tie Points Breadboard with	1	\$11.99	\$11.99	
65 Jumper Wires				
1390 Electronic Components	1	\$33.86	\$33.86	
Kit				
6 Color, 25ft each 16AWG wire	1	\$46.00	\$46.00	
400 Step 24V/1.5A NEMA17	1	\$57.15	\$57.15	
Bipolar Stepper Motor				
Straight Lever Limit Switch	1	\$3.24	\$3.24	
Misumi MTSRA10-100-S30-	1	\$31.79	\$31.79	
Q6 Lead Screw				
Misumi MRG-16-5-6 Shaft	1	\$26.57	\$26.57	
Coupler				
Misumi MTSNR10 Lead Screw	1	\$28.19	\$28.19	
Nut				
Hamilton 50µL Microliter Sy-	1	\$110.19	\$110.19	Model 7637-01 with removable
ringe				RN nut

Hamilton 250 μ L, Microliter Syringe	1	\$145.12	\$145.12	Model 7639-01 with removable
Two part epoxy	1	\$7.89	\$7.89	This is used for gluing the tip adapter to the syringe nut
1-5/8" x 3/16" Compression Spring	2	\$2.29	\$4.58	adapter to the synnige had
JST PH Connector Kit	1	\$17.59	\$17.59	Used for stepper motor wires/limit switches.
JST XH Connector Kit	1	\$34.47	\$34.47	Used for stepper motor wires/limit switches.
Soldering Iron Kit	1	\$24.99	\$24.99	
Socket Head Cap Screw Set	1	\$36.99	\$36.99	Try to get a set that comes with various M2, M3, M4, and M5 screws like part #8011655040381 from Ninde- jin
Digital Multimeter	1	\$15.99	\$15.99	
Solderless Crimp Terminal Con- nector Kit	1	\$26.97	\$26.97	I recommend the Glarks GB007 kit
Crimping Tool	1	\$43.00	\$43.00	Used for making the wires for the stepper motors and limit switches. I highly recommend using the Engineer PA-09 Crimp Tool
2-Terminal On/Off Switch	1	\$2.00	\$2.00	
Terminal Block	1	\$10.00	\$10.00	Use a terminal block that has a minimum of 10 sections and supports a minimum of 30A per section.
18m Roll Electrical Tape	1	\$1.49	\$1.49	For covering soldering work.
			Total Cost	\$1,424.76

Item	Qty	Price EA (CAD)	Price Total (CAD)	Notes
Ender 3 Pro 3D Printer	1	\$326.42	\$326.42	One Ender 3 Pro is for 3D print-
				ing the parts. The other will be
				the base of the BioCloneBot.
Black 1.75 mm Standard PLA	2 kg	\$49.95	\$49.95	PLA was used for printing all of
filament				the BioCloneBot parts.
Soldering Iron Kit	1	\$24.99	\$24.99	
Digital Multimeter	1	\$15.99	\$15.99	

Crimping Tool	1	\$43.00	\$43.00	Used for making the wires for the stepper motors and limit switches. I highly recommend using the Engineer PA-09 Crimp Tool
			Total Cost	\$460.35

Table C.2: Tools and manufacturing equipment bill of materials

Appendix D

DNA Assembly Sequences

D.1 Restriction Enzyme Digestion & Ligation Sequences

D.1.1 CEN6/URA3 digested with BsaI

gctggaaatctgctcgtcagtggtgctcacactgacgaatcatgtacagatcataccgatgactgcctggcgactcacaactaagcaagacagccggaaccagcgccggcgaacaccactgcatatatggcatatcacaacagtccacgtctcaagcagttacagagatgttacgaaccactagtgcactgcagtacacg aaacatgaaattgeecagtattettaacceaactgeacagaacaaaaacgtgeaggaaacgaagataaateatgtegaaagetacatataaggaacgtget gagttagttgaagcattaggtcccaaaatttgtttactaaaaacacatgtggatatcttgactgatttttccatggagggcacagttaagccgctaaaggcattatccgccaagtacaattttttactcttcgaggacagaaaatttgctgacattggtaatacagtcaaattgcagtactctgcgggtgtatacagaatagcagaatgggcagacattacgaatgcacacggtgtggtggggcccaggtattgttagcggtttgaagcaggcggcagaagaagtaacaaaggaacctagaggccttttgatgttagcagaattgtcatgcaagggctccctatctactggagaatatactaagggtactgttgacattgcgaagagcgacaaagattttgttatcggctttattgctcaaagagacatgggtggaagagatgaaggttacgattggttgattatgacacccggtgtgggtttagatgacaagggagatgcattgggtcaacagtaega attgttt catcttgt ctgtgt agaaaa accacaca cga aaatcctgt gatttt actt tacttat cga atgt at atct attta atctg cttt tett gt cta at cga atgt at atct at the state of the state ofaacataaaaataaataaacacagagtaaatteeccaaattatteeatcattaaaagatacgaggegegtgtaagttacaggeaagegateegteecgagegg ccgcgtgttacaaccaattaaccaattctgattagaaaaactcatcgggcatcaaatgaaactgcaatttattcatatcaggattatcaataccatatttttgaaaaagccgtttctgtaatgaaggagaaaactcaccgaggcagttccataggatggcaagatcctggtatcggtctgcgattccgactcgtccaacatcaatacaa atcgctgttaaaaggacaattacaaacaggaatcgaatgcaaccggcgcgggaacactgccagcgcatcaacaatattttcacctgaatcaggatattcttcegtcagecagtttagtetgaccatetcatetgtaacateattggcaacgetacetttgccatgtttcagaaacaactetggegeategggetteccatacaateg cccgttgaatatggctcataacaccccttgtattactgtttatgtaagcagacagttttattgttcatgatgatatatttttatcttgtgcaatgtaacatcagagattttgagacacaaacgtggctttgttgaataaatcgaacttttgctgagttgaaggatcagtcatgaccaaaatcccttaacgtgagttttcgttccactgagcgtcag

D.1.2 GFP digested with BsaI

D.1.3 Full CEN6/URA3 with GFP dropout ligated

gattcatgcgtcattttgaacattttgtaaatcttatttaataatgtgtgcggcaattcacatttaatttatgaatgttttcttaacatcgcggcaactcaagaaacgggtgatgtcaacggtcataagttttccgtgcgtggcgagggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgctgaagttcatctgtactgtactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaggtgaagttcatctgtactactggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaagttcatctgtactggtaaactgacggtgaagtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaactgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtaaggtgacgcaactaatggtgacgcaggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtgacggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtgacgcaactaatggtgacgcaggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtgacgcaactaatggtgacggtgaaggtgacgcacgacggtgaaggtgacgcaactaatggtgacgcacggtgaaggtgacggtgaaggtgacggtggtgacggtgacggtgacggtgacggtgagcattgagctgaaaggcattgactttaaagaggacggcaatatcctgggccataagctggaatacaattttaacagccacaatgtttacatcaccgccgatagtaaccgcagcgggcatcacgcatggtatggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaataaaacgaaaggctcagtcgaaagactgggcctttcgttttat ctgttgtttgtcggtgaacgctctctactagagtcacactggctcaccttcgggtgggcctttctgcgtttataggtctcagctggaaatctgctcgtcagtggtgeteacaetgaegaateatgtaeagateataeegatgaetgeetggegaeteacaaetaageaagaeageeggaaeeageeggegaaeaeeetge gaggacagaaaatttgctgacattggtaatacagtcaaattgcagtactctgcgggtgtatacagaatagcagaatgggcagacattacgaatgcacacgggatgaaggttacgattggttgattatgacacccggtgtgggtttagatgacaagggagatgcattgggtcaacagtatagaaccgtggatgatgtggtttcta ttg aga agatg cgg ccag caa aacta aa aa actg tatta ta agta aatg catg tatacta aact ca caa att ag ag ctt caatt ta att at cag tatta ta ccgg caa att ag ag ctt caatt ta att at cag tatta ta ccgg caa at cag ta ta constraints at the constraint of the cogaagatgtaaaagactctagggggatcgccaacaaatactaccttttatcttgctcttcctgctctcaggtattaatgccgaattgtttcatcttgtctgtgtagaataa attecca a attatteca t catta a a agata cg agg cg cg tg ta ag tta cagg ca ag cg at ccg tcccg ag cg cg cg tg tta ca acca atta acca at ta acctctgattagaaaaactcatcgagcatcaaatgaaactgcaatttattcatatcaggattatcaataccatatttttgaaaaagccgtttctgtaatgaaggagaaa cattatcgcgagcccatttatacccatataaatcagcatccatgttggaatttaatcgcggcctggagcaagacgtttcccgttgaatatggctcataacaccc cttgtattactgtttatgtaagcagacagttttattgttcatgatgatatatttttatcttgtgcaatgtaacatcagagattttgggacacaacgtggctttgttgaataaatcgaacttttgctgagttgaaggatcagtcatgaccaaaatcccttaacgtgagttttcgttccactgagcgtcagaccccgtagaaaagatcaaaggatc ggtcgggctgaacggggggttcgtgcacacagcccagcttggagcgaacgacctacaccgaactgagatacctacagcgtgagctatgagaaagcgc cacgetteecgaagggagaaaggeggacaggtateeggtaageggeagggteggaacaggagggegeaeggggggagetteeaggggggaaaegeet ggcctttttacggttcctggccttttgctggccttttgctcacatgttctttcctgcgttatcccctgattctgtggataaccgtgcggccgc

D.2 Gibson Assembly Sequences

D.2.1 PCR Amplicon CEN6/URA3 Backbone with overhang

gctggaaatctgctcgtcagtggtgctcacactgacgaatcatgtacagatcataccgatgactgcctggcgactcacaactaagcaagacagccggaaccagcgccggcgaacaccactgcatatatggcatatcacaacagtccacgtctcaagcagttacagagatgttacgaaccactagtgcactgcagtacacgaaacatgaaattgeecagtattettaacceaactgeacagaacaaaaacgtgeaggaaacgaagataaateatgtegaaagetacatataaggaacgtget ccgccaagtacaattttttactcttcgaggacagaaaatttgctgacattggtaatacagtcaaattgcagtactctgcgggtgtatacagaatagcagaatgggcagacattacgaatgcacacggtgtggtggggcccaggtattgttagcggtttgaagcaggcggcagaagaagtaacaaaggaacctagaggccttttgatgttagcagaattgtcatgcaagggctccctatctactggagaatatactaagggtactgttgacattgcgaagagcgacaaagattttgttatcggctttattgctcaaagagacatgggtggaagagatgaaggttacgattggttgattatgacacccggtgtgggtttagatgacaagggagatgcattgggtcaacagta aacataaaaataaataaacacagagtaaatteeccaaattatteeateattaaaagataegaggegegtgtaagttaeaggeaagegateegteeegagegg agccgtttctgtaatgaaggagaaaactcaccgaggcagttccataggatggcaagatcctggtatcggtctgcgattccgactcgtccaacatcaatacaaat cgctgttaaa aggacaattacaa ac aggaatcgaatgcaac cggcgcaggaac ac tgccagcgcat caacaat at ttt cacctgaat caggat at tette constraints and the transmission of transmission of transmission of the transmission of transmitaatacctggaatgctgttttcccggggatcgcagtggtgagtaaccatgcatcatcaggagtacggataaaatgcttgatggtcggaaggaggcataaattc atagattgtcgcacctgattgcccgacattatcgcgagcccatttataccccatataaatcagcatccatgttggaatttaatcgcggcctggagcaagacgttt cccgttgaatatggctcataacaccccttgtattactgtttatgtaagcagacagttttattgttcatgatgatatatttttatcttgtgcaatgtaacatcagagatttcgatagttaccggataaggcgcagcggtcgggctgaacggggggttcgtgcacacagcccagcttggagcgaacgacctacaccgaactgagatacct acagcgtgagctatgagaaagcgccacgcttcccgaagggggaaaaggcggacaggtatccggtaagcggcagggtcggaacaggagggcgcacga cgtgagaccgaaagtga

D.2.2 PCR Amplicon GFP Insert with overhang

D.2.3 FWD Primer for CEN6/URA3 Backbone

ttctgcgtttataggtctcagctggaaatctgctcgtcag

D.2.4 REV Primer for CEN6/URA3 Backbone

tcactttcggtctcacgttgtccacagaatcaggggataa

D.2.5 FWD Primer for GFP

ttatcccctgattctgtggacaacgtgagaccgaaagtga

D.2.6 REV Primer for GFP

ctgacgagcagatttccagctgagacctataaacgcagaa

D.2.7 Full Gibson Assembly of CEN6/URA3 with GFP

gctggaaatctgctcgtcagtggtgctcacactgacgaatcatgtacagatcataccgatgactgcctggcgactcacaactaagcaagacagccggaaccagcgccggcgaacaccactgcatatatggcatatcacaacagtccacgtctcaagcagttacagagatgttacgaaccactagtgcactgcagtacacgaaa catgaa attgcccagt attctta accca actgca caga a caa aaa cgtgcagga a acga gata a atcatgtcga a agcta catata agga a cgtgctga a gga a cgtgctga a cgtgctga a gga a cgtgctga a cgtgca a cgtgca a cgtgctga a cgtga a cgtgctga a cgtgctga a cgtggagttagttgaagcattaggtcccaaaatttgtttactaaaaacacatgtggatatcttgactgatttttccatggagggcacagttaagccgctaaaggcattatccgccaagtacaattttttactcttcgaggacagaaaatttgctgacattggtaatacagtcaaattgcagtactctgcgggtgtatacagaatagcagaatgggcagacattacgaatgcacacggtgtggtggggcccaggtattgttagcggtttgaagcaggcggcagaagaagtaacaaaggaacctagaggccttttgatgttagcagaattgtcatgcaagggctccctatctactggagaatatactaagggtactgttgacattgcgaagagcgacaaagattttgttatcggctttatt gctcaaagagacatgggtggaagagatgaaggttacgattggttgattatgacacccggtgtgggtttagatgacaagggagatgcattgggtcaacagtatagaaccgtggatgatgtggtttctacaggatctgacattattattgttggaagaggactatttgcaaagggaagggatgctaaggtgaacgttacggtagaggtgaacgttacggaagggatgctaaggtgaacgttacggaagggatgctaaggtgaacgttacggaagggatgctaaggtgaacgttacggaagggatgctaagggatgctaaggtgaacgttacggaagggatgctaaggatgctaggatgctaaggatgctaaggatgctaaggatgctaaggatgctaaggatgctaaggatgccgcgtgttacaaccaattaaccaattctgattagaaaaactcatcgagcatcaaatgaaactgcaatttattcatatcaggattatcaataccatatttttgaaagatcgctgttaaaaggacaattacaaacaggaatcgaatgcaaccggcgcaggaacactgccagcgcatcaacaatattttcacctgaatcaggatattcttctaatacctggaatgctgttttcccggggatcgcagtggtgagtaaccatgcatcatcaggagtacggataaaatgcttgatggtcggaagggcataaatt gatagattgtcgcacctgattgcccgacattatcgcgagcccatttatacccatataaatcagcatccatgttggaatttaatcgcggcctggagcaagacgtt ttg a gacacaa a cgt gg ctttg ttg aata a a t cg a a cttttg ctg a gt ga ga t cag t cag t cag a caa a a t ccct t a a cgt ga gt ttt cgt t cca ctg a g cg t ca c a caa a t ccct t a a cgt ga gt ttt cgt t cca ctg a g cg t ca c a caa ca c a caa ca c a caa ca c a caa caaa caa caa caa caa caa caaa caa caaa caa caaa caa caa caa caaa cccggatcaagagctaccaactctttttccgaaggtaactggcttcagcagagcgcagataccaaatactgttcttctagtgtagccgtagttaggccaccactt caagaactet gtag cacege ctacataccteg ctet geta at cet gtaccagt gg ctg ctg ccagt gg cg at a agt cg tg ttaccg gg tt gg act caaga at constraint of the second state ofacgatagttaccggataaggcgcagcggtcgggctgaacggggggttcgtgcacacagcccagcttggagcgaacgacctacaccgaactgagatacctacagcgtgagctatgagaaagcgccacgcttcccgaagggagaaaggcggacaggtatccggtaagcggcagggtcggaacaggagggcgcac aacgtgagaccgaaagtgaaacgtgatttcatgcgtcattttgaacattttgtaaatcttatttaataatgtgtgcggcaattcacatttaatttatgaatgttttcttattcatctgtactactggtaaactgccggttccttggccgactctggtaacgacgctgacttatggtgttcagtgctttgctcgttatccggaccatatgaagcag catgacttettcaagtccgccatgccggaaggctatgtgcaggaacgcacgattteetttaaggatgacggcacgtacaaaacgcgtgcggaagtgaaatt accagcaaaaacactccaatcggtgatggtcctgttctgctgccagacaatcactatctgagcacgcaaagcgttctgtctaaagatccgaacgagaaacgcgaaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaaaacgcgaacgcgaaacgcgaaacgcgaaacgcgaacgcgaaacgcgaacgcgaaacgcgaacgcgaaacgcgcgaacgcgcgaacgcgcgcaacgcgaacgcgaacgcgaacgcgaacgcgaagatcatatggttctgctggagttcgtaaccgcagcgggcatcacgcatggtatggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaataaaacgaaaggctcaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaataaaacgaaaggctcaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaataaaacgaaaggctcaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggctcaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggcatcaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggctaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggctaggatgaactgtacaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaatgaccaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaatgaacgaaatgaaatgaaaatgaaaatgaaaaggaaaggatgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaacgaaaggatgaaatgaaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaaggatgaaatgaaaatgaaaatgaaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaggatgaaatgaaatgaaaatgaaaaggaaaggatgaaaggatgaaatgaaatgaaaatgaaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaggatgaaaggatgaaatgaaatgaaatgaaaaggaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggatgaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaaggaaggaaggaaaggaaggaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaggaaaggaaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaaggaaggaaggaaaggaggaggaaggaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggag

D.3 Sequenced Gibson Assembly of CEN6/URA3 with GFP

CTGTACAAATGACCAGGCATCAAATAAAACGAAAGGCTCAGTCGAAAGACTGGGCCTTTCGT TTTATCTGTTGTTGTCGGTGAACGCTCTCTACTAGAGTCACACTGGCTCACCTTCGGGTGGGC CTTTCTGCGTTTATAGGTCTCAGCTGGAAATCTGCTCGTCAGTGGTGCTCACACTGACGAATC ATGTACAGATCATACCGATGACTGCCTGGCGACTCACAACTAAGCAAGACAGCCGGAACCAG CGCCGGCGAACACCACTGCATATATGGCATATCACAACAGTCCACGTCTCAAGCAGTTACAG AGATGTTACGAACCACTAGTGCACTGCAGTACACGGTTTCCTTGAAATTTTTTTGATTCGGTA ATCTCCGAACAGAAGGAAGAACGAAGGAAGGAGGAGCACAGACTTAGATTGGTATATACGCA TATGTAGTGTTGAAGAAACATGAAATTGCCCAGTATTCTTAACCCAACTGCACAGAACAAA ACGTGCAGGAAACGAAGATAAATCATGTCGAAAGCTACATATAAGGAACGTGCTGCTACTCA TTGTTTACTAAAAACACATGTGGATATCTTGACTGATTTTTCCATGGAGGGCACAGTTAAGCC GCTAAAGGCATTATCCGCCAAGTACAATTTTTTACTCTTCGAGGACAGAAAATTTGCTGACAT TGGTAATACAGTCAAATTGCAGTACTCTGCGGGTGTATACAGAATAGCAGAATGGGCAGACA TTACGAATGCACACGGTGTGGGGGCCCAGGTATTGTTAGCGGTTTGAAGCAGGCGGCAGAA GAAGTAACAAAGGAACCTAGAGGCCTTTTGATGTTAGCAGAATTGTCATGCAAGGGCTCCCT ATCTACTGGAGAATATACTAAGGGTACTGTTGACATTGCGAAGAGCGACAAAGATTTTGTTA TCGGCTTTATTGCTCAAAGAGACATGGGTGGAAGAGATGAAGGTTACGATTGGTTGATTATG ACACCCGGTGTGGGTTTAGATGACAAGGGAGATGCATTGGGTCAACAGTATAGAACCGTGGA TGATGTGGTTTCTACAGGATCTGACATTATTATTGTTGGAAGAGGACTATTTGCAAAGGGAAG GGATGCTAAGGTAGAGGGTGAACGTTACAGAAAAGCAGGCTGGGAAGCATATTTGAGAAGA TGCGGCCAGCAAAACTAAAAAACTGTATTATAAGTAAATGCATGTATACTAAACTCACAAAT TAGAGCTTCAATTTAATTATATCAGTTATTACCCGAGTATCACGTGCTATAAAAATAATTATA AAAAATAGTTTTTGTTTTCCGAAGATGTAAAAGACTCTAGGGGGGATCGCCAACAAATACTAC CTTTTATCTTGCTCTTCCTGCTCTCAGGTATTAATGCCGAATTGTTTCATCTTGTCTGTGTAGA AAACCACACACGAAAATCCTGTGATTTTACATTTTACTTATCGTTAATCGAATGTATATCTATT TAATCTGCTTTTCTTGTCTAATAAATATATATGTAAAGTACGCTTTTTGTTGAAATTTTTTAAA CCTTTGTTTATTTTTTTTTTCTTCATTCCGTAACTCTTCTACCTTCTTATTTACTTTCTAAAATCCA AATACAAAACATAAAAATAAATAAACACAGAGTAAATTCCCAAATTATTCCATCATTAAAAG ATACGAGGCGCGTGTAAGTTACAGGCAAGCGATCCGTCCCGAGCGGCCGCGTGTTACAACCA ATTAACCAATTCTGATTAGAAAAACTCATCGAGCATCAAATGAAACTGCAATTTATTCATATC AGGATTATCAATACCATATTTTTGAAAAAGCCGTTTCTGTAATGAAGGAGAAAACTCACCGA GGCAGTTCCATAGGATGGCAAGATCCTGGTATCGGTCTGCGATTCCGACTCGTCCAACATCAA TACAACCTATTAATTTCCCCTCGTCAAAAATAAGGTTATCAAGTGAGAAATCACCATGAGTGA CCTGAGCGAGGCGAAATACGCGATCGCTGTTAAAAGGACAATTACAAACAGGAATCGAATG CAACCGGCGCAGGAACACTGCCAGCGCATCAACAATATTTTCACCTGAATCAGGATATTCTTC TAATACCTGGAATGCTGTTTTCCCGGGGGATCGCAGTGGTGAGTAACCATGCATCAGGAG TACGGATAAAATGCTTGATGGTCGGAAGAGGCATAAATTCCGTCAGCCAGTTTAGTCTGACC ATCTCATCTGTAACATCATTGGCAACGCTACCTTTGCCATGTTTCAGAAACAACTCTGGCGCA TCGGGCTTCCCATACAATCGATAGATTGTCGCACCTGATTGCCCGACATTATCGCGAGCCCAT TTATACCCATATAAATCAGCATCCATGTTGGAATTTAATCGCGGCCTGGAGCAAGACGTTTCC CGTTGAATATGGCTCATAACACCCCTTGTATTACTGTTTATGTAAGCAGACAGTTTTATTGTTC ATGATGATATATTTTTATCTTGTGCAATGTAACATCAGAGATTTTGAGACACAACGTGGCTTT GTTGAATAAATCGAACTTTTGCTGAGTTGAAGGATCAGTCATGACCAAAATCCCTTAACGTGA GTTTTCGTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCGTAGAAAAGATCAAAGGATCTTCTTGAGATCCTTT GCCGGATCAAGAGCTACCAACTCTTTTTCCGAAGGTAACTGGCTTCAGCAGAGCGCAGATAC CAAATACTGTTCTTCTAGTGTAGCCGTAGTTAGGCCACCACTTCAAGAACTCTGTAGCACCGC CTACATACCTCGCTCTGCTAATCCTGTTACCAGTGGCTGCCAGTGGCGATAAGTCGTGTC TTACCGGGTTGGACTCAAGACGATAGTTACCGGATAAGGCGCAGCGGTCGGGCTGAACGGGG GGTTCGTGCACACAGCCCAGCTTGGAGCGAACGACCTACACCGAACTGAGATACCTACAGCG TGAGCTATGAGAAAGCGCCACGCTTCCCGAAGGGAGAAAGGCGGACAGGTATCCGGTAAGC GGCAGGGTCGGAACAGGAGAGCGCACGAGGGAGCTTCCAGGGGGAAACGCCTGGTATCTTT ATAGTCCTGTCGGGTTTCGCCACCTCTGACTTGAGCGTCGATTTTTGTGATGCTCGTCAGGGG GGCGGAGCCTATGGAAAAACGCCAGCAACGCGGCCTTTTTACGGTTCCTGGCCTTTTGCTGGC CTTTTGCTCACATGTTCTTTCCTGCGTTATCCCCTGATTCTGTGGACAACGTGAGACCGAAAGT GAAACGTGATTTCATGCGTCATTTTGAACATTTTGTAAATCTTATTTAATAATGTGTGCGGCA ATTCACATTTAATTTATGAATGTTTTCTTAACATCGCGGCAACTCAAGAAACGGCAGGTTCGG ATCTTAGCTACTAGAGAAAGAGGAGAAAATACTAGATGCGTAAAGGCGAAGAGCTGTTCACTG GCGAGGGTGAAGGTGACGCAACTAATGGTAAACTGACGCTGAAGTTCATCTGTACTACTGGT AAACTGCCGGTTCCTTGGCCGACTCTGGTAACGACGCTGACTTATGGTGTTCAGTGCTTTGCT CGTTATCCGGACCATATGAAGCAGCATGACTTCTTCAAGTCCGCCATGCCGGAAGGCTATGTG CAGGAACGCACGATTTCCTTTAAGGATGACGGCACGTACAAAACGCGTGCGGAAGTGAAATT TGAAGGCGATACCCTGGTAAACCGCATTGAGCTGAAAGGCATTGACTTTAAAGAGGACGGCA ATATCCTGGGCCATAAGCTGGAATACAATTTTAACAGCCACAATGTTTACATCACCGCCGATA AACAAAAAAATGGCATTAAAGCGAATTTTAAAATTCGCCACAACGTGGAGGATGGCAGCGTG CAGCTGGCTGATCACTACCAGCAAAACACTCCAATCGGTGATGGTCCTGTTCTGCTGCCAGAC AATCACTATCTGAGCACGCAAAGCGTTCTGTCTAAAGATCCGAACGAGAAACGCGATCATAT GGTTCTGCTGGAGTTCGTAACCGCAGCGGGCATCACGCATGGTATGGATGAA

D.4 Golden Gate Cloning Sequences

D.4.1 CEN6/URA3 GFP dropout plasmid

 tgctcacactgacgaatcatgtacagatcataccgatgactgcctggcgactcacaactaagcaagacagccggaaccagcgcggaacaactgccggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgcggaacaactgaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgaacaactgacggaacaactgacggaacaactgaactgaacaacaactgaacaactgaacaacaactgaacaacaactgaacaactgaa tatatgg catatca caa cag tcc cag cag tta cag ag at gtt a cga accact ag tg cact g cag ta cac gg tt tcct tg a at ttt tt ga tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt tt tg at tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt tt tg at tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg ta cac gg tt cct ga at ttt ttt ga tc gg ta cac gg taaaatttgtttactaaaaaacacatgtggatatcttgactgatttttccatggagggcacagttaagccgctaaaggcattatccgccaagtacaattttttactcttcgaggacagaaaatttgctgacattggtaatacagtcaaattgcagtactctgcgggtgtatacagaatagcagaatgggcagacattacgaatgcacacgggctccctatctactggagaatatactaagggtactgttgacattgcgaagagcgacaaagattttgttatcggctttattgctcaaagagacatgggtggaagagaagatgtaaaagactctagggggatcgccaacaaatactaccttttatcttgctcttcctgctctcaggtattaatgccgaattgtttcatcttgtctgtgtagaacaggaatcgaatgcaaccggcgcaggaacactgccagcgcatcaacaatattttcacctgaatcaggatattcttctaatacctggaatgctgttttcccgggatctgtaacatcattggcaacgctacctttgccatgtttcagaaacaactctggcgcatcgggcttcccatacaatcgatagattgtcgcacctgattgcccgacttg tattactg tttatg taag cag a cag ttttattg tt cat gat gat a tatttt tatcttg tg caat gt a a cat cag a gat ttt gag a cac a a cg t gg cttt gt tg a a tatttt tatctt gt gc a a tg t a a cat cag a gat ttt gag a cac a a cg t gg cttt gt tg a a tatt ttt a construction of the tatt gat a cat can be a constructed on the tatt gat a cat can be a cat cana at cga act tttgctg ag ttg a ag gat cag tcat gaccaa a at ccctta a cgt gag ttttcgttccact gag cgt cag a ccccgt ag a a ag at caa ag gat can ag gat gat can ag gat gat can ag gat can ag gat can ag gatttettgagateettttttetgegegtaatetgetgettgeaaacaaaaaaceaeegetaeeageggtggtttgtttgeeggateaagagetaeeaaetettttte acctegetetgetaatectgttaccagtggetgetgecggtggetgataagtegtgtettaccgggttggactcaagacgatagttaccggataaggegeagecagecggtggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecggtggataaggegeagecgataaggegeagecgataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggataaggegeagecggataaggegataaggegeagecggataaggeggataaggegatagggataaggegataggataaggegaggtcgggctgaacggggggttcgtgcacacagcccagcttggagcgaacgacctacaccgaactgagatacctacagcgtgagctatgagaaagcgc cacgetteccgaagggagaaaggeggacaggtatecggtaageggcagggteggaacaggaggggegeaeggggggagettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggggaaegeettecagggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecaggggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecaggaaegeettecagggaaegeettecaggaeettecaggaaegeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggeettecaggaeettecaggaeettecaggaeetggcctttttacggttcctggccttttgctggccttttgctcacatgttctttcctgcgttatcccctgattctgtggataaccgtgcggccgc

D.4.2 pYTK011 pPGK1 promoter plasmid

 TTTCAAGTTCTTAGATGCTTTCTTTTTTCTCTTTTTTACAGATCATCAAGGAAGTAATTATCTAC TTTTTACAACAAATATAAAAACAAGATCTATGTGAGACCAGACCAATAAAAAACGCCCGGCGG CAACCGAGCGTTCTGAACAAATCCAGATGGAGTTCTGAGGTCATTACTGGATCTATCAACAG GAGTCCAAGCGAGCTCGATATCAAATTACGCCCCGCCCTGCCACTCATCGCAGTACTGTTGTA ATTCATTAAGCATTCTGCCGACATGGAAGCCATCACAAACGGCATGATGAACCTGAATCGCC AGCGGCATCAGCACCTTGTCGCCTTGCGTATAATATTTGCCCATGGTGAAAACGGGGGGCGAA GAAGTTGTCCATATTGGCCACGTTTAAATCAAAACTGGTGAAACTCACCCAGGGATTGGCTG AAACGAAAAACATATTCTCAATAAACCCTTTAGGGAAATAGGCCAGGTTTTCACCGTAACAC GCCACATCTTGCGAATATATGTGTAGAAACTGCCGGAAATCGTCGTGGTATTCACTCCAGAGC GATGAAAACGTTTCAGTTTGCTCATGGAAAACGGTGTAACAAGGGTGAACACTATCCCATAT CACCAGCTCACCGTCTTTCATTGCCATACGAAATTCCGGATGAGCATTCATCAGGCGGGCAAG AATGTGAATAAAGGCCGGATAAAACTTGTGCTTATTTTTCTTTACGGTCTTTAAAAAGGCCGT GTTCTTTACGATGCCATTGGGATATATCAACGGTGGTATATCCAGTGATTTTTTTCTCCATTTT AGCTTCCTTAGCTCCTGAAAATCTCGATAACTCAAAAAATACGCCCGGTAGTGATCTTATTTC AGTTTTCGTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCGTAGAAAAGATCAAAGGATCTTCTTGAGATCCTT TTTTTCTGCGCGTAATCTGCTGCTTGCAAACAAAAAACCACCGCTACCAGCGGTGGTTTGTT TGCCGGATCAAGAGCTACCAACTCTTTTTCCGAAGGTAACTGGCTTCAGCAGAGCGCAGATA CCAAATACTGTTCTTCTAGTGTAGCCGTAGTTAGGCCACCACTTCAAGAACTCTGTAGCACCG CCTACATACCTCGCTCTGCTAATCCTGTTACCAGTGGCTGCTGCCAGTGGCGATAAGTCGTGT CTTACCGGGTTGGACTCAAGACGATAGTTACCGGATAAGGCGCAGCGGTCGGGCTGAACGGG GGGTTCGTGCACACAGCCCAGCTTGGAGCGAACGACCTACACCGAACTGAGATACCTACAGC GTGAGCTATGAGAAAGCGCCACGCTTCCCGAAGGGAGAAAGGCGGACAGGTATCCGGTAAG CGGCAGGGTCGGAACAGGAGAGCGCACGAGGGAGCTTCCAGGGGGAAACGCCTGGTATCTT TATAGTCCTGTCGGGTTTCGCCACCTCTGACTTGAGCGTCGATTTTTGTGATGCTCGTCAGGG GGGCGGAGCCTATGGAAAAACGCCAGCAACGCGGCCTTTTTACGGTTCCTGGCCTTTTGCTGG CCTTTTGCTCACATGTTCTTTCCTGCGTTATCCCCTGATTCTGTGGATAACCGTAG

D.4.3 pYTK034 mRuby gene plasmid

TCGGTCTCATATGGTGTCCAAAGGAGAGAGGAGTTAATCAAGGAAAACATGAGAATGAAAGTTG TCATGGAGGGCTCCGTTAATGGTCACCAATTCAAGTGTACAGGGGAAGGTGAAGGTAATCCT TACATGGGTACAAAACTATGAGAATTAAAGTAATTGAAGGCGGACCACTACCATTTGCATT TGACATTCTGGCAACGTCATTCATGTACGGATCACGAACTTTCATCAAGTACCCTAAAGGTAT ACCAGACTTTTTCAAGCAATCTTTTCCAGAGGGGTTTTACATGGGAAAGGGTTACAAGATACGA AGATGGGGGGTGTCGTCACAGTTATGCAAGATACTTCATTAGAAGATGGCTGCCTTGTCTATCA TGTGCAAGTAAGAGGGGTGAATTTTCCTTCTAACGGACCTGTGATGCAGAAAAAGACCAAAG ATGGCGCTTAAAGTTGATGGTGGAGGTCATTTGTCTTGTAGTTTTGTTACCACTTATCGTTCTA AAAAGACTGTTGGCAATATCAAAATGCCAGGAATACATGCTGTAGACCACAGACTAGAAAG CTGGCTTAGGCGGTGGTATGGATGAATTGTATAAGGGATCCTGAGACCAGACCAATAAAAA CGCCCGGCGGCAACCGAGCGTTCTGAACAAATCCAGATGGAGTTCTGAGGTCATTACTGGAT CTATCAACAGGAGTCCAAGCGAGCTCGATATCAAATTACGCCCCGCCCTGCCACTCATCGCA GTACTGTTGTAATTCATTAAGCATTCTGCCGACATGGAAGCCATCACAAACGGCATGATGAA CCTGAATCGCCAGCGGCATCAGCACCTTGTCGCCTTGCGTATAATATTTGCCCATGGTGAAAA CGGGGGGCGAAGAAGTTGTCCATATTGGCCACGTTTAAATCAAAACTGGTGAAACTCACCCAG GGATTGGCTGAAACGAAAAACATATTCTCAATAAACCCTTTAGGGAAATAGGCCAGGTTTTC ACCGTAACACGCCACATCTTGCGAATATATGTGTAGAAACTGCCGGAAATCGTCGTGGTATT CACTCCAGAGCGATGAAAACGTTTCAGTTTGCTCATGGAAAACGGTGTAACAAGGGTGAACA CTATCCCATATCACCAGCTCACCGTCTTTCATTGCCATACGAAATTCCGGATGAGCATTCATC AGGCGGGCAAGAATGTGAATAAAGGCCGGATAAAACTTGTGCTTATTTTTCTTTACGGTCTTT TGCCTCAAAATGTTCTTTACGATGCCATTGGGATATATCAACGGTGGTATATCCAGTGATTTT TTTCTCCATTTTAGCTTCCTTAGCTCCTGAAAATCTCGATAACTCAAAAAATACGCCCGGTAG TCCCTTAACGTGAGTTTTCGTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCGTAGAAAAGATCAAAGGATCTT CGGTGGTTTGTTTGCCGGATCAAGAGCTACCAACTCTTTTTCCGAAGGTAACTGGCTTCAGCA GAGCGCAGATACCAAATACTGTTCTTCTAGTGTAGCCGTAGTTAGGCCACCACTTCAAGAACT CTGTAGCACCGCCTACATACCTCGCTCTGCTAATCCTGTTACCAGTGGCTGCTGCCAGTGGCG ATAAGTCGTGTCTTACCGGGTTGGACTCAAGACGATAGTTACCGGATAAGGCGCAGCGGTCG GGCTGAACGGGGGGGTTCGTGCACACAGCCCAGCTTGGAGCGAACGACCTACACCGAACTGAG ATACCTACAGCGTGAGCTATGAGAAAGCGCCACGCTTCCCGAAGGGAGAAAGGCGGACAGG TATCCGGTAAGCGGCAGGGTCGGAACAGGAGAGCGCACGAGGGAGCTTCCAGGGGGAAACG CCTGGTATCTTTATAGTCCTGTCGGGTTTCGCCACCTCTGACTTGAGCGTCGATTTTTGTGATG CTCGTCAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGCCTATGGAAAAACGCCAGCAACGCGGCCTTTTTACGGTTCCTGG CCTTTTGCTGGCCTTTTGCTCACATGTTCTTTCCTGCGTTATCCCCTGATTCTGTGGATAACCGT AG

D.4.4 pYTK056 tTDH1 terminator

TACATAAATACTACCGTTTTTCTGCTAGATTTTGTGATGACGTAAATAAGTACATATTACTTTT TAAGCCAAGACAAGATTAAGCATTAACTTTACCCTTTTCTTACAGTTTCAATATTAGTTATC ACTGTTTAAAAGTTATGGCGAGAACGTCGGCGGTTAAAATATATTACCCTGAACGGCTGTGA GACCAGACCAATAAAAAACGCCCGGCGGCAACCGAGCGTTCTGAACAAATCCAGATGGAGT TCTGAGGTCATTACTGGATCTATCAACAGGAGTCCAAGCGAGCTCGATATCAAATTACGCCCC GCCCTGCCACTCATCGCAGTACTGTTGTAATTCATTAAGCATTCTGCCGACATGGAAGCCATC ACAAACGGCATGATGAACCTGAATCGCCAGCGGCATCAGCACCTTGTCGCCTTGCGTATAAT ATTTGCCCATGGTGAAAACGGGGGGCGAAGAAGTTGTCCATATTGGCCACGTTTAAATCAAAA CTGGTGAAACTCACCCAGGGATTGGCTGAAACGAAAAACATATTCTCAATAAACCCTTTAGG GAAATAGGCCAGGTTTTCACCGTAACACGCCACATCTTGCGAATATATGTGTAGAAACTGCC GGAAATCGTCGTGGTATTCACTCCAGAGCGATGAAAACGTTTCAGTTTGCTCATGGAAAACG GTGTAACAAGGGTGAACACTATCCCATATCACCAGCTCACCGTCTTTCATTGCCATACGAAAT TCCGGATGAGCATTCATCAGGCGGGCAAGAATGTGAATAAAGGCCGGATAAAACTTGTGCTT ATTTTTCTTTACGGTCTTTAAAAAGGCCGTAATATCCAGCTGAACGGTCTGGTTATAGGTACA TTGAGCAACTGACTGAAATGCCTCAAAATGTTCTTTACGATGCCATTGGGATATATCAACGGT GGTATATCCAGTGATTTTTTTCTCCATTTTAGCTTCCTTAGCTCCTGAAAATCTCGATAACTCA AAAAATACGCCCGGTAGTGATCTTATTTCATTATGGTGAAAGTTGGAACCTCTTACGTGCCCG ATCAATCATGACCAAAATCCCTTAACGTGAGTTTTCGTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCGTAGA AAAACCACCGCTACCAGCGGTGGTTTGTTTGCCGGATCAAGAGCTACCAACTCTTTTTCCGAA

D.4.5 Full Golden Gate Assembled pPGK1-mRuby-tTDH1 CEN6/URA3 Plasmid

CCGAGCGGCCGCGTGTTACAACCAATTAACCAATTCTGATTAGAAAAACTCATCGAGCATCA AATGAAACTGCAATTTATTCATATCAGGATTATCAATACCATATTTTTGAAAAAGCCGTTTCT GTAATGAAGGAGAAAACTCACCGAGGCAGTTCCATAGGATGGCAAGATCCTGGTATCGGTCT GCGATTCCGACTCGTCCAACATCAATACAACCTATTAATTTCCCCTCGTCAAAAATAAGGTTA TCAAGTGAGAAATCACCATGAGTGACGACTGAATCCGGTGAGAATGGCAAAAGCTTATGCAT TTCTTTCCAGACTTGTTCAACAGGCCAGCCATTACGCTCGTCATCAAAATCACTCGCATCAAC CAAACCGTTATTCATTCGTGATTGCGCCTGAGCGAGGCGAAATACGCGATCGCTGTTAAAAG GACAATTACAAACAGGAATCGAATGCAACCGGCGCAGGAACACTGCCAGCGCATCAACAAT ATTTTCACCTGAATCAGGATATTCTTCTAATACCTGGAATGCTGTTTTCCCGGGGGATCGCAGT GGTGAGTAACCATGCATCATCAGGAGTACGGATAAAATGCTTGATGGTCGGAAGAGGCATAA ATTCCGTCAGCCAGTTTAGTCTGACCATCTCATCTGTAACATCATTGGCAACGCTACCTTTGC CATGTTTCAGAAACAACTCTGGCGCATCGGGCTTCCCATACAATCGATAGATTGTCGCACCTG ATTGCCCGACATTATCGCGAGCCCATTTATACCCATATAAATCAGCATCCATGTTGGAATTTA ATCGCGGCCTGGAGCAAGACGTTTCCCGTTGAATATGGCTCATAACACCCCTTGTATTACTGT TTATGTAAGCAGACAGTTTTATTGTTCATGATGATATATTTTTATCTTGTGCAATGTAACATCA GAGATTTTGAGACACAACGTGGCTTTGTTGAATAAATCGAACTTTTGCTGAGTTGAAGGATCA GTCATGACCAAAATCCCTTAACGTGAGTTTTCGTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCGTAGAAAAG CCACCGCTACCAGCGGTGGTTTGTTTGCCGGATCAAGAGCTACCAACTCTTTTTCCGAAGGTA ACTGGCTTCAGCAGAGCGCAGATACCAAATACTGTTCTTCTAGTGTAGCCGTAGTTAGGCCAC CACTTCAAGAACTCTGTAGCACCGCCTACATACCTCGCTCTGCTAATCCTGTTACCAGTGGCT GCTGCCAGTGGCGATAAGTCGTGTCTTACCGGGTTGGACTCAAGACGATAGTTACCGGATAA GGCGCAGCGGTCGGGCTGAACGGGGGGGTTCGTGCACACAGCCCAGCTTGGAGCGAACGACC TACACCGAACTGAGATACCTACAGCGTGAGCTATGAGAAAGCGCCACGCTTCCCGAAGGGAG AAAGGCGGACAGGTATCCGGTAAGCGGCAGGGTCGGAACAGGAGAGCGCACGAGGGAGCTT CCAGGGGGAAACGCCTGGTATCTTTATAGTCCTGTCGGGTTTCGCCACCTCTGACTTGAGCGT TTTACGGTTCCTGGCCTTTTGCTGGCCTTTTGCTCACATGTTCTTTCCTGCGTTATCCCCTGATT CTGTGGATAACCGTGCGGCCGCCCCTGAATTCGCATCTAGACTGATGAGACGTGGTAGAGCC ACAAACAGCCGGTACAAGCAACGATCTCCAGGACCATCTGAATCATGCGCGGATGACACGAA CTCACGACGGCGATCACAGACATTAACCCACAGTACAGACACTGCGACAACGTGGCAATTCG TCGCAATACAACGGTGAGTAAGGAAAGAGTGAGGAACTATCGCATACCTGCATTTAAAGATG CCGATTTGGGCGCGAATCCTTTATTTGGCTTCACCCTCATACTATTATCAGGGCCAGAAAAA GGAAGTGTTTCCCTCCTTCTTGAATTGATGTTACCCTCATAAAGCACGTGGCCTCTTATCGAG AAAGAAATTACCGTCGCTCGTGATTTGTTTGCAAAAAGAACAAAACTGAAAAAACCCAGACA CGCTCGACTTCCTGTCATCCTATTGATTGCAGCTTCCAATTTCGTCACACAACAAGGTCCTAG CGACGGCTCACAGGTTTTGTAACAAGCAATCGAAGGTTCTGGAATGGCGGGAAAGGGTTTAG CTCTCTCTTTCAAACAGAATTGTCCGAATCGTGTGACAACAACAGCCTGTTCTCACACACTCT TTTCTTCTAACCAAGGGGGTGGTTTAGTTTAGTAGAACCTCGTGAAACTTACATTTACATATA TATAAACTTGCATAAATTGGTCAATGCAAGAAATACATATTTGGTCTTTTCTAATTCGTAGTTT TTCAAGTTCTTAGATGCTTTCTTTTTTCTCTTTTTTACAGATCATCAAGGAAGTAATTATCTACTT TTTACAACAAATATAAAACAAGATCTATGGTGTCCAAAGGAGAGGAGTTAATCAAGGAAAAC ATGAGAATGAAAGTTGTCATGGAGGGCTCCGTTAATGGTCACCAATTCAAGTGTACAGGGGA AGGTGAAGGTAATCCTTACATGGGTACACAAACTATGAGAATTAAAGTAATTGAAGGCGGAC AGTACCCTAAAGGTATACCAGACTTTTTCAAGCAATCTTTTCCAGAGGGTTTTACATGGGAAA GGGTTACAAGATACGAAGATGGGGGGTGTCGTCACAGTTATGCAAGATACTTCATTAGAAGAT GGCTGCCTTGTCTATCATGTGCAAGTAAGAGGGGTGAATTTTCCTTCTAACGGACCTGTGATG CAGAAAAAGACCAAAGGTTGGGAACCAAATACTGAAATGATGTACCCAGCTGATGGAGGTT TGAGAGGCTACACACACATGGCGCTTAAAGTTGATGGTGGAGGTCATTTGTCTTGTAGTTTTG TTACCACTTATCGTTCTAAAAAGACTGTTGGCAATATCAAAATGCCAGGAATACATGCTGTAG TGCCGTAGCCAAATTTGCTGGCTTAGGCGGTGGTATGGATGAATTGTATAAGGGATCCTAACT CGAGATAAAGCAATCTTGATGAGGATAATGATTTTTTTTGAATATACATAAATACTACCGTT TTTCTGCTAGATTTTGTGATGACGTAAATAAGTACATATTACTTTTTAAGCCAAGACAAGATT AAGCATTAACTTTACCCTTTTCTTATCTAAGTTTCAATATTAGTTATCACTGTTTAAAAGTTATG GCGAGAACGTCGGCGGTTAAAATATATTACCCTGAACGGCTGGAAATCTGCTCGTCAGTGGT GCTCACACTGACGAATCATGTACAGATCATACCGATGACTGCCTGGCGACTCACAACTAAGC AAGACAGCCGGAACCAGCGCCGGCGAACACCACTGCATATATGGCATATCACAACAGTCCAC GTCTCAAGCAGTTACAGAGATGTTACGAACCACTAGTGCACTGCAGTACACGGTTTCCTTGAA TTGGTATATACGCATATGTAGTGTTGAAGAAACATGAAATTGCCCAGTATTCTTAACCCAA CTGCACAGAACAAAAACGTGCAGGAAACGAAGATAAATCATGTCGAAAGCTACATATAAGG AACGTGCTGCTACTCATCCTAGTCCTGTTGCTGCCAAGCTATTTAATATCATGCACGAAAAGC CATTAGGTCCCAAAATTTGTTTACTAAAAACACATGTGGATATCTTGACTGATTTTTCCATGG AGGGCACAGTTAAGCCGCTAAAGGCATTATCCGCCAAGTACAATTTTTACTCTTCGAGGACA GAAAATTTGCTGACATTGGTAATACAGTCAAATTGCAGTACTCTGCGGGTGTATACAGAATA GCAGAATGGGCAGACATTACGAATGCACACGGTGTGGGGGCCCAGGTATTGTTAGCGGTTT GAAGCAGGCGGCAGAAGAAGTAACAAAGGAACCTAGAGGCCTTTTGATGTTAGCAGAATTG TCATGCAAGGGCTCCCTATCTACTGGAGAATATACTAAGGGTACTGTTGACATTGCGAAGAG CGACAAAGATTTTGTTATCGGCTTTATTGCTCAAAGAGACATGGGTGGAAGAGATGAAGGTT ACGATTGGTTGATTATGACACCCGGTGTGGGTTTAGATGACAAGGGAGATGCATTGGGTCAA CAGTATAGAACCGTGGATGATGTGGTTTCTACAGGATCTGACATTATTATTGTTGGAAGAGGA CTATTTGCAAAGGGAAGGGATGCTAAGGTAGAGGGTGAACGTTACAGAAAAGCAGGCTGGG AAGCATATTTGAGAAGATGCGGCCAGCAAAACTAAAAAACTGTATTATAAGTAAATGCATGT ATACTAAACTCACAAATTAGAGCTTCAATTTAATTATCAGTTATTACCCGAGTATCACGTG AAAAAGAAATTAAAGAAAAAAAAGATTTTTGTTTTCCGAAGATGTAAAAGACTCTAGGGGGGAT

D.4.6 Sequenced Full Golden Gate Assembled pPGK1-mRuby-tTDH1 CEN6/URA3 Plasmid

TCAGGTGCGACAATCTATCGATTGTATGGGAAGCCCGATGCGCCAGAGTTGTTTCTGAAACA TGGCAAAGGTAGCGTTGCCAATGATGTTACAGATGAGATGGTCAGACTAAACTGGCTGACGG AATTTATGCCTCTTCCGACCATCAAGCATTTTATCCGTACTCCTGATGATGCATGGTTACTCAC CACTGCGATCCCCGGGAAAACAGCATTCCAGGTATTAGAAGAATATCCTGATTCAGGTGAAA ATATTGTTGATGCGCTGGCAGTGTTCCTGCGCCGGTTGCATTCGATTCCTGTTTGTAATTGTCC TGCATAAGCTTTTGCCATTCTCACCGGATTCAGTCGTCACTCATGGTGATTTCTCACTTGATAA CCTTATTTTGACGAGGGGAAATTAATAGGTTGTATTGATGTTGGACGAGTCGGAATCGCAG ACCGATACCAGGATCTTGCCATCCTATGGAACTGCCTCGGTGAGTTTTCTCCTTCATTACAGA AACGGCTTTTTCAAAAATATGGTATTGATAATCCTGATATGAATAAATTGCAGTTTCATTTGA TGCTCGATGAGTTTTTCTAATCAGAATTGGTTAATTGGTTGTAACACGCGGCCGCTCGGGACG GATCGCTTGCCTGTAACTTACACGCGCCTCGTATCTTTTAATGATGGAATAATTTGGGAATTT AGAGTTACGGAATGAAGAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAGGTTTAAAAAAATTTCAACAAAAAGCGTA CTTTACATATATATATTATAGACAAGAAAAGCAGATTAAATAGATATACATTCGATTAACGAT TTCGGCATTAATACCTGAGAGCAGGAAGAGCAAGATAAAAGGTAGTATTTGTTGGCGATCCC CTCGGGTAATAACTGATATAAATTAAATTGAAGCTCTAATTTGTGAGTTTAGTATACATGCATT TACTTATAATACAGTTTTTAGTTTTGCTGGCCGCATCTTCTCAAATATGCTTCCCAGCCTGCT TTTCTGTAACGTTCACCCTCTACCTTAGCATCCCTTTCCAAAATAGTCCTCTTCCAACAA TAATAATGTCAGATCCTGTAGAAACCACATCATCCACGGTTCTATACTGTTGACCCAATGCAT CTCCCTTGTCATCTAAACCCACACCGGGTGTCATAATCAACCAATCGTAACCTTCATCTTCC ACCCATGTCTCTTTGAGCAATAAAGCCGATAACAAAATCTTTGTCGCTCTTCGCAATGTCAAC AGTACCCTTAGTATATTCTCCAGTAGATAGGGAGCCCTTGCATGACAATTCTGCTAACATCAA AAGGCCTCTAGGTTCCTTTGTTACTTCTTCTGCCGCCTGCTTCAAACCGCTAACAATACCTGGG CCCACCACCGTGTGCATTCGTAATGTCTGCCCATTCTGCTATTCTGTATACACCCGCAGAG TACTGCAATTTGACTGTATTACCAATGTCAGCAAATTTTCTGTCCTCGAAGAGTAAAAATTG TACTTGGCGGATAATGCCTTTAGCGGCTTAACTGTGCCCTCCATGGAAAAATCAGTCAAGATA GCTTGGCAGCAACAGGACTAGGATGAGTAGCAGCACGTTCCTTATATGTAGCTTTCGACATG ATTTATCTTCGTTTCCTGCACGTTTTTGTTCTGTGCAGTTGGGTTAAGAATACTGGGCAATTTC TTCCTTCTGTTCGGAGATTACCGAATCAAAAAATTTCAAGGAAACCGTGTACTGCAGTGCAC TAGTGGTTCGTAACATCTCTGTAACTGCTTGAGACGTGGACTGTTGTGATATGCCATATATGC AGTGGTGTTCGCCGGCGCTGGTTCCGGCTGTCTTGCTTAGTTGTGAGTCGCCAGGCAGTCATC GGTATGATCTGTACATGATTCGTCAGTGTGAGCACCACTGACGAGCAGATTTCCAGCCGTTCA GGGTAATATATTTTAACCGCCGACGTTCTCGCCATAACTTTTAAACAGTGATAACTAATATTG AAACTTAGAAAGAAAAGGGTAAAGTTAATGCTTAATCTTGTCTTGGCTTAAAAAGTAATATG TACTTATTTACGTCATCACAAAATCTAGCAGAAAAACGGTAGTATTTATGTATATTCAAAAAA AAAATCATTATCCTCATCAAGATTGCTTTATCTCGAGTTAGGATCCCTTATACAATTCATCCAT ATCGCTCTTCGAGTCTTTCTAGTCTGTGGTCTACAGCATGTATTCCTGGCATTTTGATATTG CCAACAGTCTTTTTAGAACGATAAGTGGTAACAAAACTACAAGACAAATGACCTCCACCATC AACTTTAAGCGCCATGTGTGTGTGTGTGCCTCTCAAACCTCCATCAGCTGGGTACATCATTTCAGT ATTTGGTTCCCAACCTTTGGTCTTTTTCTGCATCACAGGTCCGTTAGAAGGAAAATTCACCCCT CTTACTTGCACATGATAGACAAGGCAGCCATCTTCTAATGAAGTATCTTGCATAACTGTGACG ACACCCCCATCTTCGTATCTTGTAACCCTTTCCCATGTAAAACCCTCTGGAAAAGATTGCTTG GCCAGAATGTCAAATGCAAATGGTAGTGGTCCGCCTTCAATTACTTTAATTCTCATAGTTTGT GTACCCATGTAAGGATTACCTTCACCTTCCCCTGTACACTTGAATTGGTGACCATTAACGGAG CCCTCCATGACAACTTTCATTCTCATGTTTTCCTTGATTAACTCCTCTCCTTTGGACACCATAG ATCTTGTTTTATATTTGTTGTAAAAAGTAGATAATTACTTCCTTGATGATCTGTAAAAAAGAG AAAAAGAAAGCATCTAAGAACTTGAAAAAACTACGAATTAGAAAAGACCAAATATGTATTTCT TGCATTGACCAATTTATGCAAGTTTATATATATGTAAATGTAAGTTTCACGAGGTTCTACTAA ACTAAACCACCCCCTTGGTTAGAAGAAGAAGAGTGTGTGAGAACAGGCTGTTGTTGTCACACG AGATCACAGTGGGCATCATAGCATGTGGTACTAAACCCTTTCCCGCCATTCCAGAACCTTCGA TTGCTTGTTACAAAACCTGTGAGCCGTCGCTAGGACCTTGTTGTGTGACGAAATTGGAAGCTG CAATCAATAGGATGACAGGAAGTCGAGCGTGTCTGGGTTTTTTCAGTTTTGTTCTTTTTGCAA ACAAATCACGAGCGACGGTAATTTCTTTCTCGATAAGAGGCCACGTGCTTTATGAGGGTAAC ATCAATTCAAGAAGGAGGGAAACACTTCCTTTTTCTGGCCCTGATAATAGTATGAGGGTGAA GCCAAAATAAAGGATTCGCGCCCAAATCGGCATCTTTAAATGCAGGTATGCGATAGTTCCTC ACTCTTTCCTTACTCACCGTTGTATTGCGACGAATTGCCACGTTGTCGCAGTGTCTGTACTGTG GGTTAATGTCTGTGATCGCCGTCGTGAGTTCGTGTCATCCGCGCATGATTCAGATGGTCCTGG AGATCGTTGCTTGTACCGGCTGTTTGTGGCTCTACCACGTCTCATCAGTCTAGATGCGAATTC AGGGGCGGCCGCACGGTTATCCACAGAATCAGGGGATAACGCAGGAAAGAACATGTGAGCA AAAGGCCAGCAAAAGGCCAGGAACCGTAAAAAGGCCGCGTTGCTGGCGTTTTTCCATAGGCT CCGCCCCCTGACGAGCATCACAAAAATCGACGCTCAAGTCAGAGGTGGCGAAACCCGACAG GACTATAAAGATACCAGGCGTTTCCCCCTGGAAGCTCCCTCGTGCGCTCTCCTGTTCCGACCC TGCCGCTTACCGGATACCTGTCCGCCTTTCTCCCTTCGGGAAGCGTGGCGCTTTCTCATAGCTC ACGCTGTAGGTATCTCAGTTCGGTGTAGGTCGTTCGCTCCAAGCTGGGCTGTGTGCACGAACC CCCCGTTCAGCCCGACCGCTGCGCCTTATCCGGTAACTATCGTCTTGAGTCCAACCCGGTAAG ACACGACTTATCGCCACTGGCAGCAGCCACTGGTAACAGGATTAGCAGAGCGAGGTATGTAG GCGGTGCTACAGAGTTCTTGAAGTGGTGGCCTAACTACGGCTACACTAGAAGAACAGTATTT GGTATCTGCGCTCTGCTGAAGCCAGTTACCTTCGGAAAAAGAGTTGGTAGCTCTTGATCCGGC AAAAGGATCTCAAGAAGATCCTTTGATCTTTTCTACGGGGTCTGACGCTCAGTGGAACGAAA ACTCACGTTAAGGGATTTTGGTCATGACTGATCCTTCAACTCAGCAAAAGTTCGATTTATTCA ACAAAGCCACGTTGTGTCTCAAAATCTCTGATGTTACATTGCACAAGATAAAAATATATCATC ATGAACAATAAAACTGTCTGCTTACATAAACAGTAATACAAGGGGGTGTTATGAGCCATATTC AACGGGAAACGTCTTGCTCCAGGCCGCGATTAAATTCCAACATGGATGCTGATTTATATGGGT ATAAATGGGCTCGCGATAATGTCGGGCAA